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A WARDS & RECOGNITION

BEVE N ERT

Major awards received by the Group and its subsidiaries in the past year:

AEERENBARNBE —FESNTRHRIA:

La Scala

HKR International Limited Positano The Sukhothai
EREXEBREEERAT HiE Residences

“10 Years Plus Caring Company”  The Outstanding Developer Asia Pacific Property Awards
Logo Awards 2014 2014-2015

105 Plus [ & R R BA1E | 27%
ORGANISED BY = ¥ #48

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
BEELSREHSE

Bronze Award for Volunteer
Service

HE TEETREMN
ORGANISED BY & ¥ #48

Social Welfare Department
HEREANE

B 7R 3 R K 582014

— Low Density Landmark
Building Award
BEEMREERR

ORGANISED BY = 3 #48

Capital f‘l"td Capital Weekly magazines

RE B =i

— Best Residential Development
Thailand

ORGANISED BY = jff #48

International Property Media

Thailand Best Restaurant 2015

ORGANISED BY = #¥# 18
Thailand Tatler magazine

2013/14 Family-Friendly Employer

WIBMUFERERESEE
ORGANISED BY = ¥ #48

Family Council

REZE

Hong Kong Resort
Company Limited
BREEFRAA

International Design and
Architecture Awards in Asia
Pacific (Residential £2.5 to 5
million)

ORGANISED BY E ¥ #48

design et al magazine

International Architecture Awards

2014

- Award for Residential
Architecture

ORGANISED BY 3= J} #£ 18

Australian Institute of Architects

The Sukhothai Bangkok

No.6 in Top Table Dining Guide
2014

ORGANISED BY = 3 4448
BK Magazine

Official Selection in Top Tables
2015 Bangkok

ORGANISED BY = i #¢ 18

BK Magazine

The Outstanding Developer
Awards 2014

B 3 R R K 582014

— Urban Design & Master
Planning Award
W R AT R AR B KR
- Green Development Award
BRECERE K
ORGANISED BY = Ji#48
Capital and Capital Weekly magazines
EARME - EATR

Dlscovery Bay

'ELI

Hong Kong Art & Design Festival

BEEEH

- 2014 Outstanding Greater
China Design Awards (Spatial

De3|gil'1:_) .

014%F A th 22 £ 1 38 51 K 48
(BB &)

ORGANISED BY = i} #48

Hong Kong Communication Art Centre

By VN

Certificate of Excellence 2014
ORGANISED BY = 3 #48
TripAdvisor

2014 Award of Excellence
ORGANISED BY = i #48
Booking.com

Bangkok’s Best Restaurant
Awards 2014

— Excellence in Italian Category
ORGANISED BY = J# #4448

Bangkok Best Dining & Entertainment
magazine

Celadon

2" Place of Professional — Interior
Design (Residential)
ORGANISED BY = i #4&

2013 International Design Awards

Auberge Discovery Bay
Hon Kon
R R

Expedia Insiders’ Select™ 2014
ORGANISED BY 3} 18
Expedia.com

Certificate of Excellence 2014
ORGANISED BY = jf# 4%
TripAdvisor

Nominee Expedia’s Choice
Highest Engagement 2013/2014
ORGANISED BY = 3} #£48

Expedia Inc

Madame Tuang Super Food

- Certificate of Excellence 2014
ORGANISED BY = ¥ 48
Madame Tuang Food Work

Colonnade

Marketing Excellence Awards 2014

— Gold Award of Excellence in
Targeted Event

ORGANISED BY F i #4&

Marketing magazine

Family Outdoor Event Award
BFFINER IR

Smart Parents’ Choice

— Shopping Mall
FRFEIREREFS
ORGANISED BY = 3 #48

Smart Parent magazine

BRFEET

All About Wedding Awards 2014
M@Ilé& K 582014

— Wedding Venue (Hotel) —
The Most Romantic
Weddin Venue Award
BES ( JE) =
FEHRS teé 25 i KR

ORGANISED BY = i #4&

é\ll About Weddmg magazine

EIR

HolidayCheck Quality Selection
2014

ORGANISED BY = 3} #4148
HolidayCheck.com

Best in Travel 2014
— No.15 in Best Leisure Hotel/
Resort in Asia

ORGANISED BY = i} #48
SmartTravelAsia.com

Bangkok’s Best Restaurant
Awards 2014

- Excellence in Buffet Category
ORGANISED BY = J# #4448

Bangkok Best Dining & Entertainment
magazine

Healthway Medical

Trusted Brand for
Ambulatory/Multi-specialty
Clinics Platinum Award 2014
ORGANISED BY == jf# 4

Reader’s Digest magazine

Trusted Brand Marketing
Excellence Award 2014
ORGANISED BY = ¥ #£ 1%
Reader’s Digest magazine
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BOUT HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
A A i LR BB AR AT PR 2> W)

Our Vision, Mission & Values

BMRER EaNEER

VISION To be the pioneer of innovative living space
5= MERFTH BlEE=EME
MISSION We strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living experience through teamwork and passionate

N pursuit of innovation and excellence

= BHRBEN BIFAL EMAR BEAXL BEREEEEE!
PIONEER RESPECT INNOVATION
Break new + Value the individual + Think outside
grounds and cherish our the box
HE R T environment TR A8

BAEL
INTEGRITY DEVOTION EXCELLENCE
Uphold high ethical + Be committed + Consistency in
standards and passionate the pursuit of our
BFHE B LME S quality standards
IFRE=

0 2 HKR International Limited . Annual Report 2014/2015 "




Company History
RAIE=R

In 1977, the family of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late founder
and chairman of the Group, acquired the equity interest of
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited (“Hong Kong Resort”)
which is the registered owner and developer of Discovery
Bay on Lantau Island. The shares of Hong Kong Resort and
the other Group company were once listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”)

in 1987 and in 1988 and 1989 respectively. During the
years 1988 and 1989, the Group underwent a series of
reorganisation and scheme of arrangement and formed HKR
International Limited (Stock Code: 00480) in May 1989 as
its new listed holding company carrying on principally real
estate development and other related businesses.

Today, HKR International Limited has diversified interests
in real estate development and investment, property
management, luxury hotels and serviced apartments,
healthcare services and other investments in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Asia.

P977F - AEBEBEMAIRAREFEBERG
T2REBAEBERERANE LMSENE
BEEBRAR([EBEE] ) 2RAEZ K&
% BEEEORMEREERNS —RQFH
B 2 5 B 7A1987 2 1988 =2 1989F HE & /B
AR ZFERAR([HRFT]) - f£1988
Z1989F B  NEE#ETT T —EF 2 EHK
WaEat 8 98945 A IE A K L B H ¥ F
R & BB R A R (AR 9 1K 5%:00480) - 30X A& A
SEZH ETMERAR  BEEREFTZMN
= R H A AR ST o

FEEXEREEARARNBERETE TH
MR BN EZ TR BRMERRN
BRE MEEE EBEERBEAEE B
BRIZIRT R IR EIRE ©

Discovery Bay

hee

EREEEREBERAT 2014/2015F 4



IGNATURE PROJECTS
RGPk B EH

HONG KONG 7 i#

Discovery Bay 16 = &

Located on Lantau Island, Discovery Bay is the Group’s flagship residential project
comprising garden houses, low-, mid- and high-rise developments, a 27-hole golf course,

a marina, two recreation clubs, a manmade beach, two international schools, two shopping
malls and a resort hotel.

i
EABL GRS EREBOREETRE R € 5
X RBMANG  BES WMESH  AEDH - WATEIRER - MIE ’ A

BYES L —KERBERE-

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong & & a1 = & & /&

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong, the deluxe resort hotel on the waterfront of Yi Pak Bay,
comprises 325 rooms and suites and the 16-metre tall picture-perfect White Chapel ideal

for wedding.
ERHRBELRN = QB ERFEFREER AW EENES
MERIGKS  LEERNEEERE  RBFTEBORES- v

MAINLAND CHINA H* 5 A1 #l
HKRI Taikoo Hui f 3% K & [E

Located in Jingan District, Shanghai, HKRI Taikoo Hui is a world-class mixed-use
development comprising two super Grade-A office towers, three luxury hotels/serviced
apartments and a prime retail mall. It is scheduled for completion in phases from 2016.

U e ERNEEASTESERFNGSERIAE HRERSE
FRBAE —REFRREE/REARER —ESRBEYESAK
TERT 1220164 2 20 B B AK

City One & & HH 3£ o fi] 42 )2

City One is the first-ever residential project developed by a Hong Kong-based developer

in Jiaxing, Zhejiang Province. Located at the centre of the international business district, it
comprises seven 18-storey blocks, one nine-storey duplex-on-duplex apartment block and
20 garden houses.

BEEE MR E AN T A= e EAmEASERREEMAENEEER I
REEEEEFRL -ZBEEHLESESAE  —ELESNEEERY
3 20 TE R Bl BF AR AK o

Discovery Bay Auberge Discovery Bay Shanghai | Gity One Jiaxing
k=9 Hong Kong Taikoo Hui | BBEZE. 5=
ERMREEE BERHE e

Approx. Total GFA No. of Rooms | Approx. Total GFA Approx. Total Planned GFA Approx

(plus approx.
30,000m?

FRZ%E | 9 HREB|IP A AEBEEELD

974,200m: 325 26,000m: | 323,000m:

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015




The
Sukhothai
Residences

Approx. Total GFA
BEEMEELD

81,000m:

!.’

Bangkok Bangkok | Horizon
=723 | Sukhothai 22 | Place
Bangkok Akasaka

No. of Rooms | Approx. Total GFA Approx. Total Floor Area
FEE#HE |(#BEEEELD EETEL

210 40,400m: | 8,500m:

THAILAND 3 B§
The Sukhothai Residences
Located next to The Sukhothai Bangkok on South Sathorn Road, The Sukhothai Residences

is a 41-storey ultra-luxury condominium tower comprising 196 residential units. The project
was completed in April 2012.

The Sukhothai Residences {3 > South Sathorn Road _= #Y The Sukhothai Bangkok 5% 72
B EERAE HREMGEEMHBAREAEXNEEAE-EE
M2012F4 A% T -

The Sukhothai Bangkok

The Sukhothai Bangkok is a world-renowned and award-winning hotel in Central Bangkok
highly regarded by international travellers for its unparalleled services and facilities.

LA 2 A H 0 HY The Sukhothai Bangkok ti SR 4014 « ESSEE S - HE KW RIS
MRS IR IR S

JAPAN H &

Horizon Place Akasaka

Located in Akasaka, Minato-Ku of Tokyo, the 94-unit Horizon Place Akasaka is
well-connected with many of Tokyo's landmarks and boasts a panoramic view of
skyscrapers.

Horizon Place Akasaka fi 7 5 R 7S [ R 7R 3R - B4R BE (L - iFEHE R R % (E&E
Ei LEEFARGNERRNE R

ERREEREEERAT 20142015 F 3k



IGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
AR RN EE

The Group acquired a 30-floor en-bloc Sumitomo Forestry Co., Ltd.
residential building comprising 120 units participated in the Group’s
in Changning District, Shanghai, Mainland residential and retail

China for a consideration of RMB588.2 development project at
million (equivalent to approximately Wu On Street, Tuen Mun,
HK$729.7 million), and named it Elite Hong Kong with a 25%
House. interest.

SEUARKB2EET (HER  ERMEKRASHS2 A
TO7TAEEETT)BA—ELRTE SBURFBHEPIAL
LETRER BR30E - £H120 ENEERTERRA
EEMEEAE  SanHAH L B A% A o
ML -

The Sukhothai Residences in Bangkok, Thailand was named “Best Residential
Development Thailand” in the “Asia Pacific Property Awards 2014-2015”.

7 A Z= B 2 A Y The Sukhothai Residences 7 [ Asia Pacific Property Awards
2014-2015 ] A1 7832 A [ Best Residential Development Thailand | ©

Positano, the latest
luxury residential project
in Discovery Bay, Hong
Kong was launched for
sale.
BB R
EEEA MiR] 7
= o

Chelsea Garden in Hiroo, Japan was sold to an independent third party at a consideration of JPY3,465.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$259.9 million).

£ B A3,465.6 5 & H[E (FEE1259.98 &5 70 ) &5 B A E A Chelsea Gardend B T 37
B=T-

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015



2014
SEPTEMBER
LR

2014
DECEMBER
T=A

2015
JANUARY
—A

Pre-sales launch of City One, a residential
development project in Jiaxing, Zhejiang
Province in Mainland China, commenced.

RIS R ENEETEREAR
BREER A EETEE -

One of the show flats of Positano, Discovery Bay in Hong Kong won the “International Design and Architecture
Awards in Asia Pacific (Residential £2.5 to 5 million)” presented by design et al magazine.

EBBSE [HR ] Hp —E/RE BRI (design etal) 683 [ 58K & International Design and
Architecture Awards (B{B25E5H B REMNEE)] -

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited, the developer of
Discovery Bay, received “Urban Design & Master Planning
Award” and “Green Development Award” at “The Outstanding
Developer Awards 2014” organised by Capital and Capital
Weekly magazines.

BMRENZEEIEEEEFR QTN (BARHER)
R (CEASHE) #itR2 e [EAEHEER AR
2014 P HAS [ T G R ARREAR B | KEE R [IRIR
LR K-

The Group acquired a public carpark consisting of 325 parking spaces at Tuen Mun Central Square, Tuen Mun in
Hong Kong for HK$128.0 million for investment purpose.

KE280EBBTRBABTBEMPRESZHBBEFEUNAREESERERE

HKRI was awarded the “10 Years Plus Caring Company” logo by The Hong

years+ Kong Council of Social Service.
ELEETIR® o m s 5500 & R H & BE106FPUs [ RRMIE) 2.
Carlngcompany

Awarded by The Hong Kong Co
§?§&gﬂﬁi§¥baﬁﬁ§§‘

ERREEREEERAT 20142015 F 3k



HAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman

*E

ERMBELE

0 8 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015




With a series of new developments in the pipeline,
we are excited about the opportunities ahead. We
will plan carefully and capitalise on opportunities in
a prudent yet assured way for the greatest benefit of
our shareholders.

BE—RIFEEHERRE RARIDHERRZES -
HASFARE TEEMEREYEEE SRREE
SAIEE

| am pleased to present the 2014/2015 (“the year”) Annual RAMRARIRE2BRHEEREREBR QA
Report of HKR International Limited (‘HKRI") and its (IBEREEXBEE]) REMBAR ([£E])
subsidiaries (collectively “The Group”). 2014/2015F E ([FE ) NFEE RS -

As we marked the 25" year of our listing in 2014, we 2014FREE M=+ RAF BHEFIAE
decided to rejuvenate the look and feel of our brand identity. EBMEBER - AAMRAE BETHOZHEE
| am delighted to share with you the refreshed corporate logo FBEBRIRA - QIR

of HKRI:

The simple and sleek four-letter identity is a modernisation R EFTAE MK - &aT R E Eﬂ
of the old logo, which has been in existence since the BEBEERER AR TEZESHEZ
founding of HKRI. Expressed in a visually impressive form, MYRRRE -FEFERRL - EABRE
this new logo is instantly recognisable and more effective S EAEMERARGBMRBLELR
at communicating our corporate name and identity. A TR R EAEN TIEE SRR B R
rebranding exercise under the new logo has commenced 20155 [K A TTAX °

and is expected to be completed by the end of 2015.

HFREXEBREEERAT 2014/2015 F 7R



Chairman’s Statement 3§ it

Over a period of more than two decades, HKRI has grown
into a diversified developer with interests in real estate
development and investment, property management,

luxury hotels and serviced apartments, healthcare services
and other investments in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
Asia. As we continue to seek opportunities for growth and
create value for our shareholders, our new brand identity will
signify our clear and strong presence in these markets and
businesses.

SOLID FINANCIALS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the Group’s
turnover from continuing operations was HK$5,421.9
million, representing an increase of 31.4% over last year’s
HK$4,125.1 million. Consolidated profit attributable to
shareholders for the year was HK$910.0 million, compared
with HK$834.6 million in 2013/2014. Earnings per share
were HK67.4 cents, as compared with HK61.8 cents
recorded last year. As of 31 March 2015, the net asset value
of the Group stood at HK$16,727.7 million (HK$12.4 per
share), as compared with HK$16,195.9 million (HK$12.0 per
share) last year.

The Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend
of HK7 cents per share for the year. Together with the
interim dividend of HK6 cents per share, the total dividend
amounted to HK13 cents per share for the year. In
2013/2014, a total dividend of HK12 cents per share was
paid to shareholders.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In a year of uneven recovery and some setbacks in the
global economy, Hong Kong’s economy grew modestly
by only 2.3% in real GDP in 2014. The property market in
Hong Kong, however, was buoyant throughout the year in
the continued tight demand-supply and low interest rate
environment. The booming demand for new small- and
medium-sized flats fuelled the rapid surge in property prices,
despite continued control policies by the Government

of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Government”). The commercial and industrial property
markets also turned more active.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

—tEER BEREXERCHRABAESTT
EXEBRERRE XHRETE PEAME
TN ERRIEE MEEE ZERE
KA ETE - BERIERBIA L EMIRER
B - MBS SKIEREB R B RAEEEN
R FaEPREEERTREEEZED
5 MR EE K EL ©

B ER

HBE2015F3A A LM B G E SEFHAEL
BEBNESETASAI0BEB T BEF

4125 1EH BB TTIE IN31.4%  NEE AR FE(S
RERANA10.08 BB T - 2013/2014F 8 &
834.68 BB IL - BIRAFIA67.478(L - ZF A
£61.881l - HE2015F3A318  £EME

EFER16727.7TEEET (BR12.4%7T) -
A F R A16,195.98 8T (FK12.087T) °

EESEZATFERERBBREGRTBN-
ERPHRESRBI AFEEFREE
FRA3B AL » 7A2013/2014%F - £ B A AR R
BHE2FRE BBR12B-

SRR
EEFEEHEEERS KT — BOoBERE
EHBRAIR - 2014F BB LB BB K At
TEREEE EHHEARAREF23% BEFAEE
MEMSANERBERRELSREMFTEL
B-@BEEBFITHRBN(IBA]EEE
MEFHEBOR - IS H —F R N EREEELH
FHRER RAMEEBRAT  TEHVETS
#Y 2R 3R T i () 7k B



Mainland China experienced a slowdown in economic
growth of 7.4%, the lowest in over 20 years, giving rise to
speculation about its ability to sustain growth. Nevertheless,
the Central Government’s measures to relax property down-
payment levels, offer bigger tax breaks and cut interest
rates demonstrated the importance it attaches to sustaining
economic growth.

The Asian economy grew faster than other parts of the
world. In Thailand, political turmoil came to a halt and
brought back stability for our developments in the area. At
the same time, Japan continued with its fiscal reforms with a
view to spurring economic growth.

A STRONG BUSINESS BASE FOR SUSTAINING
DEVELOPMENT

Hong Kong has always been our key business base. During
the year, in addition to capitalising on the thriving property
market through our aggressive sales efforts, the Group
made strong progress with the development of several
projects acquired earlier and the revitalisation of some older
developments.

Positano
13t 3%

Chairman’s Statement 3 i 4

B A B G RN - EER157 4% 1B 1R -
BB TFHE SHSERAFEERE
Ne@BEWMUL - PRBFHEL—RIEE
EREMEENL B TEEENHERSL
K& THERE HRNERYRF[EEERN
SEER-

MBI R E R R E MR AR - B
EZBEBRBEE R RAIEZMROERIA
B S LARIEIRE - B RS - A AREE 1T
BERE - ARBE IR & -

BENEBREFSNEERR

FEHREBENEIEXHEM -FR - AR
MEMSERGH  KREREETHE LN
EERK- R SERERRFATRENH
EEE - ARBESTREYME HRBRY
AR ©

T Amalfi
FEIR

ERREEREEERAT 20142015 F 3k



Chairman’s Statement 3§

In Discovery Bay, all units of Amalfi were sold during the
year. The sales launch of Positano, our luxury residential
development, yielded promising results under the favourable
market conditions. As for new projects, construction works
are underway for luxury houses and mid-rise blocks with
completion expected to be from 2017 onwards.

Across other parts of Hong Kong, development plans were
drawn up and construction works started on our projects in
Sai Kung, Sha Tin and Tuen Mun, which will be developed
into premium residences. With regard to our commercial
developments, CDW Building commenced refurbishment
works following the application to the Government for its
conversion into commercial use. This will unleash the full
potential of this building for generating maximum rental
returns from both its retail and office premises.

In Mainland China, the Dazhongli project in Shanghai was
officially named HKRI Taikoo Hui. Construction works are
now in full swing and the project is scheduled for completion
in phases from 2016. The acquisition of Elite House in
Shanghai in April 2014 has been bringing in stable rental
income for the Group and, in Jiaxing, the sales launch of
City One has met its targets.

i == -

_ﬁ.——-——:————z—

EMRE DRR A BLERATENE

BoERETRT SEEEEA [HR] 0k
SRR B HE REETRENE
KR BEAEE B #3288 TAR - R A2017 4 1

MEEREEHMRE BREUNEE Y H
MHEFRIER  ERERREARREET
B ZEREBERARMEE - MEHXEREE
JTHE R ERBAER RBATERFESRAEER
HIEFREIE TR - B EZEFTOMELE
NEDER ETERBAEREAKERER
mRERARNHEEE R -

RABE A FERTPEEEEERGEA
BEXLE-EZETRE2AS T BHR
2016F IO PEER B R - 120144 AW g/ +
BRI AEREREEHES A -
MR EEABEBEE R EHEXETS
BiRe

Artist's impression of _
HKRI Taikoo Hui =~

BERETH
5K H[E
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In Japan, the master plan for the Roppongi site has been
finalised for building a premium residential development.
Construction will begin by the end of 2015. In June 2014,
the Group disposed of Chelsea Garden in Hiroo, while the
other two investment properties in Akasaka and Shinjuku
continued to generate steady rental income for the Group.

In the Group’s hospitality businesses, Auberge Discovery
Bay Hong Kong, our luxury resort hotel in Discovery Bay,
generated favourable financial results as it entered its second
year of operations. The Sukhothai Bangkok, where the local
economy has revived with the resumption of political stability,
continued to receive numerous awards from the trade and
media.

e ——

Chairman’s Statement 3 i 4

REAR  SAKRHRHRERECTEZE
BESWETIEER  WHR2015F F K AR
BT o PA201456 A - REHEMLNIAER
Chelsea Garden * i iz 7 7R 3R & 1 76 B I I 1%
BYEREEREBTEREEHSWA -

EEMBEESS URBMRENTEEREB
EESMSEREERAEBEE —FEIE
BENPBEE - EARBREE KEERD
71 & # ) The Sukhothai Bangkok# 4 & &
ER R -

The Sukhothai
Bangkok

‘E-"&.

’, Auberge
Discovery Bay
Hong Kong
bR
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Chairman’s Statement 3§

OUTLOOK

With a series of new developments in the pipeline, we

are excited about the opportunities ahead. Although

the Hong Kong property market may see uncertainties

in light of a potential rise in interest rates and continued
government measures to curb property prices, we remain
cautiously optimistic as the supply side continues to fall
short of demand. We will plan carefully and capitalise on
opportunities in a prudent yet assured way for the greatest
benefit of our shareholders.

Despite the economic slowdown in Mainland China, the
various measures by the Central Government to stimulate
investment indicate that sustaining growth has taken a high
priority in its policy making. These measures will not only
help boost Hong Kong’s economy and investment sentiment
but also create a positive impact on the Group’s investments
in the Mainland.

While Thailand has gradually come out of its downward
political spiral, Japan is still in search of fiscal policies that will
rejuvenate its economy. Moving forward, we will continue to
consolidate our existing portfolio and cautiously seek new
opportunities in these countries.

Discovery Bay
/Iﬁ % e

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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APPRECIATION

The Group’s impressive results in 2014/2015 could not have
been achieved without the unwavering support and guidance
of our Board of Directors and the hard work and dedication
of all our staff. | sincerely thank them for their contributions in
making this a remarkable year.

| would also like to thank you, our shareholders, for your trust

and confidence in the Group. We will endeavour to drive
optimal returns and create maximum value for all of you.

WM’L—’““\

CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2015

Chairman’s Statement 3 J& #t 5

&)

EER2014/2015FMBBARNE  2BES
AR NZRHMNES - UE2EBE TN
B2 N RIBHTH - RARLRHBEENEE
Bl AEBAEEMER-

AANTEU RS RREEBOEEREL &K
k2 N AR B2 IR R RIEAR O A
BliERKEE-

ARA

ES
e
201556 A24A N EH

The Sukhothai
Residences

EFREXEBREEERATE 2014/2015 F 7R



ANAGING DIRECTOR’S OPERATIONS REVIEW

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman &
Managing Director

BEERESRESE
B KE



During the year, we balanced our portfolio in order

to achieve optimal asset allocation. With our strong
balance sheet, we continued to look for opportunities
to strengthen the Group’s business base in the region.
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Although most Asian economies recorded steady growth in
2014, China’s GDP growth at 7.4% was the lowest in more
than two decades. Hong Kong saw moderate economic
growth and low unemployment during the year, while
Japan’s economy continued to experience mild recovery.

In Hong Kong, residential property prices trended upward
despite the Government’s initiatives and HKMA’s new
measures on property mortgages. For the Group, the active
first-hand market benefitted our projects, which received
favourable response from buyers during the year.

In Mainland China, the easing of control measures on the
property market in some cities and the cut in the benchmark
lending rate lifted market sentiment slightly. Sales of City One
in Zhejiang Province were in line with our expectations, and
construction of our HKRI Taikoo Hui joint-venture project in
Shanghai was in full swing.

During the year, we balanced our portfolio in order to achieve
optimal asset allocation. With our strong balance sheet, we
continued to look for opportunities to strengthen the Group’s
business base in the region.
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT & INVESTMENT

We derive revenue from our main business of property
development and investment by adhering to the highest
standards of quality in the projects we build. We also enjoy
a stable source of rental income from the diversified portfolio
of investment properties we manage in Hong Kong and
beyond.

HONG KONG

Discovery Bay

The Group’s flagship development in Hong Kong has been
widely acknowledged as the region’s pioneering resort-style
residential project. The Group has been constantly upgrading
the community facilities, infrastructure and transportation
network in the area to make it a highly desirable residential
and leisure destination. Effective from late October 2014,
taxis and public coaches have been allowed access to
designated areas in Discovery Bay North, further improving
the connectivity of this community.

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited, the developer of
Discovery Bay, received The Outstanding Developer Awards
2014 — Urban Design & Master Planning Award and Green
Development Award from Capital and Capital Weekly
magazines.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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Amalfi & Positano, Discovery Bay

All'units of Amalfi of Discovery Bay have been sold following
the sale of the last four units during the year. This brought to
a close to this phase of our development in Discovery Bay.

Positano, the latest luxury residential project in Discovery
Bay, was launched in June 2014 and received a positive
response in the market. Positano received The Outstanding
Developer Awards 2014 — Low Density Landmark Building
Award by Capital and Capital Weekly magazines, while the
show flats of Positano have received multiple awards for their
extraordinary design.

New Phases in Discovery Bay

New phases comprising the development of detached
homes near the Discovery Bay Golf Club and mid-rise blocks
in Discovery Bay North are expected to be completed from
2017 onwards.
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DANG, Tsuen Wan

DANB, a 20-storey industrial building in Tsuen Wan launched
in June 2013, has been substantially sold out. All sold units
were handed over in the third quarter of 2014.

Kap Pin Long, Sai Kung

The Kap Pin Long, Sai Kung project, covering a GFA of
approximately 350 square metres, will be built as an idyllic
garden house. Construction works are in progress, and the
project is expected to be completed in early 2016.

Kau To, Sha Tin

The Kau To, Sha Tin project is a joint venture development of
the Group and Nan Fung Development Limited. It is planned
to be developed into luxurious apartments with a total GFA

of approximately 12,500 square metres. Construction works

commenced in the third quarter of 2014, and completion of
the project is expected in mid-2017.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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Wu On Street, Tuen Mun

The Wu On Street, Tuen Mun project, jointly owned by the
Group and Sumitomo Forestry Co., Ltd., will be developed
into a residential block of premium apartment units and

a retail podium with a total GFA of approximately 12,500
square metres. Foundation works commenced in September
2014, and the project is expected to be completed in 2017.

DB Plaza, D'Deck & DB North Plaza, Discovery Bay

DB Plaza and DB North Plaza generate stable rental income
for the Group. DB Plaza boasts a wide selection of shops
and the renowned alfresco dining hotspot D’Deck, while

DB North Plaza offers an attractive variety of shopping and
dining outlets as well as office space and an open piazza.
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Discovery Bay has become a popular leisure destination

with its resort-like ambience and family activities. D’Deck

& DB North Plaza were named the Smart Parents’ Choice

— Shopping Mall by Smart Parent magazine in 2015. Its
signature event, the Easter Egg Hunt on the Beach, has
attracted an increasing number of participants and was
presented with the Marketing Excellence Award 2014 —

Gold Award of Excellence in the Targeted Event category by
Marketing magazine and the Family Outdoor Event Award by
Smart Parent magazine in 2015.

CDW Building, Tsuen Wan

CDW Building in Tsuen Wan has been consistently
considered a good quality industrial building. In order to
realise the full potential of the building, the Group decided
to refurbish and convert the building from industrial to
commercial use. An application has been made to convert

the usage under the revitalisation policies of the Government.

Refurbishment works commenced in April 2015, and

the project is expected to be completed in phases by
2016/2017. It is anticipated that the rental income during the
refurbishment will be affected. However, we believe that the
completion of the refurbishment of CDW Building will enable
us to maximise its rental income and that its asset value will
appreciate in the medium term.

REREAFRERARN  NLLERMR
FE)EE) - XA BN A IRE B - D’'Deck &
TSt EER20155E CGRTFEAT) FhA
FFIRESEERG HFEEFEES D
BEETEIN2MABGFRE  WES

{Marketing) #5578 2 Marketing Excellence
Award 2014 — Gold Award of Excellence
(Targeted Event) A &2 7A20155F % (i F T &
) BEBRTFPLINGEN

8 B AR
REPELHEAE-—FRHESABENTERKR
E-BEERBRZANENEN EBIRTH
ZAERIXAEPMBETRERBERSE
BIFERIBIRATE(L T E i 55 ok & A

& BE TIEE N2015F4 A B FE R
2016/201 757 B3 T - AEREHARS - FA S WA
FEEBXEFE ERMBEBEIRETR
ZAEMHESWAGSIEN LR AEEREE
e rEERFA -

DB North Plaza o= e
=it E5

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015



Managing Director’s Operations Review # % 48 % Bil 3¢ %5 ] g

West Gate Tower, Cheung Sha Wan

West Gate Tower in Cheung Sha Wan achieved a high
average occupancy rate of 94% during the year and
generated stable rental income for the Group. The Group is
also considering various options to unleash the full potential
of West Gate Tower in light of the Government’s special
waiver for wholesale conversion of industrial buildings.

Tuen Mun Central Square Public Carpark, Tuen Mun

The Group acquired the public carpark consisting of 325
parking spaces at Tuen Mun Central Square, Tuen Mun in

January 2015 and has retained it as an investment property.

MAINLAND CHINA

HKRI Taikoo Hui, Shanghai

HKRI Taikoo Hui is strategically located on Nanjing Xi Lu,
Jingan District of Puxi, Shanghai’s most prestigious retail
and business hub. It enjoys excellent connectivity due to

its proximity to key metro lines (including the existing line
connecting to the two international airports in Shanghai and
two new lines) and closeness to Yan’an Expressway and
South-North Elevated Highways.
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The project, with a planned GFA of approximately 323,000
square metres, is a mixed-use commercial development
comprising two super Grade-A office towers (formally named
HKRI Centre One and HKRI Centre Two respectively), three
luxury hotels/serviced apartments and a high-end retail mall.

Superstructure works for HKRI Centre One have been
completed and construction of HKRI Centre Two, the retail
mall and hotels is in progress. The project is expected to be
completed in phases from 2016.

City One, Jiaxing, Zhejiang Province

City One differentiates itself as the first project to be
developed by a Hong Kong based developer in Jiaxing.
The development is distinguished by a state-of-the-art
design and lavish clubhouse facilities unique in the area. It
comprises around 600 units with a GFA of approximately
83,000 square metres.

The project occupies a premium location at the centre of the
international business district and is close to a 53-hectare
wetland park. Pre-sales launch commenced in July 2014,
and the project is planned for completion in early 2016.
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Future Sci-Tech City Project, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Subsequent to the year-end in June 2015, the Group
ventured into the property market in Hangzhou through

a successful bid at an open auction for a low density
residential site of approximately 51,000 square metres in the
Hangzhou Future Sci-Tech City near Xixi Wetland.

The Exchange, Tianjin
The Exchange, with a total GFA of over 152,000 square

metres, continued to generate stable rental income for the
Group.

Elite House, Shanghai

The Group acquired this 30-floor en-bloc residential building
in Changning District, Shanghai in April 2014, and it has
been generating stable rental income for the Group since
then. The property comprises 120 units with a total GFA of
approximately 21,700 square metres. Upgrade works are
underway.

Elite House
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THAILAND
The Sukhothai Residences, Bangkok

As at 31 March 2015, this ultra-luxury condominium tower
on Sathorn Road in Bangkok was mostly sold out. Around
99% of the sold units have completed the ownership
transfer. This development continues to lead the high end
residential market in Bangkok both in terms of its unit price
and design excellence.

Wireless Road, Bangkok

The Group’s freehold land at Wireless Road, Bangkok has a
site area of approximately 12,600 square metres. The master
planning for the development project is progressing on
schedule.

The Sukhothai
Residences

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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JAPAN SN

The Group and Nomura Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. SEEFNITHEKAHBEHFEZEE I8

will jointly develop a site at Roppongi 4 Chome (formerly LR RRAAARET B (ATfEHomat Sun) &Y

Homat Sun) in Tokyo into premium residential premises. IR AEIHRETEEE c FTEBEIHNR2015FF

Construction of the main building will commence by the end [KAIRFA  ZIBBFHE8IR2017F % T o
of 2015 and the project is scheduled for completion in 2017.

The Group holds residential plots at Niseko, Hokkaido SEFBUNDEE_EANE THREETAM
near the Niseko Annupuri ski village with a total site area of VE B+ S {5 # © 3% 5 1b 3R At 4 Niseko Annupuri
approximately 60,000 square metres as land bank. Master BES - (E 460,000 F F K - IRIEEITIER
planning is underway. B 4ARE A 2] -

In June 2014, Chelsea Garden, a 17-unit low-rise apartment M2014F6H  SEEHEMRIARLBITHEE
block in Hiroo, was sold as part of an asset rebalancing i Ky {K [E {= £ K JE Chelsea Garden ' fE &%
exercise. EREETEN—HH -

The Group holds two investment properties, namely, Horizon & E R R R0 & % B Horizon Place Akasaka

Place Akasaka, a high-rise residential block in Akasaka, (LLRATRIREY = B E £ X4 ) K Graphio Nishi-
and Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku, an office building in the central Shinjuku (2 A FTTE /LA B3 AKE ) IR
Shinjuku area of Tokyo. As at 31 March 2015, these WEYWE - F2015F3A31H  ZEWENH
properties achieved occupancy rates of 91% and 100% HED R A% EZ100% °

respectively.

Horizon Place Akasaka
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SERVICES PROVIDED

The Group’s subsidiaries operate transport services in
Discovery Bay, including ferry, land transport and tunnel
services. Patronage of the bus and ferry services in
Discovery Bay remained stable during the year. Apart from
the addition of two electric buses to the fleet that have been
providing service within Discovery Bay since December
2014, the bus company will soon introduce double deck bus
services for outbound routes to further enhance operational
efficiency. Manpower remains the major challenge in our
transport operations, and our subsidiaries are taking the
necessary steps to retain quality staff and attract new
candidates.

The Group’s property management service companies
in Discovery Bay as well as other locations continued to
operate satisfactorily during the year.

The four clubs in Discovery Bay, namely, Discovery Bay Golf
Club, Discovery Bay Marina Club, Discovery Bay Recreation
Club and Club Siena, recorded a moderate increase in
turnover during the year. The clubs are undergoing various
upgrades with the aim of providing members and guests the
best possible facilities and services.

Club Siena
Zicyald i
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HOSPITALITY

HONG KONG

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong

Since its opening in March 2013, the luxury resort hotel
Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong (“Auberge DB”) has
been continuously enhancing its service offerings. With

increasing patronage from local and international customers,

Auberge DB saw great improvements in its average
occupancy and room rates during the year. It remains a
popular venue for corporate meetings, incentive outings,
gala events, residential seminars and particularly wedding
ceremonies and banquets with its unique White Chapel
and European horse-drawn carriage. Auberge DB received
the Wedding Venue (Hotel) — The Most Romantic Wedding
Venue Award at the All About Wedding Awards 2014 by All
About Wedding magazine.
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THAILAND
The Sukhothai Bangkok

The trading environment and hotel occupancy rate in
Bangkok have generally improved since the Thai government
adopted a more delicate approach with regard to martial

law towards the second half of 2014. In line with market
trends, The Sukhothai Bangkok recorded improvements in
its average occupancy rate and overall financial performance
during the year. The hotel has received numerous awards
from travel and leisure partners, including a Certificate of
Excellence 2014 from TripAdvisor and the 2014 Award

of Excellence from Booking.com, as well as numerous
accolades for its food and beverage operations from local
and international media.

A

The Sukhothai

Bangkok
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HEALTHCARE

During the year, the Manila operations of GenRx Holdings
Limited (“GenRx”) under the brand name Healthway Medical
recorded improvements in both revenue and net contribution
to the Group. In acknowledgment of its outstanding services,
Healthway Medical won the Platinum Award — Trusted

Brand in the Ambulatory/Multi-specialty Clinic Category from
Reader’s Digest magazine in June 2014. The management
will continue to leverage on its experience, expertise and
established network to diversify the scope of the company’s
premium services by looking into secondary and tertiary
healthcare development opportunities in the region. In the
Hong Kong and Macau markets, operational costs have
been significantly reduced and business performance
enhanced thanks to the management’s sustained efforts to
improve operational efficiency.

GenRx operates a comprehensive healthcare service
network, comprising diabetic and cardiovascular centres,
cancer centre, imaging centre, dental clinics, Chinese

medicine centres and multi-specialty outpatient centres in
Hong Kong, Macau and Manila. Except for dental clinics and
diabetic and cardiovascular centres that involve third party
interests of 43% and 20% respectively, other businesses
under GenRx are 100% owned by the Group.
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HANISON

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) together
with its subsidiaries is the Group’s 49%-owned subsidiary
group as at 31 March 2015. It engages primarily in the
construction business, interior and renovation business,
supply and installment of building materials, property
investment and development, provision of property agency
and management services, and sales of health products.
Hanison’s consolidated turnover during the year was
HK$2,095.2 million, 28.8% higher than the HK$1,626.5
million of last year. Net profit was HK$487.5 million, as
compared with HK$164.0 million last year. The gain on
change in fair value of investment properties and the revenue
generated from the sales of property development projects
increased as compared with last year. Hanison will continue
to strengthen its core businesses and is well positioned to
seize opportunities in the years to come.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2015, the Group had a total of 3,293
employees. At HKRI, we believe effective communication
improves efficiency. Therefore, we have made ongoing efforts
to improve our organisational structure and build platforms
to facilitate communication among local and overseas

offices through channels such as newsletters and staff
communication meetings.

The Group continued to adopt best practices in talent
development. This year, a more flexible learning approach
was introduced by offering bite-sized learning and shortened
training sessions, such as “lunch n’ learn” and out-of-
classroom experiential learning. Colleagues at different levels
are provided with training workshops to cater to various
business needs, including language, communication and
supervisory skills. During the year, over 20 senior executives
attended a customised development programme to
strengthen their leadership capabilities, create closer bonds
and develop better teamwork within the management team.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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Our annual PRI?2DE Outstanding Employee Awards is an
effective way to promote the Group’s values of PRI°DE
(Pioneer, Respect, Innovation, Integrity, Devotion and
Excellence) among colleagues and to recognise those who
are able to demonstrate these values. This year, we received
an encouraging increase in nominations from our local and
overseas offices.

In Hong Kong, a cross-departmental Occupational Health
and Safety Committee was formally set up in Discovery Bay
with the aim of improving the workplace environment and
achieving higher safety standards in all of our operating units.
The committee also provides a knowledge sharing platform
for safety-related issues. To foster a harmonious work culture
and further engage employees, festive gatherings and
regular staff outings are also organised.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

During the year, a new HR information system was rolled

out in phases to provide broader functionalities and a
streamlined workflow. All colleagues are now able to use the
system’s self-service functions to manage their leaves and
personal information. The finance system was also upgraded
to provide a more user-friendly interface, tighter integration
with other IT systems, quicker response times and better
reliability.

Our new “Positano App” for the Positano property
development in Discovery Bay was launched in March 2015.
We also introduced a new Disaster Recovery Data Centre,
which commenced service in April 2015 to provide resilient
high-availability protection for our IT investment and minimise
disruption to our business operations in case of natural or

human-induced disaster.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Through the sustainability programmes we have initiated,
HKRI is committed to contributing to our society and helping
to create a better life for those in need. In March 2015, HKRI
received the “10 Years Plus Caring Company” logo by The
Hong Kong Council of Social Service, acknowledging the
Group’s continuous contributions as a responsible corporate
citizen of Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group’s corporate volunteer team,

HKRI Care & Share, organised various volunteer activities in
partnership with NGOs, including the Hong Kong Youth Arts
Foundation, St. James’ Settlement and the Neighbourhood
Advice-Action Council. Activities included a Christmas

party for underprivileged children and an African drum
jamming and handicraft workshop, as well as a volunteer
visit to elderly singletons before the Mid-Autumn Festival.
Colleagues were encouraged to include their family members
in these activities.

To help promote arts and cultural development, the Group
continued to support the 43 Hong Kong Arts Festival and
sponsored the performance of The Flames of Paris by the
Bolshoi Ballet in March 2015. With the aim of promoting a
more caring and harmonious community in Discovery Bay,

the Group funded various community events under the Love.
Together@DB community programme.
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OUTLOOK

Recent economic data in the US has been sending mixed
signals and causing uncertainty about the US recovery as
well as speculation about the timing of an interest rate hike.
In Asia, the economic outlook remains generally favourable,
although Mainland China experienced the slowest growth

in recent years, which is expected to cloud the region’s
economic outlook. As Hong Kong’s economic performance
hinges on global economic and financial conditions, these
uncertain factors may affect property market sentiment in the
months ahead. However, we expect the market to remain
buoyant with more new projects coming onto the market

at competitive pricing levels and strong end user demand
driving sales.

In Mainland China, supportive measures and loosening credit
policies are likely to revive demand in the property market. In
addition to being an iconic development in Shanghai, HKRI
Taikoo Hui will become another signature project for the
Group in Mainland China, which we expect will generate an
attractive return for the Group in the coming years. We have
confidence in the long-term development of Mainland China

and are continuously exploring viable business opportunities
with the aim of strengthening our presence there.
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The Group has consolidated and strengthened its asset
portfolio in Hong Kong, its core market, and new projects
including new phases of Discovery Bay and a few projects
in other parts of Hong Kong are in the pipeline. While we
are cautiously optimistic about the Hong Kong economic
and property market outlook, we continue to actively seek
opportunities to build up our land bank for the long-term
development of the Group.

The Group’s hotels, namely, The Sukhothai Bangkok and
Auberge DB, have become respected names in the industry
and gained popularity among both event organisers and
travellers alike. We will continue to make a strong effort to
further enhance both our service standards and customer
satisfaction. The Group, with its unparalleled experience

in the development and operation of premium hotels, is
now preparing for our new luxury hotel in HKRI Taikoo Hui,
Shanghai which is targeted to commence service in 2017.

We also maintain a positive outlook for our healthcare
business, which has been recording continuous
improvement in terms of enhanced operational efficiency
and service levels. Through GenRx, the Group will continue
to explore opportunities to venture into new markets or new
businesses in the healthcare industry.

Lastly, | would like to express my gratitude to our Board of
Directors for their brilliant guidance, our business partners
and customers for their unwavering support and our staff for
their perseverance and hard work, and above all, | would like
to thank all our shareholders, who have been our staunch
supporters all along!

CHA Mou Zing Victor

Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2015
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D IOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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MR CHA MOU SING PAYSON .- pssc (Hons), aged 72, was appointed Executive Director and the Chairman
in 1989 and 2007 respectively. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr CHA has over 45 years extensive experience in property development and
investment. He is the chairman and non-executive director (“NED”) of Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
(“Hanison”), executive chairman of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), independent non-executive director (“INED”) of
New World Development Company Limited (“NWD”), Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited being manager of
Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (“CREIT”) and Hongkong International Theme Parks Limited. Hanison,
NWD and CREIT are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr CHA is

a member of One Country Two Systems Research Institute Limited, governing board member of China-United
States Exchange Foundation, board member of The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong, the
chairman of Qiu Shi Science & Technologies Foundation (“Qiu Shi Foundation”), trustee of Sang Ma Trust Fund
(“Sang Ma”) and honorary trustee of Oregon State University Foundation. He is a brother of Ms Madeline WONG,
Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA. He is also a director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and
LLBJ Regents Limited (“LBJ Regents”), both are substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning

of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and together whose interests in the Company represent the
substantial interests of the Cha Family in the Company.

BEIRE FHE e psscHons © 7285 D BIF1989F 2007 FEE (T AR ATMITEER TR - HINAEA
AREZEG VIR EETHEBRARIZES EAEAMEBRERKRETERBRAISFTEELR - B AHEEAR
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MR CHA MOU ZING VICTOR B4, mBa, aged 65, was appointed Executive Director, the Managing

Director and the Deputy Chairman in 1989, 2001 and 2007 respectively. He is a member of the remuneration
committee and director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr CHA is responsible for the overall and day-
to-day management of the Group. He has over 35 years experience in real estate development and textile
manufacturing. Mr CHA is an INED of SOHO China Limited, alternate INED of NWD, both companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange, and NED of Mingly. He is the vice chairman of Hong Kong Arts Festival Society Limited
(“HKAFSL”"), member of the board of trustees of The Better Hong Kong Foundation (“BHKF”) and trustee of Sang
Ma. Mr CHA is a brother of Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Payson CHA and Mr Johnson CHA.
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MR CHUNG SAM TIN ABRAHAM rcra, aged 69, was appointed Executive Director in 1994 and is also
a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He has been serving in the Group since 1978 and is now the
head of finance and group operations overseeing the Group’s finance, accounting, tax, insurance, information
technology functions, all operating units in Discovery Bay and hospitality operation. Mr CHUNG is a certified
public accountant, fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has over 40 years extensive
experience in financial management and property development in Hong Kong.
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MR TANG MOON WAH z4 (Arch Studlies), BArch, aged 61, was appointed Executive Director in December 2004
and is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He has been serving in the Group since 1985 and is
now the head of group projects responsible for project management of real estate development in Hong Kong,
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and Asia-Pacific and for oversight of master planning, conceptual and
major designs and technical advice on acquisitions. Mr TANG has over 35 years extensive experience in property
development. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects and has been the Authorised
Person and Registered Architect since 1982 and 1991 respectively.
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THE HONOURABLE RONALD JOSEPH ARCULLI csw, cvo, ass, oBE, Jp, aged 76, joined the Board in
1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive Director in June 2005. He is a senior partner of King & Wood
Mallesons. Mr ARCULLI is an INED of Hang Lung Properties Limited, NED of Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited,
Sino Land Company Limited, Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited, HK Electric Investments Manager Limited (as
trustee-manager of HK Electric Investments) and HK Electric Investments Limited. He retired as an INED of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and SCMP Group Limited in April 2013 and June 2014 respectively. He
also ceased as a NED of Power Assets Holdings Limited and Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited (renamed as
China Oceanwide Holdings Limited on 29 December 2014) in January and December 2014 respectively. Save
for HK Electric Investments Manager Limited, all the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr
ARCULLI is now the chairman of FWD Group and HKAFSL. He is an honorary fellow of Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute and vice patron and former directors committee member of The Community Chest of
Hong Kong. Mr ARCULLI is also a board member and the vice chairman of the board of The West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority and chairs its executive committee and development committee. He holds directorships
in other public and private companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
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MR CHA MOU DAID JOHNSON BS, MBA, aged 63, joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-
executive Director in December 2004. He is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr CHA has
nearly 40 years experience in venture capital and investment management. He is a NED of Hanison, Mingly and
China International Capital Corporation Limited, INED of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and director of a
number of other companies in Hong Kong and overseas including LBJ Regents. Mr CHA is active in non-profit
making organisations including Qiu Shi Foundation and Moral Education Concern Group. He completed full
terms as council, finance committee and investment sub-committee member of The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in April 2015. Mr CHA is a brother of Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Payson CHA and Mr Victor CHA.
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MS WONG CHA MAY LUNG MADELINE, aged 75, joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as

Non-executive Director in December 2004. She is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Ms
WONG is the deputy chairman of Mingly and also a director or NED of a number of public and private companies
in Hong Kong and overseas, including CCM Trust, LBJ Regents and Chinney Investments, Limited which is listed
on the Stock Exchange. She retired as a NED of Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited in August 2014
which is also listed on the Stock Exchange. Ms WONG is a trustee of Sang Ma. She is a sister of Mr Payson
CHA, Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA.
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DR CHENG KAR SHUN HENRY ass, 84, MBA, DBA (Hons), LLD (Hons), aged 68, joined the Board in 1989 and
was re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director in 1993. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Dr CHENG is the chairman and executive director of NWD, Chow Tai Fook Jewellery
Group Limited, NWS Holdings Limited and International Entertainment Corporation, chairman and managing
director of New World China Land Limited, chairman and NED of New World Department Store China Limited
and Newton Resources Ltd, NED of SUM Holdings Limited and INED of Hang Seng Bank Limited. He ceased as
a NED of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited in May 2015. All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Dr CHENG is also a director of a number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas. He is the
chairman of the advisory council of BHKF, non-official member of Commission on Poverty and member of the
Twelfth National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC. Dr CHENG
was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2001.
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MR CHEUNG WING LAM LINUS sssc, up, aged 67, joined the Board in January 2006 and was re-
designated as Independent Non-executive Director on 26 March 2012. He is also a member of both of the

audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr CHEUNG was the chief executive of Hong
Kong Telecommunications Limited (later “Cable & Wireless HKT Limited” (“Cable”)) from 1994 to 2000, deputy
chairman of PCCW Limited (following a merger with Cable) from August 2000 to February 2004 and INED of
Taikang Life Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011. He is an INED of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited which is
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr CHEUNG is the chairman of the council and member of the board of governors
of Centennial College.
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MS HO PAK CHING LORETTA FciH (retireq), aged 68, was re-designated as Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 10 April 2010. Prior to her re-designation, she was appointed as Executive Director

in 1994 and re-designated as Non-executive Director on 10 April 2008 upon her retirement from all executive
roles in the Group. Ms HO is also a member of both of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. She is a retired member of the Chartered Institute of Housing Asian Pacific Branch and has over 40
years extensive experience in property development, property investment and management. Ms HO is a member
of the supervisory board, the special committee on elderly housing and the remuneration committee of the Hong
Kong Housing Society.
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MR TANG KWAI CHANG rcca, Fcra, aged 62, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director in
September 2014. He is also a member of both of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr TANG is a fellow member of both of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
HKICPA. He was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with extensive experience in auditing and
audit risk management, the vice chairman of Deloitte China and board member of Deloitte Global when he retired
in May 2013. Mr TANG is currently a court member of the Hong Kong Baptist University and member of the
disciplinary panel of the HKICPA.
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The directors of HKR International Limited (the “Company”) (the
“Board” or the “Directors”) are pleased to announce the audited
final results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 182 to 196.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 89.

The Directors have recommended the declaration of a final
dividend of HK7 cents per share for the year ended 31 March
2015 (2014: HK12 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the registers of members of the Company on 2
September 2015.

The proposed final dividend together with the interim dividend
of HKB cents per share for the six months ended 30 September
2014 makes up a total dividend of HK13 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: HK12 cents). The proposed
final dividend will be paid on 17 September 2015 following
approval at the 2015 annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on 26 August 2015 (2015 AGM”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company
will be closed from 24 to 26 August 2015 (both days inclusive)
and on 1 and 2 September 2015 for the 2015 AGM and the
proposed final dividend respectively. During the periods, no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending the 2015 AGM and for the proposed final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2015, all transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 21
August and 31 August 2015 respectively.

Directors’ Report
wHHE R

HKR International Limited ( & /& ¥ R R £ E A
RAR)) ([ARFES([EFg] %k [EE])
RASHARR REMBAR (HfEAEH])
B E2015F3A31B L FE KR EZRFEE-

ETEXHK
ARFZEBEBAREER - HEEHBA

BCBENTIRAE AR ZERHNEISES
F196E 2 ir B B BRERMFE45 o

FERKE

AREBEHE2015F3A3BILEFE 7 EEHNE
BOE 2R BEERA-

BEEEZMMN2015F9 A28 L5 AR RIRE L
fitt 2 R B R & 2201593 A31H IEFE 2 & Hf
B% B G RR7EAN (20144 - 12784L) -

B2 KRR BIERH 22014F9A301 1H61E

Az R B ZReB(IIFTE - HZE20159F3 A31
HIEFE 2R EBEATRISHEN (20144 112
L) o i 2 REAR B R AN A F120158 H26 H
FTER1TH2015F IR BEF RE ([2015F R F
g) FEERE R 2015F9A17H IR »

TEMERDBEEREFE

B2015FWMRF G MEZZAGPRE  KAAAZ
& 1n @ PE B AR DRSS RIFR20159F8 A24
HZE26H (B2EaRMA) X2015F9A81H &2
BEEHIER G BEERLFE - FEIHE B
ZEEFEBTTIRE - BHRAEREFE2015
FERRES MNNBMEE2015FE3A31H ILFER
B ARSI E R IBE B R MR E
SIBAD BIF201558 A21 B 8 A31H N4k
30D AR R EAR R Z B BRMHDBFEZ R
EBPRELFBLDARDE  WItAEBEFS
JE AE R8I A TP 77121716 % » #HIE
TR FE-

EFREXEBREEERATE 2014/2015 F 7R



Directors’ Report = 3 & #t &

ADOPTION OF COMPANY LOGO

The Board has officially adopted a new company logo

for the Group effective from 24 June 2015 and a relevant
announcement was published on the websites of the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) accordingly. The company logo has been and wiill
be printed on the Company’s corporate documents, including
but not limited to share certificates, invoices, promotional
materials, interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars
and corporate stationery, to better promote the Company’s
corporate image and the development of its business and
goodwill.

DIRECTORS

During the financial year ended 31 March 2015, Dr QIN Xiao
and the late Dr Marvin CHEUNG resigned as independent non-
executive directors (“INEDs”) of the Company with effect from

1 July and 19 August 2014 respectively. Mr TANG Kwai Chang
was appointed as an INED of the Company on 24 September
2014. The Directors during the financial year ended 31 March
2015 and at the date of this report were and are those set out
on pages 38 and 39.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”) and the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix

14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), Mr TANG Kwai Chang
retired and was re-elected as an INED of the Company by its
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) of
the Company held on 19 May 2015. Mr Payson CHA, Mr Victor
CHA, The Honourable Ronald ARCULLI and Ms Loretta HO
shall also retire by rotation at the 2015 AGM. All the retiring
Directors, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election
at the 2015 AGM. Other remaining Directors will continue in
office.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2015 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

The non-executive directors (“NEDs”) including the INEDs of

the Company were not appointed for a specific term but their
respective terms of office are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with
the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to ensure
that all Directors shall retire at least once every three years and
be eligible for re-election.
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Each of the INEDs of the Company has made an annual
confirmation on independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs meet
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and are
independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the executive directors
(“EDs”) of the Company are under the direct responsibilities

for the business and operations of the Group and hence the
EDs are regarded as the senior management of the Company.
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 40 to
44. Details of the Directors’ emoluments are also provided under
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 139
to 140.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. A Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy is
in place to protect the Directors against potential costs and
liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2015, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
and adopted by the Company were as follows:
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The Company VIN/NE]
Long positions in shares of HK$0.25 each R [ 180.25/8 TR (7.2 4F &
Number of ordinary shares
EEREE
Approximate
percentage
of issued
share capital
Personal Family Corporate Other HERT
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests interests Total RAZ
ESER 51 BARER e AR Hivigs 2y #HPEIH
Payson CHA Beneficial owner, interests of a 3,113,113 - 16,867,074"  618,895,387> 638,875,574 47.31
LB controlled corporation and
beneficiary of discretionary trusts
E%ﬁ%ﬁ/\ RELEER
WEEAZEA
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary of 1,140,253 - - 629,498,383 630,638,636 46.70
BB discretionary trusts
ERBEARBREEEZRA
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - - - 628,200,885% 628,200,885 46.52
L WEEAZHEA
Madeline WONG Founder and/or beneficiary of - - - 627,487,463% 627,487,463 46.47
TEEE discretionary trusts
MBEFREALAR/IZERA
Ronald ARCULLI Beneficiary of a trust 241,472 - - - 241,472 0.02
EEE FREXHEA
Abraham CHUNG Beneficial owner 315,084 - - - 315,084 0.02
#E0H ERBA
Loretta HO Beneficial owner 85,600 - - - 85,600 0.01
(i) ExBEBA
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 135,200 - - - 135,200 0.01
HimE ERBBA

The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Limited (“Accomplished”), a corporation 100% owned by Mr Payson CHA.
ZERAD Th R AR kA 2 BB 2 A 7 Accomplished Investments Limited ( [Accomplished | ) 5% ©

2 The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents Limited
(“LBJ Regents”) were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

2 ZERNBRETTRB \ﬂ%%%& £ 4 A CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([CCM Trust | ) % LBJ Regents Limited ( [LBJ Regents | ) Z;7ZE S :EAEFH
MEBAEEERWBEZEA

8 577,842,756 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the
Director was among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
3 577,842,756 RN B E T RREBIIE(Z5E K & BCCM Trust 2 LBJ Regents 2 A B R iEA T EMZESBRBIEZ A

4 The Director was, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees, the founder and member
of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts were deemed to be interested in 49,644,707 shares in aggregate.

¢ ZEFRAEH/CCM Trust 2 LBJ Regents 2 A B 5 AFTHE 2 MIANRIBBEEMNAI ARERNIERRA - ZFEEHE RS & 149,644,707
& A& A7
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預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Limited (“Accomplished”), a corporation 100% owned by Mr Payson CHA.

預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents Limited (“LBJ Regents”) were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents Limited (“LBJ Regents”) were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents Limited
(“LBJ Regents”) were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
3	577,842,756 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the Director was among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
4	The Director was, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees, the founder and member of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts were deemed to be interested in 49,644,707 shares in aggregate.



Associated Corporation — Hanison Construction Holdings
Limited (“Hanison”)

a) Long positions in shares of HK$0.10 each

Name of director

Exel

Payson CHA
EE

Victor CHA
B

Johnson CHA
EE

Madeline WONG
TEXHE
Ronald ARCULLI
BEEE

Abraham CHUNG
#ELH

Loretta HO
g

Capacity

Ht

Beneficial owner, interests of a
controlled corporation and
beneficiary of discretionary trusts

ERAAAN ZHZEEER
BEEZRAA

Beneficial owner and beneficiary of
discretionary trusts

ERBAARBEEEXEA

Beneficiary of discretionary trusts

BEEEREA

Founder and/or beneficiary of
discretionary trusts
BEETALAR/IZEA

Beneficiary of a trust
EERHEA

Beneficial owner

EaBAA

Beneficial owner

EEEAA

5 The shares were held by Accomplished.
5 3% Z B9 Ty Accomplished## & o
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PEEEE - BRI AR A
) ( [HEs] )

a) R EEO. 10T (72 4 B

Number of ordinary shares
EERHA

Approximate
percentage
of issued
share capital
Personal Family  Corporate Other HERT
interests interests interests interests Total %34
BAES KRR ArER Hiti iz #y  EREI
735,712 - 3,574,272° 115,666,069 119,976,053 22.37
179,669 - - 117,865,220° 118,044,889 22.01
- - - 117,865,219 117,865,219 21.98
- - - 117,696,615 117,696,615 21.95
58,000 - - - 58,000 0.01
63,819 - - - 63,819 0.01
12,859 - - - 12,859 0.002

5 The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the relevant
Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
¢ ZEWRMBRETTIRBIGETLREE ACOM TrustLBJ Regents 2 ZEZ AR AMEHESBREBEZHA -

7 115,666,069 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the
Director was among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

7 115,666,0690% I 10 B #H T T EIBIE {275 & % ACCM Trust 2 LBJ Regents 2 A B S E AR A M EEBREIE

FHA-

8 The Director was, under another discretionary trust of which LBJ Regents was the corporate trustee, the founder and member of the classes of
d|scret|onary beneficiaries thereof. Such trust was deemed to be interested in 2,030,546 shares.

¢ REERMARLBIRegents EBE AN S —BIBEFRZAZARETHORBEZ A < ZE7THE B HHF2,030,546 AL
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預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares were held by Accomplished.


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors were among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
7	115,666,069 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents were the corporate trustees and the Director was among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
8	The Director was, under another discretionary trust of which LBJ Regents was the corporate trustee, the founder and member of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trust was deemed to be interested in 2,030,546 shares.
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b) Share options

Some Directors have been granted share options of Hanison,
details of which are set out in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Schemes” below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding
non-beneficial interests in the share capital of some of the
subsidiaries of the Company as the nominee shareholders, as at
31 March 2015, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or their respective associates had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company and Hanison have adopted their own share
option schemes, namely 2011 HKRI Scheme and 2011 Hanison
Scheme with listing status of shares to be granted under both
schemes.

Summary of the option schemes

Save as disclosed separately below, particulars of the 2011
HKRI Scheme and 2011 Hanison Scheme are identical and are
set out below pursuant to the requirements under the Listing
Rules:

a) Purpose

To provide the participants who have been granted options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company/Hanison with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company/
Hanison and to encourage the participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company/Hanison and its shares for
the benefit of the Company/Hanison and its shareholders as a
whole.

b) Participants

All directors (including any EDs, NEDs and INEDs), full-time
employees and any consultants (employed on a contract basis)
of the Company/Hanison, its subsidiaries and/or its associated
companies/associates are eligible to participate in the 2011
HKRI Scheme/2011 Hanison Scheme.
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¢) Maximum number of shares available for issue

A maximum number of 135,027,436/48,755,967 shares of the
Company/Hanison may be issued upon exercise of all options
granted or to be granted under the 2011 HKRI Scheme/2011
Hanison Scheme respectively.

a) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares of the Company/Hanison issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted to each participant (including both exercised and
unexercised options) under the 2011 HKRI Scheme/2011
Hanison Scheme or any other share option scheme (if any)
adopted by the Company/Hanison in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company/Hanison
in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the
Company/Hanison respectively.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or

an INED of the Company/Hanison, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the
shares of the Company/Hanison issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant:

— representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the
Company/Hanison in issue; and

— having an aggregate value, based on the closing price

of the shares of the Company/Hanison as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company/Hanison who are not connected
persons of the Company/Hanison as defined in the Listing
Rules.

e) Period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board/board

of directors of Hanison (or the relevant committee thereof) may
specify at the time of grant.
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1) Minimum period and requirement, if any, for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised

For the 2011 HKRI Scheme, at the time of the grant of an
option, the Board (or the relevant committee thereof) must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised.

For the 2011 Hanison Scheme, at the time of the grant of

an option, the board of directors of Hanison (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any,
and the minimum performance target(s), if any, that must be
reached before it can be exercised in whole or in part.

g) Period open for acceptance of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance

For the 2011 HKRI Scheme, the offer of the grant of an option
(of which the date of grant must be a business day of the Stock
Exchange) must be accepted within 14 days from the date

on which the offer letter is delivered to the participant and a
consideration of HK$1 must be paid upon acceptance.

For the 2011 Hanison Scheme, the offer of the grant of an
option (of which the date of grant must be a business day of
the Stock Exchange) must be accepted within 14 days after the
date of grant and a consideration of HK$1 must be paid upon
acceptance.

h) Basis of determining the subscription price of an option

The subscription price of an option shall be no less than the
higher of:

— the closing price of the shares of the Company/Hanison
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

— the average closing price of the shares of the Company/
Hanison as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange for the five business days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant; and

— the nominal value of a share of the Company/Hanison on the
date of grant.

i) Remaining life

Each of the 2011 HKRI Scheme and 2011 Hanison Scheme
has a life of ten years and will expire on 7 September 2021 and
20 September 2021 respectively unless otherwise terminated
in accordance with the terms of the 2011 HKRI Scheme/2011
Hanison Scheme.
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Details of options granted and available for grant

No option was granted under the 2011 HKRI Scheme since

its adoption. The total number of shares in the Company
available for grant of options under the 2011 HKRI Scheme is
135,027,436 shares which represents 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of this annual report (i.e. 24
June 2015).

The total number of shares in Hanison available for grant of
options under the 2011 Hanison Scheme is 48,755,967 shares
which represents 10% of the issued share capital of Hanison as
at the date on which the 2011 Hanison Scheme was adopted
and represents 9.07% of the issued share capital of Hanison
as at the date of this annual report (i.e. 24 June 2015). During
the financial year ended 31 March 2015, Hanison granted
share options to its directors (some are also the Directors)

and employees to subscribe for a total of 28,776,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of Hanison under
the 2011 Hanison Scheme. As at 31 March 2015, the Directors
individually and other eligible participants in aggregate had

the following interests in share options to subscribe shares in
Hanison:
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B M A ER 2 ) HiE S
2011 BB EEFTE| B HRAN AR - WER DT
15 B#E - 1R 1520118 78 ELZE 8] Al 4 9% H AR 15 H5
MR BB AN R M) 4B 805 135,027,4360% © HHER
A RIAAREDR A E (B1201566 248 ) 2 31T
fEARZ10% °

RIE2011 55T & - AT AR HARERT S R 2
B B IS 1D 48 88 5548, 755,96 7% + HE S IR 452011
EEAT 28 QBB D BITRAZ10%  MEER
B ARNE R B EY (BN201556 8248 ) D3 1TRR
N 79.07%  FAE E2015E3 A31 8 1F 7 BT

BN S RIBE2011 BB EImEES (5o
BARNRES)REBRTBRMBENRES X
28,776,0000% H B ik AN P G AR B0 B TL 2 &

BA% - 20153 A31 8 [ARIEE R EME ER
DEEASREFERO PEERURBEBERS

=3B

Number of share options
R BEHE

Exercise Closing Balance Balance

price per price as at asat

Name or share  per share® 1 April Granted Exercised 31 March

category of (HK$) (HK$) Exercise 2014 during during 2015

participant Date of grant SROTHEE SRUGE period 20145 the year the year R2015%

SEEREGER Rdi B S (%) (Bx) TEE  4F1BE8 REARE  RERGE  3AAEH

Payson CHA' 26 November 2014 1.35 1.35 26 November 2014 to - 5,360,000 - 5,360,000
LB 2014E11A268 25 November 2019
014511 f26HE
2019117250

Johnson CHA™ 26 November 2014 1.35 1.35 26 November 2014 to - 2,680,000 - 2,680,000
BH{E 2014118268 25 November 2019
2014F11A26HZ
201911 A25H

Other eligible participants 26 November 2014 1.3 1.3 26 November 2014 to - 20,736,000 - 20,736,000
in aggregate 2014411 A26H 25 November 2019
EfhaARSREQ A" 2014F117268E
2019117250

Total 28 - 28,776,000 - 28776000

Details of the value of the share options granted during the
financial year ended 31 March 2015 and the accounting policy
adopted for the share options are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 167 to 169.

REE201553A31 B IEBTBREE AR B 2 %15
HiREBE NI B AT R S st R 25515
HNE167TAEEFH 1698 MR A B 15 R &K KT 5136
ﬁq °

9 Being the closing price of Hanison’s share immediately before the date on which the share options were granted.

O EERRMEERL AR —REBR M 2 TE-

9Being common directors of the Company and Hanison.

CRARRRREE XAES-

"Including other directors and employees of Hanison.

TEEABHEMEERES-
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預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
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為本公司及興勝之共同董事。
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包括興勝其他董事及僱員。
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Schemes”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the Directors in businesses
which competed or were likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group as required to be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules were set out as follows:

a) The Honourable Ronald ARCULLI is an INED of Hang
Lung Properties Limited (“HLP”) and also a NED of Sino Hotels
(Holdings) Limited (“SHH"), Sino Land Company Limited (“SLC")
and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited (“TSTP”). He ceased

as a NED of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited (“HHR”, which
was renamed as China Oceanwide Holdings Limited on 29
December 2014) in December 2014. The businesses of HLP,
SHH, SLC, TSTP and HHR involve at least some of property
investment, property development, property management and
hotel management and ownership. HLP, SHH, SLC, TSTP and
HHR are all listed on the Stock Exchange.

b) Mr Payson CHA is the chairman and NED of Hanison

and an INED of New World Development Company Limited
(“NWD”), Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited (“EAM”)
being manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust
(“CREIT”) and Hongkong International Theme Parks Limited
(“HITP") being owner and operator of Hong Kong Disneyland
Resort. The businesses of Hanison, NWD, EAM, CREIT and
HITP involve at least some of property investment, property
development, property management, healthcare services and
hotel management and ownership. Hanison, NWD and CREIT
are all listed on the Stock Exchange.

¢) Mr Victor CHA is an INED of SOHO China Limited (“SOHQO”)
and alternate INED of NWD. The businesses of SOHO and
NWD involve at least some of property investment, property
development, property management and hotel management
and ownership. SOHO and NWD are both listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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d) Mr Johnson CHA is a NED of Hanison whose group’s
businesses consist of property investment, property
development, property management and healthcare services.
Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

e) Ms Madeline WONG is a NED of Chinney Investments,
Limited (“Chinney”). She retired as a NED of Hon Kwok Land
Investment Company, Limited (‘HKLI") in August 2014. Chinney
and HKLI are both listed on the Stock Exchange whose
groups’ businesses consist of property development, property
investment, property management and hotel management and
ownership.

Save for the INEDs and save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors was interested in any business apart from the Group’s
businesses which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2015, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Company’s shares of HK$0.25
each

Name of shareholder Capacity

BRRER )

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee

EEEFTEA

LBJ Regents Limited Corporate trustee
EEXFEA

Invesco Asset Management Limited Investment manager/
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108,828,725" 8.06

advisor of various accounts

BRERR/ZERP 2 B

2. 560,153,905 shares were held by CCM Trust as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of

discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

12 560,153,905/ B 17 7 HCCM Trust IEZ B R FEA F M AE T TIRBBERRA MZEFNEXEARECREERE L 2188 -

891,894,801 shares were held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of

discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

13 91,894,801 8% B 17 Jh ALBJ Regents UEEI R FEA GO AE TTAEMBELEE MZSHNEXEABEEMEERIG L 21ER -

4108,828,725 shares were disclosed on the website of the Stock Exchange as being held by Invesco Asset Management Limited as investment

manager and/or advisor of various accounts.

14 108,828,7250% 1% 17 T 3% 78 7£ Bk 2 BT 60 48 U4 _E B Invesco Asset Management Limited{f A 1% & £&I2 N /s Z BB P 2 B 156 ©

EFREXEBREEERATE 2014/2015 F 7R


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
560,153,905 shares were held by CCM Trust as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming!&s issue.


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
91,894,801 shares were held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming!&s issue.


預檢 by iMac12
文字注釋
108,828,725 shares were disclosed on the website of the Stock Exchange as being held by Invesco Asset Management Limited as investment manager and/or advisor of various accounts.



Directors’ Report # 3 & #t &

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, no other
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2015, the Company has issued HK$798.0
million in aggregate principal amount of unlisted notes due
2020. Details of the debt securities are disclosed in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 165.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Set out below is the information in relation to the connected
transactions involving the Company and/or its subsidiaries
during the financial year ended 31 March 2015 which are
required under the Listing Rules to be disclosed in this annual
report and consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Details of each connected transaction can be found on the
websites of the Company, Hanison and the Stock Exchange
accordingly.

a) On 18 June 2014, Pearl Development Limited, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Ms Madeline WONG for the
disposal of a 2-storey terraced house located at Discovery

Bay to Ms WONG for a consideration of HK$40.5 million. Ms
WONG is a NED of the Company and hence a connected
person of the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The
consideration was based on the valuation of the property done
by an independent valuer. The disposal was completed on 30
July 2014.

b) On 19 March 2015, Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI)
Limited (“Hanison BVI”), a direct wholly owned subsidiary

of Hanison and indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of

the Company, Sky Champion International Limited (“Sky
Champion”), an indirect majority owned subsidiary of Mingly
Corporation (“Mingly”), Mingly and an independent purchaser
(the “Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which Hanison BVI and Sky Champion conditionally
agreed to sell the sale shares and to assign the shareholder
loans to the Purchaser at a total cash consideration of
HK$550.0 million (subject to adjustment, if any) which should
be divided in the proportion of 60:40 for Hanison BVI and Sky
Champion respectively (the “Disposal”).
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Mingly is indirectly majority owned by CCM Trust which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company and Hanison and hence
Sky Champion is a connected person of the Company and
Hanison respectively for the purpose of the Listing Rules and
the Disposal constitutes a connected transaction on the part of
the Company and Hanison which is subject to the independent
shareholders’ approval of both the Company and Hanison.

The Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder
were duly approved, ratified and confirmed by an ordinary
resolution passed by the independent shareholders of each of
the Company and Hanison at separate EGMs both held on 19
May 2015. Completion of the Disposal shall take place in early
July 2015.

¢) On 31 March 2015, 3 BB 2 S M # (BIM) AR A A
(“Million Hope”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Hanison
and indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a contract with J& % & & = i & A R A & (‘Haining
Fusheng”), which is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
CCM Trust, for the supply and installation of aluminum windows
and doors (the “Works”) by Million Hope to Haining Fusheng.
Haining Fusheng is regarded as a connected person of the
Company and Hanison for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The
contract sum is RMB16.27 million which is made in progress
payment based on architect certificates certifying the progress
of the Works completed by Million Hope and verified by the
project architect.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group (including
Hanison and its subsidiaries, collectively “Hanison Group”)
entered into the following transactions which constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) and are required under the Listing Rules to

be disclosed in this annual report and consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Details of the relevant Continuing
Connected Transactions can be found on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Construction and Renovation Services between the
Group (excluding Hanison Group) and Hanison Group

The Company and Hanison entered into the Construction

and Renovation Services Framework Agreement dated 20
December 2012 (the “C&R Agreement”) which governs the
outline terms upon which members of the Group (excluding
Hanision Group) and Hanison Group proposed to be engaged in
various construction projects (the “Construction Transactions”)
and various interior and renovation projects (the “Renovation
Transactions”) during the three financial years ending 31 March
2016 with total values to be subject to the following annual caps
respectively.

Annual caps

The total values of the Construction Transactions in terms of
certified amount of work done shall not exceed the following
amounts respectively:

1 April 2013 - 31 March 2014 HK$320.0 million

1 April 2014 - 31 March 2015 HK$430.0 million

1 April 2015 - 31 March 2016 HK$610.0 million

The total values of the Renovation Transactions in terms of
certified or agreed amount of work done shall not exceed the
following amounts respectively:

1 April 2013 — 31 March 2014 HK$50.0 million
1 April 2014 — 31 March 2015 HK$50.0 million
1 April 2015 — 31 March 2016 HK$50.0 million

The C&R Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps on the total
values of the Construction Transactions and the Renovation
Transactions (as set out above) were approved by an ordinary
resolution passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company at an EGM held on 4 February 2013.
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In the event that the total value of the Construction Transactions
or the Renovation Transactions exceeds the relevant annual

cap amount set out above for any respective years, such
transactions and their total value will be subject to review and
re-approval by the independent shareholders of the Company at
the general meeting convened for this specific purpose.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the aggregate transaction
value in respect of the Construction Transactions under the
C&R Agreement amounted to HK$81.5 million (2014: HK$127.0
million) and Renovation Transactions was nil (2014: HK$1.2
million).

Services provided to Haining Group by Hanison Group

2012 PM Agreements

On 2 April 2012, Hanison Project Management Limited
(“HPML"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Hanison and /& 2 32 &
B E B IR A 7] (‘Haining Jiafeng”), which is indirectly majority
owned by CCM Trust, and Haining Fusheng have respectively
entered into the 2012 Cross-border Project Management
Service Agreements, the 2012 Non-PRC Project Management
Service Agreements and the 2012 Site Supervision Agreements
for providing project management services in both Hong Kong
and Mainland China and site supervision services in Mainland
China to Haining project (the “Project Management Services”
and the “Site Supervision Services”). On 31 July 2013, HPML
and each of Haining Jiafeng and Haining Fusheng further
entered into the New Site Supervision Agreement to supersede
the 2012 Site Supervision Agreements for the revision of the
annual caps for the Site Supervision Services (the 2012 Cross-
border Project Management Service Agreements, the 2012
Non-PRC Project Management Service Agreements and the
New Site Supervision Agreements collectively the “2012 PM
Agreements”).

The transactions for the provision of the Project Management
Services and the Site Supervision Services to Haining

project under the 2012 PM Agreements are only subject to
announcement and reporting requirements and no independent
shareholders’ approval of Hanison (which was treated as a
subsidiary of the Company only since 1 April 2013) is required
under the Listing Rules. The 2012 PM Agreements, the terms
thereof, the transactions contemplated thereunder and the
annual caps (including the revised annual caps for the Site
Supervision Services) on the total value of the continuing
connected transactions during the three financial years ended
31 March 2015 were approved by the board of directors of
Hanison and announcements in relation thereto was made on

2 April 2012 and 31 July 2013 respectively. The annual caps
for the provision of the Project Management Services and the
Site Supervision Services by HPML to Haining project under the
2012 PM Agreements are as follows:
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Project Management Services

1 April 2012 -
31 March 2013

RMB3.99 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.91 million)

1 April 2013 -
31 March 2014

RMB3.99 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.91 million)

1 April 2014 -
31 March 2015

RMB3.99 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.91 million)

Site Supervision Services

1 April 2012 -
31 March 2013

RMB3.36 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.14 million)

RMB5.61 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$7.01 million)

1 April 2013 -
31 March 2014

1 April 2014 -
31 March 2015

RMB6.36 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$7.95 million)

In the event that the total value of the Project Management
Services or the Site Supervision Services under the 2012 PM
Agreements exceeds the relevant annual cap amount set out
above for any respective years, such transactions and the cap(s)
will be subject to review, as necessary, re-appraised in the
context of the ongoing requirements of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the aggregate transaction
value in respect of each of the Project Management Services
and the Site Supervision Services under the 2012 PM
Agreements amounted to HK$2.2 million (2014: HK$3.8 million)
and HK$3.4 million (2014: HK$5.5 million) respectively.

2015 PM Agreements

In anticipation of the expiry of the 2012 PM Agreements on 31
March 2015, HPML and Haining Jiafeng have entered into the
2015 Cross-border Project Management Service Agreement
and the 2015 Non-PRC Project Management Service
Agreement for providing the Project Management Services

to Haining project in Hong Kong and Mainland China. HPML
also entered into the 2015 Site Supervision Agreements with
Haining Jiafeng and Haining Fusheng respectively providing the
Site Supervision Services to Haining project (the 2015 Cross-
border Project Management Service Agreement, the 2015
Non-PRC Project Management Service Agreement and the
2015 Site Supervision Agreements collectively the “2015 PM
Agreements”).
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The transactions for the provision of the Project Management
Services and the Site Supervision Services to Haining

project under the 2015 PM Agreements are only subject to
announcement and reporting requirements and no independent
shareholders’ approvals of both Hanison and the Company are
required under the Listing Rules. The 2015 PM Agreements, the
terms thereof, the transactions contemplated thereunder and
the annual caps on the total value of the continuing connected
transactions during the three financial years ending 31 March
2018 were approved by the boards of directors of both Hanison
and the Company and a joint announcement in relation thereto
was made on 31 March 2015.

The annual caps for the provision of the Project Management
Services and the Site Supervision Services by HPML to Haining

project under the 2015 PM Agreements are as follows:

Project Management Services

1 April 2015 -
31 March 2016

RMB768,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$960,000)

1 April 2016 -
31 March 2017

RMB768,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$960,000)

1 April 2017 -
31 March 2018

RMB768,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$960,000)

Site Supervision Services

1 April 2015 -
31 March 2016

RMB3.552 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.44 million)

1 April 2016 -
31 March 2017

RMB3.552 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.44 million)

1 April 2017 -
31 March 2018

RMB3.552 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$4.44 million)

In the event that the total value of the Project Management
Services or the Site Supervision Services under the 2015 PM
Agreements exceeds the relevant annual cap amount set out
above for any respective years, such transactions and the cap(s)
will be subject to review, as necessary, re-appraised in the
context of the ongoing requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Services provided to Haining Group by the Group
(excluding Hanison Group)

The Company and Clear Shine International Limited, an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of CCM Trust, entered
into a Framework Agreement dated 13 December 2013 (the
“Haining Agreement”) which governs the outline terms for the
provision of the services by members of the Group (excluding
Hanison Group) to Haining group in relation to Haining project.
The annual caps for the provision of the services by the Group
(excluding Hanison Group) to Haining project during the three
financial years ending 31 March 2016 pursuant to the Haining
Agreement are as follows:

1 April 2013 — 31 March 2014 HK$2.8 million
1 April 2014 — 31 March 2015 HK$5.6 million
1 April 2015 — 31 March 2016 HK$3.5 million

The Haining Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps (as set

out above) on the total value of the continuing connected
transactions during the three financial years ending 31 March
2016 were approved by the Board and an announcement in
relation thereto was made on 13 December 2013.

Pursuant to the Haining Agreement, in the event that the value
of the services provided by the Group (including Hanison Group)
to Haining project exceeds the amount of the total annual cap
under the 2012 PM Agreements or 2015 PM Agreements and
the Haining Agreement for any year, such transactions and the
cap(s) will be subject to review, in conjunction with Hanison,
and, as necessary, re-appraised in the context of the ongoing
requirements of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the aggregate transaction
value in respect of the services provided by the Group
(excluding Hanison Group) under the Haining Agreement
amounted to HK$3.6 million (2014: HK$2.2 million).

In accordance with rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
Directors have duly approved, and the INEDs of the Company
have reviewed the internal auditor’s report, the confirmation from
management of Hanison, and also considered the independent
auditor’s report pursuant to rule 14A.56 and confirmed that

the aforesaid Continuing Connected Transactions for the year
ended 31 March 2015 were carried out in accordance with the
following principles:
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a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

b) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions for judging whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms better than terms available to or
from independent third parties; and

c) in all material aspects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the Continuing Connected Transactions
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Board has engaged the independent auditor of the
Company to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions
pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The independent
auditor of the Company has provided a letter to the Board
confirming that:

a) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions have not
been approved by the Directors;

b) for the transactions involving the provision of services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

¢) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
Continuing Connected Transactions set out above, nothing

has come to their attention that causes them to believe that

the Continuing Connected Transactions have exceeded the
maximum aggregate annual values disclosed in the previous
announcements dated 2 April 2012 and 31 July 2013 made by
Hanison and the previous announcements dated 20 December
2012 and 13 December 2013 made by the Company in respect
of each of the Continuing Connected Transactions.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or
arrangements of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or controlling
shareholder had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligation set out in rule
13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the
details of the loan agreement with covenants relating to specific
performance on the controlling shareholders of the Company as
at 31 March 2015 pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There existed
no reporting obligation by the Company under rules 13.17 and
183.19 of the Listing Rules.

The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 4 September 2012 (the “Loan Agreement”) for a transferable
term loan and revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$5.0 billion with final maturity date falling three
years from the date of the Loan Agreement.

Under the Loan Agreement, among others, an event of default
is triggered when the existing individual shareholder of the
Company (together with his associate(s)) holding the single
largest shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the
date of the Loan Agreement ceases to be the Company’s single
largest individual beneficial shareholder at any time during the
term of the Loan Agreement.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, Mr Payson CHA, the
chairman of the Company, who personally and together with
his associates including a controlled corporation and certain
companies acting as corporate trustees of certain discretionary
family trusts of which Mr Payson CHA (to his knowledge) was
among the discretionary beneficiaries, held direct and indirect
an aggregate interest in 638,875,574 shares in the Company,
representing approximately 47.31% of the issued share

capital of the Company and he was treated the then individual
beneficial shareholder holding the single largest shareholding in
the Company under the Loan Agreement.
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As at the date of this report, the shareholding in the Company
held by Mr Payson CHA remains unchanged and he is still
treated as the single largest individual beneficial shareholder of
the Company.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rule 13.22 of Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of financial
assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to
affiliated companies of the Company as at 31 March 2015
pursuant to rule 13.16 thereof.

a) The Group advanced to Tung Chung Station Development
Company Limited (“TCSDCL”") an aggregate amount of
HK$605.8 million.

TCSDCL is engaged in the development of Tung Chung Station
Package Il Project in Lantau Island, Hong Kong in which the
Group has a 31% interest. The last phase of the development
was completed in 2009 and all properties were sold out in
2013. The advances were provided by the Group in the form

of shareholder’s loans in proportion to its shareholding interest
in TCSDCL, for the purpose of funding the working capital
requirements of TCSDCL. The advances are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

b) The Group advanced to Dazhongli Properties Limited and
its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”) an aggregate amount of
HK$4,613.7 million.

Dazhongli Group is engaged in the development of certain
properties in Jingan District, Shanghai, the People’s Republic

of China in which the Group has a 50% interest. The advances
were provided by the Group in the form of equity and loans in
proportion to its shareholding interest therein, for the purpose of
financing the development expenditure of Dazhongli Group. The
advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed
terms of repayment.
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c) The Group also advanced to several affiliated companies
an aggregate amount of HK$1,023.1 million. The Group has

interests ranging from 12% to 49% in these affiliated companies.

The aggregate amount of advances provided to and guarantees
given for these affiliated companies by the Group amounted to
HK$6,242.6 million representing 37.3% of the consolidated net
tangible assets of the Group of HK$16,727.7 million as at 31
March 2015.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31
March 2015 are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 150 to 154.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders

of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to approximately HK$1.0 million (2014:
approximately HK$1.2 million).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the
percentage of the Company’s shares which are in the hands
of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of
issued shares.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2015
has been reviewed by the audit committee established in
compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant
provisions of the CG Code.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the 2015 AGM of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, being eligible and
offering themselves for re-appointment as the independent
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
REEFD

CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman

ERE

FE

Hong Kong, 24 June 2015
20156 A24H M E B
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Corporate Governance Report
BB

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or the
“Directors”) presents its corporate governance report for the
year ended 31 March 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
FUNCTIONS

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices as a core element towards the success of
its business operation and it has been the Company’s policy to
manage the affairs of the Group in accordance with appropriate
regulatory standards and practices on good corporate
governance.

The corporate governance functions are assumed by the Board
and the specific duties prescribed by code provision D.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
are included in its written terms of reference. In the opinion of
the Board, the Company has complied with the CG Code during
the year ended 31 March 2015, save for the deviations with
considered reasons, if applicable, stated in the following relevant
paragraphs.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

During the year, Dr QIN Xiao and the late Dr Marvin CHEUNG
resigned as independent non-executive directors (‘INEDs”)

of the Company with effect from 1 July and 19 August 2014
respectively. Subsequent to the late Dr CHEUNG’s resignation,
the Board fell below the requirement of one-third of it being
INEDs for a while until Mr TANG Kwai Chang was appointed

as INED of the Company on 24 September 2014. The Board
currently comprises eleven Directors of which four are executive
directors (“EDs”) and seven are non-executive directors (“NEDs”)
of whom four and hence, with more than one-third of the Board,
are INEDs which allows the Company, save as disclosed above,
during the financial year ended 31 March 2015 to maintain a
balanced board with strong independent element. Each Director
possesses skills and experience appropriate to the business of
the Group and the particulars of each Director are duly set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages
40 to 44 of 2014/2015 annual report.

Save for Mr Payson CHA, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA

and Ms Madeline WONG who are brothers and sister, all other
Directors have no relationship with each other.
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Directors’ Responsibilities

Directors are responsible for the management of the Company
which includes formulating business strategies, directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

Upon appointment to the Board, every Director is given
comprehensive and formal induction documentation of the
business operation of the Group and information for his/her
understanding and awareness of his/her responsibilities as
Director under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory and
statutory requirements together, if required, with brief meetings
with senior executives and department heads of the Group.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Group and has informed the
Company in a timely manner for any change, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments. Details of Directors’ other
appointments are shown in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors” on pages 40 to 44 of 2014/2015 annual
report.

As from time to time, an updated list of the Directors identifying
their roles and functions and, in particular whether they are
INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Board Procedures

The dates of the regular Board meetings in a particular year are
scheduled towards the end of the immediately preceding year
to give all Directors adequate time to plan their schedules to
attend meetings. There are four regular Board meetings in a year
which are held on a quarterly basis and ad hoc Board meetings
will also be held as and when required. For the year ended 31
March 2015, five Board meetings were held and attendance
records of the Board meetings held during the year are set out in
the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings,
Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

The chairman of the Board provides leadership and governance
of the Board so as to create the conditions for the Board to
work effectively and perform its responsibilities. At least 14 days
formal notice would be given before each regular Board meeting
and reasonable advance notice would also be given for other
Board meetings. All Directors are consulted as to whether they
wish to include any matters in the agenda and the chairman of
the Board would finally review and approve the agenda before
the agenda for each Board meeting is issued.
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Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent to all
Directors/Board committees members at least three days (or
such other period as agreed) before the relevant meetings. With
the assistance of the EDs, the chairman of the Board seeks to
ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising

at Board meetings and receive adequate documents and
information about the Group in a timely manner. The chairman
of the Board, or in his absence, the deputy chairman and
managing director, leads meetings and ensures that all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Directors in a timely
manner. Directors are provided sufficient time for discussion

on issues in the meetings and encouraged to express their
viewpoints to the Board’s affairs and voice their concerns, if any.
The chairman directs discussion in the meetings in reaching

a consensus and consolidates discussion with conclusions.
Minutes of Board/Board committees meetings record sufficient
details of matters considered and decisions reached including
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by the Directors.
Draft and final signed minutes of Board/Board committees
meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively.

When necessary, the INEDs meet privately to discuss matters
which are their specific responsibility. One such meeting was
held in November 2014 for the consideration and approval of
the grant of share options of Hanison Construction Holdings
Limited (“Hanison”, a 49%-owned subsidiary of the Company) to
the directors, management and staff members of Hanison and
its subsidiaries.

The chairman of the Board also meets at least annually with the
NEDs (including INEDs) without the EDs present. During the
year, the chairman of the Board met the NEDs in March 2015
and three out of seven NEDs (including INEDs) attended the
meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and not be performed

by the same individual to ensure there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the executives who run
the business.

The roles of chairman, deputy chairman and managing director
of the Company have been taken up by two different individuals
who are brothers. Mr Payson CHA is the chairman and Mr
Victor CHA is the deputy chairman and managing director of the
Company. Their respective roles and responsibilities are clearly
separated and set out in writing.
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The chairman is mainly responsible for setting the Company’s
direction in consultation with the Board and for the marco
oversight of management. With the support of the company
secretary, the chairman also takes primary responsibility to
establish good corporate governance practices and procedures
of the Company. The managing director, with the support of EDs
(who in charge of different businesses and functional divisions

in accordance with their respective areas of expertise) is
responsible for strategic planning of different business functions
and day-to-day management and operation of the Group.

Non-executive Directors (Including Independent Non-
executive Directors)

All NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company were not appointed
with specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the articles of associations of the
Company (the “Articles”) with the details set out in the below
paragraph headed “Appointments, Re-election and Removal”.

Once a NED (including INED) consents to act as Director, a
formal appointment letter will be issued to the relevant Director
setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment.

The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are clearly set out in
writing. They are not involved in the day-to-day management of
the Gourp’s businesses but contribute by participating in Board/
Board committee meetings at which they bring in independent
views and judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct.

INEDs, in particular, will oversee the management and

the Company implementing the rules, procedures and

plans established and help ensure that the interests of the
shareholders as a whole are taken into account by the Board.
Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of them
continue to be independent with reference to the terms of
guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the Listing
Rules.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal

The Articles stipulate that at each annual general meeting
(“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any
Director appointed by the Directors shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case
of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next following AGM (in
the case of an addition to the Board) and be eligible to offer
for re-election. Re-election of each eligible Director is subject
to separate resolution to be approved by shareholders in the
general meeting of the Company.

Directors” Continuing Professional Development

Directors are provided with continuous updates on latest
changes or material development in the statutes, the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices relating to the duties and
responsibilities of directors and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development seminars to update their
knowledge for discharging directors’ responsibilities.

During the year, the Directors have participated in the following
various continuous professional development activities in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each Director
has provided his/her training record to the Company with
particulars set out as follows:

Name of director g
Payson CHA BME
Victor CHA BIREK
Abraham CHUNG $E /.00 H
TANG Moon Wah B mEE
Ronald ARCULLI EERESL
Johnson CHA EE
Madeline WONG FTEXERE
Henry CHENG B4
Linus CHEUNG IR K TR
Loretta HO (ERE=]
TANG Kwai Chang g7

Notes:

A. Reading materials/articles on directors’ general duties and responsibilities,
updates on the statutory and regulatory requirements in relation to listed and Hong
Kong companies and developments on business and economic environments.

B. Attending forums/conferences/seminars on directors’ general duties and
responsibilities, updates on the statutory and regulatory requirements in relation
to listed and Hong Kong companies and developments on financial, commercial,
legal, business and economic environments.

C. Speaking topic(s) in relation to commercial, economic, business affairs etc.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has set out level of authority and express terms of
reference of the relevant Board committees and reserves the
rights to oversee and decide all other non-delegated matters,

in particular, major acquisitions or disposals and connected
transactions. The Board also delegates certain management
and administration functions to the management as it considers
appropriate from time to time, with directions as to the powers
of management including circumstances where management
shall report to and obtain prior approval from the Board.

Board Committees

The Board has set up the remuneration committee, audit
committee, nomination committee and other committees,
namely finance committee, investment/divestment committee,
repurchase/reissue of shares committee and inside information
committee. The Board will from time to time review the terms
of reference or relevant policy of such committees and reform
and renovate some of them to align with better corporate
governance standard.

The Board will also from time to time on need basis pass
resolutions to set up special committees with clear terms of
reference to deal with the business of the Company. During
the year and subsequent to the year end, two special board
committees were set up (a) comprising three INEDs for the
purpose to review in detail all the documents, consider and
approve a connected transaction, which had been approved
by the Board in principle in respect of the disposal of a property
by the Company to a NED of the Company, and (b) comprising
four INEDs for the purpose to consider the fairness and
reasonableness of a discloseable connected transaction which
involves certain associates of the substantial shareholder of the
Company as the contract parties for the disposal of a property
by Hanison to an independent third party upon considering the
advice from the independent financial adviser and to advise the
Company’s independent shareholders on how to vote at the
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”).

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company was established
on 26 March 2012 and is regulated by the terms of reference
which follow closely the requirements of the CG Code and are
modified and approved by the Board from time to time. The
full text of the terms of reference of the nomination committee
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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The terms of reference of the nomination committee require,
inter alia, that the nomination committee comprises not less
than three members with a majority of INEDs and the chairman
must be either an INED or the chairman of the Board. During
the year, Dr QIN Xiao and the late Dr Marvin CHEUNG resigned
as members of nomination committee with effect from 1 July
and 19 August 2014 respectively. Subsequently, Mr TANG

Kwai Chang was appointed as a member of the nomination
committee with effect from 24 September 2014. The nomination
committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr
Payson CHA, the chairman of the Board, Ms Loretta HO and Mr
TANG Kwai Chang with Mr Payson CHA takes a lead role as the
chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the nomination committee is to
identify and recommend to the Board suitably qualified persons
to become members of the Board, to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and when
required as well as to maintain a policy concerning diversity

of Board members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and consider
the measurable objectives, if required, for recommending to

the Board for adoption. The nomination committee is entitled

to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, if it considers necessary in order to perform its duties.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in March
2018. Pursuant to the policy, the nomination committee will
review, discuss and agree annually all measurable objectives

in accordance with the structure, size and composition of the
Board for achieving diversity on the Board and recommend
them, if any, to the Board for adoption and monitor the
progress and its implementation for annual reporting in the
corporate governance report. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
The policy will be reviewed by the nomination committee on
annual basis and when required to ensure the effectiveness.

During the year, the nomination committee held a meeting

in March 2015 and has (a) reviewed the retirement schedule

of Directors and recommended to the Board on re-election

of Mr Payson CHA, Mr Victor CHA, The Honourable Ronald
ARCULLI and Ms Loretta HO at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to be held in August 2015, (b) reviewed, assessed
and considered that all INEDs are independent, (c) reviewed,
assessed and considered the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy and (d) reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board during the year of 2014/2015 and
considered that the current diversity of the Board is appropriate
and it was not required to set out any measurable objective for
enhancing the diversity of the Board for the year of 2015/2016.
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The attendance record of the nomination committee meeting
held during the year is set out in the below paragraph headed
“Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
on 2 December 2004 and is regulated by the terms of reference
which follow closely the requirements of the CG Code and are
modified and approved by the Board from time to time. The full
text of the terms of reference of the remuneration committee

is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee require,
inter alia, that the remuneration committee comprises not

less than three members with a majority of INEDs. During the
year, Dr QIN Xiao resigned as a member of the remuneration
committee with effect from 1 July 2014 and the current
remuneration committee comprises three members, namely Dr
Henry CHENG, Mr Linus CHEUNG and Mr Victor CHA with Dr
Henry CHENG takes a lead role as the chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the remuneration committee
is to exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine
the remuneration packages of individual EDs and senior
management, if any, including salaries, bonuses, benefits

in kind, share options and other plans. Such factors as
remuneration paid for comparable positions, time commitment
and responsibilities of the EDs and senior management as

well as the Company’s remuneration policy will be considered.
The remuneration committee is entitled to seek independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if it considers
necessary in order to perform its duties.

During the year, no remuneration committee meeting was held
but there were two rounds of electronic communication among
the committee members to review and approve proposals in
respect of (a) 2014/2015 salary increment for the EDs and
senior management, and (b) 2014/2015 bonus proposal for the
EDs. The records of circulated electronic communication of the
remuneration committee during the year are duly set out in the
below paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings,
Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company was established on 17
July 1998 and is regulated by the terms of reference which
follow closely the requirements of the CG Code and are
modified and approved by the Board from time to time. The full
text of the terms of reference of the audit committee is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The terms of reference of the audit committee require, inter

alia, that the audit committee comprises not less than three
members with all are NEDs and a majority of them to be INEDs
of the Company. During the year, the late Dr Marvin CHEUNG
resigned and Mr TANG Kwai Chang was appointed as a
member and the chairman of the audit committee with effect
from 19 August and 24 September 2014 respectively. The
current audit committee comprises three members, namely Mr
TANG Kwai Chang, Mr Linus CHEUNG and Ms Loretta HO with
Mr TANG Kwai Chang takes a lead role as the chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the audit committee is to
assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an
effective system of internal controls and compliance, and in
meeting its external financial reporting objectives. The audit
committee is entitled to seek independent professional advice,
at the Company’s expenses, if it considers necessary in order to
perform its duties.

During the year, two audit committee meetings were held
together with the senior management and the independent
auditor and has (a) considered the independent auditor’s
projected audit and non-audit services fees, (b) reviewed the
independence of the independent auditor, the nature and
scope of the audit and recommended to the Board, which has
endorsed, to re-appoint Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”) as the independent auditor of the Company subject
to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to be held in August 2015, and (c) reviewed and
discussed the continuing connected transactions and internal
controls, the interim and final financial statements together with
the management’s findings and responses and the independent
auditor’s reviews and reports before submission to the Board
for approval. The attendance records of the audit committee
meetings held during the year are set out in the below
paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board
and Board Committee Meetings”.
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ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS,
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the
meetings of the Board, audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee held during the year
are set out below:

Board

meeting

Ezg

Name of director EEE g8
Payson CHA® EEe 5/5
Victor CHA? B 5/5
Abraham CHUNG E0H 5/5
TANG Moon Wah HnE 5/5
Ronald ARCULLI EEE 4/5
Johnson CHA EiE 5/5
Madeline WONG TEXE 35
Henry CHENG* X 4/5
Linus CHEUNG** R 5/5
Marvin CHEUNG™®* RER 12
Loretta HO*® g 5/5
QIN Xiao*® REgre 12
TANG Kwai Chang"®~ HE o 33

Notes:

* members of audit committee

*  members of remuneration committee

@ members of nomination committee

*  resigned as Director with effect from 1 July 2014

" resigned as Director with effect from 19 August 2014

A appointed as Director with effect from 24 September 2014
- not applicable

Due to the other business engagements, Mr Payson CHA,
the chairman of the Board and chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company and all NEDs (including INEDs)
could not attend the AGM of the Company held on 27
August 2014. However, Mr Victor CHA, the deputy chairman
of the Board and managing director of the Company, who
is also a member of the remuneration committee took the
chair of that meeting and all other EDs of the Company and
the representative of the Company’s independent auditor,
Deloitte were present thereat to answer any question of the
shareholders.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts for financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and

of the results and cash flows of the Group for the year then
ended. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2015, the Directors have selected
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimations that are prudent and
reasonable, and prepared accounts on a going concern basis.
The statement of the Company’s independent auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2015
is contained in the independent auditor’s report of 2014/2015
annual report.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal controls, which include financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. The
Company has an internal audit department which is responsible
for performing independent reviews on the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and reports audit findings to
the audit committee and the Board regularly.

During the year, the internal audit department carried out
reviews on the (a) operation of Discovery Bay Recreation

Club, (b) operation of Club Siena, (c) operation of corporation
communications department, (d) operation of Discovery

Bay Marina Club, (e) medical operation in the Philippines, (f)
operation of Discovery Bay destination marketing department,
(g) continuing connected transactions of the Company,

and (h) other business units with audit follow-up. With the
implementation of follow-up measures after the reviews, the
effectiveness in areas with irregularities gradually improves.
Findings on the reviews and the relevant recommendations
had been presented to and accepted by the audit committee
in November 2014 and June 2015. The Company has adopted
an internal audit charter in 2008 to formulate the processes and
procedures of internal audit function for strengthening of the
control framework.

The audit committee, with delegation by the Board, discusses
the internal control system with management to ensure that

the management has performed its duty to have an effective
internal control system. Discussion covers areas, inter alia, the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.
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The Board, through the work of the audit committee and the
internal audit department, has conducted an annual review on
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company
and its subsidiaries and considers that the Group’s internal
control system for the year ended 31 March 2015 was effective
and adequate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are
subject to shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is
determined with reference to prevailing market situation, their
respective duties and responsibilities in the Group and the
Group’s remuneration policy. Under the terms of reference

of the remuneration committee, the remuneration committee
should make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and it has the delegated responsibilities to determine

the specific remuneration packages of the EDs and the senior
management. The EDs are entitled to salary and discretionary
bonus which are subject to individual and the Company’s
performance and contribution to retirement scheme under each
of their respective employment contracts as an executive of the
Company.

In general, the managing director, who is a member of the
remuneration committee, is involved in recommending proposals
on the remuneration of other EDs for due consideration and
approval by the remuneration committee. However, he abstains
from voting when his remuneration is considered by the
remuneration committee. His remuneration is recommended by
the chairman and reviewed and determined by the remuneration
committee. No Director will participate in the discussion and
review of his own remuneration.

The NEDs are entitled to a director’s fee for their service
which was determined by the Board, pursuant to the authority
given by the shareholders at general meeting from time to
time, with reference to their duties and responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market situation. Currently, a sum
of HK$100,000 per annum being the basic fee for acting as a
NED and additional fee of HK$100,000 per annum will be paid
to each member, who is NED, of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. An additional fee of HK$50,000 will also be paid to
each INED having a seat in any independent board committee
which is required to be set up from time to time under the
Listing Rules.

Remuneration details of the Directors (on individual name basis)
for the year ended 31 March 2015 are disclosed in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 139 and 140 of
2014/2015 annual report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (including amendments as effected from
time to time) as its own code of conduct to regulate securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”). All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 (both
days inclusive). The Model Code has been extended to and
has become equally applicable to dealings in the securities of
the Company by members of senior management and relevant
employees who are likely in possession of unpublished inside
information in relation to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms MAK Sau Ching,
who is an employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the year ended 31
March 2015, she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules and will continue to comply with such requirement for the
year ending 31 March 2016 and report regularly.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte is the independent auditor of the Company. The
remuneration for audit services provided by Deloitte to the
Group for the year under review amounted to approximately
HK$10.8 million. In addition to the audit fee, the Company had
appointed Deloitte for the interim results review and the other
non-audit services particularly for tax compliance and special
services rendered in relation to major transaction, which in
aggregate amounted to approximately HK$4.6 million for the
year under review.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles, apart from being
convened by the Directors, EGMs shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any two shareholders of the Company
representing not less than 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the time of requisition. Shareholders wishing
to do so must serve a duly executed written requisition to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 23/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Principal Place of Business”)
specifying the object(s) of the meeting. If the Directors do

not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene the meeting, those shareholders
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meeting(s) may
be convened by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by those shareholders as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

In addition, any shareholder acting on his own or together with
other persons whose shareholding interests in the Company in
aggregate representing not less than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company (other than the person to be proposed)
may nominate a person to stand for election as Director at
general meeting in accordance with article 120 of the Articles.
Any shareholder wishing to do so must serve (a) a written notice
of intention to propose such person for election as Director,

(b) a notice executed by that person of his willingness to be
elected, and (c) the information of that person as required to be
disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules to the Principal
Place of Business between the period commencing from the
date after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end on (and exclude) the date
that is 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. The
Company shall issue an announcement and/or a supplementary
circular, if applicable, to inform the shareholders the biographical
details of the candidate proposed if a valid notice to propose a
person to stand for election as Director is received.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promote and maintain effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders.

A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the
Board which set out the Company’s policy for maintaining an
on-going dialogue with shareholders and investment community.
The policy is subject to regular review by the Board to ensure

its effectiveness. The Company’s AGM, for which at least 20
clear business days’ prior notice is given, is one of the principal
channels of communication with its shareholders. It provides

an opportunity for shareholders to communicate face to face
with the Directors about the Company’s performance and
operations. In addition to the AGM, extensive information on

the Company’s activities in respect of its financial, business and
operations is provided by way of announcements, annual and
interim reports and circulars which are sent to shareholders and/
or are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to

the Board by address them to the company secretary of the
Company whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website at www.hkri.com. The company secretary is responsible
for forwarding communications relating to matters within the
Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions,
inquiries and customers complaints, to the relevant executive
officers of the Company under the direction of the chairman of
the Board and/or managing director.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A printed copy of the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company has been published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. No change was made to
the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended
31 March 2015.
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NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 3.10A AND
3.21 OF THE LISTING RULES AND REMEDY

Resulted from the resignation of the late Dr Marvin CHEUNG as
an INED and member of certain committees of the Company in
August 2014 subsequent to Dr QIN Xiao’s cessation as an INED
and committee member earlier in July 2014, the Company was
unable to comply with the requirement of the number of INEDs
and the minimum number of members of audit committee under
rules 3.10A and 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the code provision
A.5.1 of the CG Code and provisions set out in the respective
terms of references of certain committees in relation to the
composition of the committees. The situation was remedied
upon the appointment of Mr TANG Kwai Chang as an INED and
chairman of the audit committee and member of the nomination
committee of the Company in late September 2014.

DEVIATIONS FROM CG CODE AND CONSIDERED
REASONS

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended

31 March 2015, except for certain deviations from the code
provisions A.4.1 (NED should be appointed for a specific term),
A.6.7 (NEDs including INEDs should regularly attend and actively
participate in board meetings (including committee meetings)
and attend general meetings), C.1.2 (management should
provide all members of the board with monthly updates giving
a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail) and
E.1.2 (chairman of the board should attend annual general
meeting).

Details of deviations relating to the code provisions A.4.1, A.6.7
and E.1.2 have been duly set out in the above paragraphs
headed “Non-executive Directors” and “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Mestings”.

For the code provision C.1.2, given that all EDs are participating
in daily operation of the Group and the management has
provided and will provide to all NEDs (including INEDs), in timely
manner, updates on any material changes to the position and
prospects of the Company with sufficient background and
explanatory information for matters to be laid before the Board,
Directors are provided with bi-monthly, instead of monthly,
management update report which is considered to be sufficient
to provide general updates of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to NEDs (including INEDs) and allow
them to give a balanced and understandable assessment of the
same to serve the purpose required by this code provision.
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Financial Highlights
HA 5 R 2

2015 2014
For the year ended 31 March HZE3AMBLEE HK$'M HK$'M
Results E BEBT BEBT
Turnover of continuing operations SEICE R EHE 5,421.9 4,125
Profit attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZANA &l#EA A FE15 % Fl 910.0 834.6
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) GRRERREF (BW) 67.4 61.8
At 31 March MA3H31H HK$’'M HK$'M
Financial Position B 5 AR SR BERAT AEBT
Total assets BERE 29,243.7 28,415.1
Total liabilities BEER 9,461.1 9,828.1
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA RI#E A A JE(GFER 16,727.7 16,195.9
Net asset value per share (HK$) FREEFE (BT 12.4 12.0
NET ASSET VALUE PEESHARE (HK$)
BREEFE (Bx)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

As at 31 March 2015, the shareholders’ funds of the Group
increased by HK$531.8 million to HK$16,727.7 million (2014:
HK$16,195.9 million). The increase was mainly due to an
upward fair value revaluation of investment properties, gain
from the disposal of certain investment properties and profit
contribution from operating activities. The gross profit margin of
continuing operations for the Group was 29.0% (2014: 22.3%).

MAJOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Up to March 2015, the Group received proceeds of HK$514.1
million from the disposal of certain industrial investment
properties in Hong Kong.

In January 2015, the Group acquired the public carpark
consisting of 325 parking spaces at Tuen Mun Central Square,
Tuen Mun for HK$128.0 million.

MAJOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

During the year, sale proceeds from disposal of certain
development properties in Hong Kong, Thailand and the
PRC amounted to HK$2,022.7 million, HK$243.9 million and
HK$84.8 million respectively.

In April 2014, the Group acquired a 30-floor en-bloc residential
building in Changning District, Shanghai at a consideration of
HK$729.7 million. In the same month, the Group disposed of
49% interests in a residential project in Japan for HK$163.9
million and also completed the disposal of 25% interests in the
development site at Tuen Mun for HK$137.8 million.

FINANCIAL LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had total cash and securities
investment of HK$5,931.8 million (2014: HK$5,708.9 million)
whilst total bank borrowings, bonds and other loans were
HK$5,830.0 million (2014: HK$6,028.7 million).

GEARING

The Group’s gearing ratio maintained at a low level of 1.4%
(2014: 4.1%) as calculated by the Group’s consolidated net
borrowings to the shareholders’ funds as at 31 March 2015.

BANKING FACILITIES AND OTHER LOANS

The Group closely monitors its liquidity requirements and
arranges financing for its development projects and operations
as and when appropriate. As at 31 March 2015, the unutilised
credit facilities were approximately HK$5,043.7 million (2014:
HK$4,697.9 million) which increased by HK$345.8 million.

Financial Review
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The maturity profile of bank borrowings, bonds and other loans
were 41.7% (2014: 38.5%) falling within one year, 2.6% (2014:
43.3%) falling between one and two years, 42.1% (2014: 5.0%)
falling between two and five years and 13.6% (2014: 13.2%)
falling more than five years as at 31 March 2015.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted
a conservative approach for its treasury management. With
majority of assets and liabilities denominated in HK dollars and

US dollars, the Group has limited exposure to foreign currencies.

To manage foreign currency exposure in certain overseas
investments, the Group maintains naturally hedged positions
and shall make any swap/future arrangements as appropriate.
The Group’s banking facilities are principally on floating rate
basis and interest rate swaps will be employed to manage
interest rate risk for its short to medium-term borrowings when
appropriate and necessary.

It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial
derivatives for speculative purpose.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2015, certain subsidiaries of the Company had
pledged bank deposits of HK$83.7 million (2014: HK$51.8
million) to secure banking facilities being granted.

In addition, as at 31 March 2015, certain bank loans of the
Group were secured by certain investment properties, leasehold
land and building and properties held for sale, at the carrying
value of HK$2,007.7 million (2014: HK$1,153.6 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities relating to a corporate
guarantee on the Group’s proportionate share to the extent of
HK$164.9 million (2014: HK$158.2 million) as at 31 March 2015
given to banks in respect of the banking facilities granted to an
investee company and a joint venture. The Group’s interest in
such investee company is classified under other non-current
assets.

In addition, a subsidiary of the Company provided guarantees
amounting to HK$19.6 million (2014: nil) as at 31 March 2015
in respect of mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2015.
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Deloitte.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
ERAXEBREEFRAA
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to
201, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a

true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2015 and of the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
EE-BAERAS ST
Certified Public Accountants

HEETED

Hong Kong, 24 June 2015
20156 A24A N EH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
iR R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=201543 31 H It F &

2014
NOTES HK$'M
B 5 BEBT
Continuing operations HEREER
Turnover = 5 5,421.9 4,125.1
Cost of sales $HE A AR (3,847.7) (3,205.0)
Gross profit EH 1,574.2 920.1
Other income EAbug A 6 161.5 171.2
Administrative expenses TERA X (581.7) (543.0)
Other gains and losses E e & EE 7 19.9 596.2
Change in fair value of REYWENTFEES
investment properties
Realised gains on disposals HER B 2R KE 11,16 55.0 4.0
Unrealised gains REIF W 11,16 730.2 444.0
Finance costs MBER 8 (202.4) (172.6)
Share of results of associates DREEE R A EE 19 9.2 0.3
Share of results of joint ventures DEEERNREE 20 15.9 (103.7)
Profit before taxation B 351 AT Al 9 1,781.8 1,316.5
Taxation TiIg 10 (198.7) (130.9)
Profit for the year from continuing FELEEBARFE R
operations 1,583.1 1,185.6
Discontinued operations BRIEEHK
Loss for the year from discontinued BRI EETE
operations AFEFEEIE 12 - (129.6)
Profit for the year AN 5 A 1,583.1 1,056.0
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to N2 B A JE(G
the owners of the Company REEZRF (FEE)
For continuing operations REFEL S 5 910.0 964.2
For discontinued operations KEBERIEREER - (129.6)
Profit for the year attributable to A FEER AEL
the owners of the Company R S A 11 910.0 834.6
Profit for the year attributable to FEEAR AR B AL
non-controlling interests R [E i A 673.1 221.4
For continuing and discontinued BIFELER
operations ERIEKREXKENS
Earnings per share BRRAT 15
Basic (HK cents) R (B 67.4 61.8
Diluted (HK cents) g OB 67.4 N/A 738 A
For continuing operations MIFESEEREMS
Earnings per share BRZRF 15
Basic (HK cents) R (B 67.4 71.4
Diluted (HK cents) g GBI 67.4 N/A 7~ F
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
& S At A gR 3k

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154F3 831 H L F &

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Profit for the year RE JZ 5 1,583.1 1,056.0
Other comprehensive (expense) income: Emazm (FAx) ks
Items that may be subsequently reclassified ~ BN & EH 7B E 877
to profit or loss HH
Exchange differences arising from REBIINEBREEZ
translation of foreign operations E R ZER (146.2) (134.9)
Share of exchange reserve of an associate DAL &N F) 2 P 1.1 0.7
Share of exchange reserve of joint ventures DA E AT ZIE R HE 8.8 111.9
Release of exchange reserve upon eI EMNGIE: E R
deregistration of foreign subsidiaries FRBRIE 5 & 0.5 (40.2)
Available-for-sale financial assets: AHHESREE:
Fair value changes during the year FNRATEED 1.4 0.7
Reclassified to profit or loss TEREFHSERER
upon disposal (1.0) (1.9)
Deferred tax arising from ARFEEHEEZ
fair value changes IEERIR (0.3) 0.4
Other comprehensive expense for the year REFZHAEMEERZ
(net of tax) (FBRFRIEE) (135.7) (63.3)
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEEzEK BT 1,447.4 992.7
Total comprehensive income attributable to: NI FE(E 2 Ui 25 4258
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N 774.8 771.4
Non-controlling interests eI 672.6 221.3
1,447.4 992.7
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Er A BHIR DL

At 31 March 2015 74201553 431 H

2014
NOTES HK$'M
B 5 BEBT
Non-current assets FEMBEE
Investment properties HEME 16 7,703.5 7,437.8
Property, plant and equipment Y- E M&E 17 2,233.3 2,350.8
Prepaid lease payments TERNEERN R 18 7.0 7.6
Interests in associates iRl sy 19 45.4 35.1
Interests in joint ventures B NE) 2 S 20 7,561.8 7,456.4
Held-to-maturity investments REIHRE 21 196.4 197.7
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESmEE 21 90.8 83.8
Other assets H & 7 22 143.5 140.7
Pledged bank deposits BEFIRITER 29, 40 83.7 49.8
Deferred tax assets EEFIHE EE 31 3.6 41
18,069.0 17,763.8
Current assets mE & E
Inventories FE 23 68.9 69.0
Properties held for sale FHEHE WS 1,930.6 1,762.9
Properties held for/under FEH & 2 R/
development for sale BERPYE 24 2,247.2 2,478.5
Trade receivables FEW B 5 R 25 407.1 211.2
Amounts receivable on W& H T2 FIE
contract work 26 134.8 78.8
Progress payments receivable JE W [ 30 IR 27 96.7 63.2
Retention money receivable FEUURE & 28 187.8 97.5
Deposits, prepayments and other e FBNIRER
financial assets Hih e mEE 29 368.3 315.4
Amounts due from associates JfE Uk Bt 4 X B FR IR 19, 29 40.4 455
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUE &R EIFRIA 29 122.1 140.6
Taxation recoverable AR B4 18 9.9 11.1
Held-to-maturity investments BEIHRE 21 40.9 63.8
Pledged bank deposits BEFIRITER 29, 40 - 2.0
Bank balances and cash SRITHB MRS 29, 39 5,520.0 5,311.8
11,174.7 10,651.3
Current liabilities meEa &
Trade payables, provision and FERE SRR
accrued charges BERETER 30 1,490.6 1,545.1
Amounts payable on contract work JER &4 TI25KIE 26 243.4 208.7
Deposits received and other BUliEe &
financial liabilities HihemAaE 34 325.9 303.0
Taxation payable JE T % 18 221.7 82.1
Bank and other loans —FREHZ
due within one year RITREMERK 32 2,433.6 2,321.0
Other liabilities due within one year —FREEZEMEE 33 76.9 14.0
4,792.1 4,473.9
Net current assets mEEEFE 6,382.6 6,177.4
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABDEE 24,451.6 23,941.2
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %% & M %R %
At31 March 2015 320156E3 A31 B

2014
NOTES HK$'M
M 5 BEBT
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Bank and other loans —FR B ZIRITR
due after one year HAihE 32 3,396.4 3,707.7
Other liabilities due after one year —FEEIE A BE 33 1,031.3 1,406.4
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 31 241.3 240.1
4,669.0 5,354.2
19,782.6 18,587.0
Capital and reserves BEAR R
Share capital A A 35 337.5 337.5
Reserves k] 16,390.2 15,858.4
Equity attributable to owners RAa R ANEHER
of the Company 16,727.7 16,195.9
Non-controlling interests JEIE R M 3,054.9 2,391.1
19,782.6 18,587.0

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 201 were FEOE EF201 BEFEMRA M BRERELESTS

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 72015F6 A24 B #l/f R IR #E T3 - Wil T3IE
24 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: ERREE:
CHA Mou Zing Victor CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director Executive Director
EIREL #.0H
Bl FEFEFLEIE HITEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
o R R E R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=201543 A31H L F &

Non-

controling

Attributable to the owners of the Company interests

LN SPN L FiERiER

Investment Share of

property Asset  Investment Capital net assets

Share  Accumulated revaluation Share revaluation revaluation Exchange  redemption (liabilties) of
capital profits reserve premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Sub-total  subsidiaries Total

A

KRR

RENE BE RE o BE(Rf)
B Ehpatll BB BinaE BifEE S Gt BOEE it A @t

HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKEM HKM HKEM HK$M HK$M HK$M HKSM
BB BERT Lo BERT BEAT BEAT BEAT BB BB BEET BEAT

(note ) (note b)
(GEEY (HizEb)

At 1 April 2013 2013F4A1A 337.5 8,962.3 32427 1,637.9 28 324 1,383.3 3.1 15,492.0 2,1835 17,675.5
Proft for the year RERER - 8346 - - - - - - 8346 2214 1,086.0
Exchange differences arising fom ~ BEENEBEE L

translation of foreign operations EHES - - - - - - (134.8) - (134.8) 0.1) (1349
Share of exchange reserve of PEBERRZER

an assoclate 1) - - - - - - 07 - 07 - 07
Share of exchange reserve of AEAERTZER

joint ventures (note c) EAGED) - - - = = = 119 = 119 = 119
Release of exchange reserve ENHRA AR HER

upon deregistration of foreign HERESFE

subsidaries - - - = = = (402) = (40.2) S (402)
Fair value changes on available-for- A E S BAE 2

sale financial assets ATEED - - - - - 07 - - 07 - 07
Reclassified to profitor lossupon ~~ HEREHESREE

disposal of available-for-sale BENAEZER

financial assets - - - - - 19 - - 19 - 1.9
Deferred tax arising from fair value A & SBAE

changes on available-for-sale ATEESMEEL

financial assets RILHE - - - - - 04 - - 04 - 04
Total comprehensive income FEERENHER

forthe year - 8346 - - - 08 624) - 714 213 9.7
Transfer to investment property FRARERATE

revaluation reserve relating to FREERERED

unrealised net fair value gain $EHEE

during the year (Note 11(a)) (RsE11(a) - (1.9 2119 B - - - - - - -
Transfer from investment property ~ $AEZRAT(E

revaluation reserve relating to AREEEARED

net fair value gain realised $5hEE

during the year (Note 11) (HiE11) - 106.7 (106.7) - - - - - - - -
Dividends paid BIRKS - (67.5) - - = = = = (67.9) = (67.5)
Dividends paid tonon-controling 2 IR E RN

shareholders (1% - - = = - - = - - (137) (137)
At31 March 2014 20144 3A81A W5 9642 3379 15379 28 36 1209 31 1169 23011 188870

EREEEREEGR AT 2014/2015 3R



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity %5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & 2201543 5318 (- F €

Attributable to the owners of the Company

25 58 T 9

Non-controlling interests

EINCE SN 1 FRRER
Share
Investment Share of options
property Asset Investment Capital net assets reserve
Share  Accumulated  revaluation Share  revaluation  revaluation Exchange  redemption (liabilities) of of a listed
capital profits reserve premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Sub-total  subsidiaries subsidiary Sub-total
M L
KEAF it !
REME &% BE(88) 2B
RETER EfifE RHEE L M3 FE HRRRE
HK$M HK$M HK$'M HKS™M M HKSM HK$M
LY LY BERT BEER BT BEET LY
(note a) (note b)
(Kita) (Kib)
At 1 April 2014 201454718 3075 9,614.2 33479 1,537.9 28 31.6 1,3209 31 16,195.9 23911 - 23911 18,587.0
Profit for the year REFEF - 9100 - - - - - - 910.0 6734 - 6734 1,583.4
Exchange differences arising BERNEREL L
from translation of oreign EXZR
operations - - - - - - (145.7) - (145.7) (0.5) - (0.5) (146.2)
Shere of exchange resene of  HEBEREZER
an associate ‘Eﬁ & - - - - - - 11 - 11 - - - 11
Share of exchange reserve of REREZER
joint ventures (note ¢) ﬁ‘m Hzte) - - - - - - 88 - 88 - - - 88
Release of exchange reserve SOHBAR RS
upon deregistration of EMERREY
foreign subsidiaries i - - - - - - 05 - 05 - - - 05
Fair value changes on avalable- ~ FIEHESREEY
for-sale financial assets ATEEY - - - - - 14 - - 14 - - - 14
Reclassifed to profit or loss upon &M it &
disposal of avalable-for-sale SRAER
financial assets EHAEERH - - - - - (10) - - (10 - - - (10)
Deferred tax arising from fairvalue ATt E4RAE
changes on available-for-sale ATEEDH
financial assets EEZEERE - - - - - 03 - - 0.3 - - - 03
Total comprehensive income FERRANEEE
for the year - 910.0 - - - 01 (135.3) - 748 6726 - 6726 14474
Transfer to investment property ~ FAKERATE
revaluation reserve relating to FREEHER
unrealised net fair value gain EnZEfik
during the year (Note 11(a) (1) - (495.9) 4959 - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from investment property  £REZRATHE
revaluation reserve relating FhEERAR
to net fair value gain realised ENEs(tEE
during the year (Note 11) (Bz11) - 1934 (1934) - - - - - - - - - -
Recogniton of eqity-setted ERNEREE IR
share-based payments - - - - - - - - - - 51 57 57
Diidends pad BiEka - (2430) - - - - - - (2430) - - - (2430)
Dividends paid to non-controling & MzEE R
shareholders BRE - - - - - - - - - (145) - (145) (145)
At 31 March 2015 H2015%63A318 3315 9,978.7 3,650.4 1,537.9 28 37 1,185.6 31 16,727.7 3,049.2 57 3,054.9 19,7826
Notes: B 3 -
(a) Investment property revaluation reserve represents the Group’s accumulated (a) BREMESHREREAREBZHBAR /5\ S WNGTDNE
post-tax unrealised net fair value gain on the investment properties of the RRIZREMFENBRER 2 Bt BERER A FEF WS
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates recognised in profit or loss, and then HEBEsMERsin gy Efafgﬁ o NEEBBIREY
transferred from accumulated profits to investment property revaluation reserve. ERATFERSIERE  HERERE A TEFRRGEREEZ
Upon the relevant investment property has been disposed of and the fair value gain R F o

has become realised, the relevant unrealised net fair value gain will be transferred
to accumulated profits.

(b) Capital redemption reserve is the amount equivalent to the nominal value

of the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares which was
transferred from accumulated profits. The reserve may be applied by the Company
in paying up its unissued shares to be allotted to members of the Company as fully
paid bonus shares in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

(c) Share of exchange reserve of joint ventures during the year included an
amount of HK$2.1 million (2014: HK$32.7 million) exchange gain arising from
translation of interests in joint ventures and an amount of HK$6.7 million (2014:
HK$79.2 million) exchange gain arising from loans that form part of net investment
in foreign operations.
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(b) BRI EIEAE AR R R T < R E
B8 AHSEERAREN -ARARAREEAGERE
MANFAESRERAEDAZEHE  ABRERBEITRG
WERBRANBMBLE TARBRR -

© R DhHEERRZELREERRERRESENAZE
mEEZE R W2 1B BT (2014F : 32.7A &E L) KA
BRCOEINER LD IREFE 2 EREE 2 EHIKZ6.7TE BB
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HrOBemER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154-3 31 H It F &

2014
NOTE HKS$'M
B & AEBIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEK
Profit for the year REZ 5 5 1,583.1 1,056.0
Adjusting items, net BB FRE @) (351.4) (541.3)
Operating cash flows before RETAEEESEBA
movements in working capital ZREREESRE 1,231.7 514.7
Decrease in inventories FERD 0.9 55.8
(Increase) decrease in properties held ~ #{EH E 3
for sale (35 h0) 4 (167.7) 654.8
Decrease (increase) in properties held ~— £E{EH & 2 3 E /2R
for/under development for sale YR A (38 0) 103.1 (1,163.6)
(Increase) decrease in trade U E 5 AR
receivables (3 hn) m (189.8) 786.9
(Increase) decrease in amounts B A HTIRFIA
receivable on contract work (3Z0) /> (52.2) 46.7
Increase in progress payments JE WU S FRTE 3E N
receivable (33.5) (0.4)
Increase in retention money receivable & U 4R [E & 1 N (90.3) (11.2)
Increase in deposits, prepayments e FBNREREM
and other financial assets T RE EE (79.0) (82.9)
Increase in mortgage instalment JE W42 48 5 B4R SR AN
receivables (12.0) (14.6)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due B A & R EIFIE
from joint ventures B (4Eh0) 18.5 (44.5)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables, JEE SR BE &
provision and accrued charges JEETE R ()80 (56.5) 34.3
Increase in amounts payable on FET & %) A2 5RIB L 10
contract work 34.7 140.1
Increase (decrease) in deposits BliEe Rk EMEE
received and other financial aELm L)
liabilities 22.9 61.9)
Cash generated from operations LEMFHES 730.8 854.2
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BENEBREH (46.4) (102.6)
Overseas tax paid B8N IE (8.2) (6.5)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM EEEBRMBREEH
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 676.2 7451
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #ZZ AR &M &R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEK
Proceeds from disposal of investment ~ HEREME 2
properties FT1S ZE 646.0 11.2
Proceeds from disposal of HEYE R 2
property interest F1S ZUE 163.9 =
Interest received =S 79.6 75.3
Redemption of held-to-maturity EBEREE E'J &
investments 76.5 80.0
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  RER&E
plant and equipment and prepaid MEMBEENRZ
lease payments P18 ZE 32.6 1,287.4
Proceeds from disposal of available- HERHEESMEE
for-sale financial assets Z P18 5A 7.2 16.0
Repayment of loans by associates BrE N AEEER 5.1 229.9
Dividends received from joint ventures B U8E &R A% B 2.6 5.8
Decrease in other assets H&EERD 0.8 =
Repayment of loans by joint ventures BENAEEER - 582.4
Capital contributions to an associate uuj & T Hi &N A - 0.3)
Additions of available-for-sale REAHHESREE
financial assets (12.8) 9.4)
Capital injection to joint ventures mMEagEANaEE (27.6) =
Increase in pledged bank deposits B R ER1T17 FIG N (31.9) (24.6)
Loans to joint ventures EXRTEEATA (55.7) (648.8)
Additions of held-to-maturity REFRZINHKE
investments (63.0) (124.9)
Additions of property, NEWMZE  BE M
plant and equipment (136.9) (126.4)
Additions of investment properties RNEREYE (179.6) (312.4)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REXBFBREFH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 506.8 1,041.2
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZZ S W SR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &

2014
NOTE HK$'M
B 5 BEBT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXK
New bank and other loans raised %ﬁ i“ SRITREMER 2,963.3 1,957.9
Advance from a non-controlling B FEE R AR R
shareholder 162.1 -
Proceeds from issue of BIIEMES 2
club debentures Fr1S 38 1.4 2.7
Repayment of obligations under EEMEHEAE
finance leases - (0.8
Club debentures redeemed B = FES (8.4) 4.3
Dividends paid to non-controlling E F"J FEfZE IR AR R
shareholders AT AR B (14.5) (13.7)
Interest paid EENEESS (170.1) (145.1)
Dividends paid 2R E (243.0) 67.5)
Repayment to non-controlling BT IR R
shareholders (472.6) (82.4)
Repayment of bank and other loans EERITREMER (3,033.0) (1,107.4)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED @& %% (FiA) s
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFE (814.8) 539.4
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRASZEEEAZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥ hF R 368.2 2,325.7
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHIZRERREEE
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR HH 5,311.8 3,081.6
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EZX#8 %
RATE CHANGES (160.0) (95.5)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZASRALEE
AT END OF THE YEAR IHH 39 5,520.0 5,311.8
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #ZZ R SR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154F3 431 H L F &

2014
NOTES HK$'M
Bt 3 BEAT
Note: B 2 -
(a) Analysis of adjusting items, net (a) BEEEFHEZOMN
Taxation 18 10 198.7 130.9
Finance costs B 752 A 8,12 202.4 173.0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREEZITE 9,12 167.0 176.5
Impairment loss recognised BHERRIERSE 7,12 20.4 24.2
Share of results of associates DI E R R EE 9.2) 0.3)
Expenses recognised in respect of equity-settled A=A E RGN BERE 2
share-based payments 15 SR B R 2 5.7 =
Release of prepaid lease payments TEN S FRE 9 0.3 0.6
Net (reversal) allowance REE (B[R BEFHE
for doubtful debts 7 (6.1) 4.9
Net gains from financial assets S REEWEFE 7 (8.9) (12.7)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y% R K& M FE R
and prepaid lease payments MAE Az e 7,12 (9.9) (618.8)
Share of results of joint ventures DIEEERRIEE (15.9) 103.7
Gain on disposal of property interest HEMEEE 2 W= 7 (40.1) -
Realised gains on disposal of HEREYHEZE R e
investment properties 11,16 (55.0) (4.0)
Interest income B A (79.6) (75.3)
Unrealised gains on fair value of KREMELNTFEZRER NS
investment properties 11,16 (730.2) (444.0)
(351.4) (541.3)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are

listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development,
management and provision of essential and recreational services
for residential housing and leisure projects in Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island, other property development, property investment,
hotel operations, construction, interior and renovation works,
supply and installation of building materials, provision of
healthcare services and sales of health products. The Group
was also engaged in manufacturing operations which was
discontinued during the year ended 31 March 2014.

The Group’s associates and joint ventures are principally
engaged in property development and property investment.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following amendments to HKFRSs and a new interpretation
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”).
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment entities
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures for
non-financial assets

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and

continuation of hedge accounting

HK(IFRIC*) = INT 21 Levies

*  IFRIC represents the IFRS Interpretations Committee

for o5 A 5 e Pl

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=201543 31 H It F &

1. &N

ARBRPRFAEHSEIMA LI EREERE
EAF ERORBEBBMARXZAERDF] (5
R £ e ARBEMPERE R T ELEME
ZHHAREHR 2 AR ERABE -

REMBRRARRR ZNEEEETZT-

RARBIEER AR HNB AR EBENEH
EREEMPBAE L WSS FEEFRIKEE
B AERENTE RFELERKG HtbyEERE-
MERE OGRS BE KMHREBTIR.

HERTREEMA  IREBEERERSLEE
REEM ASBENBRELEXEL (EREE
2014F3A31H L FERIELE) -

AEEBENRIRAERRZEEXRBRYE
BREMENRE -

2. BRI REETEEBYE

ST ]

WAERE AEED B REM T5 BB SR
NEBIG2 BB BREER (E54) RFTR
-

ERPGEREEAFEI05 . ¢
BERMBREERE125
REB G EAF27H

XA
&Y
it
file

(BRI )

BB QT ERE323% RHETHEERTR
(BRI ) Al

BB QT EAE365 FeBEENREDESHE
(BRI A) B

BB QAT EAFE395% ITETAZEH R
(BRI ) SINEZIEE

B (ERUBRERE HE

ZE®)-R2EF21FR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % & B4 %5 it % B} 5%

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs and the
new interpretation in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and financial positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new and
revised HKFRSs, which are not yet mandatorily effective for the
current accounting period.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” issued in 2009 introduced
new requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial assets. HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010
to include requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further amended
in 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in
2014 mainly to include (a) impairment requirements for financial
assets and (b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a “fair value through
other comprehensive income’ measurement category for certain
simple debt instruments.

In addition, in relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: recognition and measurement”. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.
The directors of the Company are currently assessing whether
the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future will or will not have a
significant impact on the amounts reported in respect of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Group’s held-to-maturity investments and
available-for-sale financial assets, the application of HKFRS

9 may affect the Group’s classification and measurement,
however, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
that effect until a detailed review has been completed.
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RAFERRA LA BABIBHHREE] (EFTA)
FHaBUARENAFREBEFRE 2B
KRR BN R/ RRZFRERERRAE L
BELEENZE-

ZEFEVMBHRRELEE R FESHAD
2O EME TRAGE B M RSB A%z
RAEIERT BB S 2R -

20095 M1 2 B S B 5 3R 5 2E R 28955 [ & Bt
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B %5 #it 7% Bt &%

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction contracts”

and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.
Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’” of

the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15. The directors of the Company are in the process
of assessing the impact of the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

The ‘Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 cycle’
includes the amendments to HKAS 40 “Investment property”
which clarifies that HKAS 40 and HKFRS 3 “Business
combinations” are not mutually exclusive and application of both
standards may be required. Consequently, an entity acquiring
investment property must determine whether: the property
meets the definition of investment property in terms of HKAS 40;
and whether the transaction meets the definition of a business
combination under HKFRS 3. The directors of the Company

do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will
have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have
a material impact on the results and financial position of the
Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value

of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing

the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct

the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All'intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (a) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (b) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 #it 7% Bt &%

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or

a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate

or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,

in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use

and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets),
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATION

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint
operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in relation
to its interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

o its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising

from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in

accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,

liabilities, revenues and expenses.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amount receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and the sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties.

When a development property is sold in advance of completion,
profit is only recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the properties have been transferred to the buyer.
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to this
stage are included in current liabilities.
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Revenue from construction contracts, interior and renovation
contracts and building materials installation contracts is
recognised using the percentage of completion method by
reference to the value of work carried out during the year as
determined by quantitative surveyors’ reports.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised as services are rendered.

Hotel operation income is recognised upon the provision of
services and the utilisation of the hotel facilities by guests.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group’s right to receive payment has been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the amount of dividend can be measured
reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it

is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of interest can be measured reliably. Interest
income from a financial asset excluding financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
(classified as finance leases) and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described
below), are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Properties in the course of construction for production,

supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less

any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional

fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of
transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation will be
transferred directly to retained profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected

to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production
or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of prepaid lease
payments provided during the construction period is included
as part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).
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IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When

it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs

of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to

its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased

to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined as if no
impairment loss had been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value
to owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting shall be its fair value at the date of
change in use.

The Group transfers a property from investment property to
property held for/under development for sale when there is a
change of intention to hold the property for sale in the ordinary
course of business rather than to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation, which is evidenced by the commencement

of development with a view to sale. For a transfer from
investment property carried at fair value to property held for/
under development for sale, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting in accordance with HKAS 2 shall be its
fair value at the date of change in use.

INVENTORIES

Properties held for/under development for sale

Properties held for/under development for sale are classified
under current assets and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs relating to the development of the
properties include land cost, construction cost, borrowing
costs and other direct development expenditure. The properties
are transferred to properties held for sale upon completion of
construction.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are
classified under current assets. They are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost relating to the development
of properties, comprising prepaid lease payments for lands and
development costs, are included in properties held for/under
development for sale until such time when they are completed.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all
anticipated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 #it 7% Bt &%

Others

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

CONSTRUCTION, INTERIOR AND RENOVATION AND
INSTALLATION OF BUILDING MATERIALS CONTRACTS

When the outcome of a construction, interior and renovation

or installation of building materials contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, as measured by surveys of work performed.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably
and its receipt is considered probable.

When the outcome of a construction, interior and renovation or
installation of building materials contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract
costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract
costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they
are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
shown as amounts receivable on contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus

is shown as amounts payable on contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the
customer are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under progress payments receivable or trade
receivables.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss because of items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used

in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates and joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not

reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 #it 7% Bt &%

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred taxes for the year

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,

the current and deferred taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting

for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as ‘prepaid lease payments’ in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis, except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment, unless it is
clear that both elements are operating leases, in which case the
entire lease is classified as an operating lease.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of
the net investment in a foreign operation) which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation or
repayment of the monetary items. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For
all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates

or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and

of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including
all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments and interest expense
are recognised on an effective interest basis, other than those
financial assets classified as at FVTPL, of which interest income
is included in net gains or losses.
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Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets include financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprises financial assets held for
trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near future; or.

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade receivables, progress payments
receivable, retention money receivable, other assets, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts due from
associates and amounts due from joint ventures) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates
that the Group’s management has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-
to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are
recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying
amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve. When the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or

prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
trade receivables and other financial assets are considered

uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance account.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period in which the impairment takes place.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses were recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in investment
revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into

and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including bank and other loans, trade
payables, deposits received and other liabilities) are
subsequently measured at amortised costs, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative

gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/
state-managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense

when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of

the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in Note 36.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profits.

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

AERBHER Z B TR - BUHSE W& 5B iR
HMABE- HIGRERZERAERAEEEH
KRENRERZ ZRNBEHER -

B

AEBEERBEEMHMEERBEE ORERHE
) RAKBEFERARITZEERME  BISHR
B WL ATFE AR 2 SRIEH AT S (AT - B
TEZBEEMM 2 ER R T EEERRR  HR
BEMRBTREEEMAZREZREME
EMET  HEBRAEFZRERERTREG
B AHEREEAZEREREZRE (HE
SENEREEEAXN) -

BRI FBCA
R AERIE 8K RIR AR5 81/ 41
1 AT B2 B B AR G2 RIS IR
BB R -

PARAD AR EEH 2 1S 2 Bk

1 B 38 1R 8 FURBR B 0 2Lt A+ 1R DA 2
B BN AETE 2 (T ARIRBAR T AN L B
896 A T B E - A B T AR A B AR R
R 2 (3 B0 FAE Y S BB HI 36 -

BREEE A BBA RO B PR B
BAFEIR R EE -

TTER D MR - AT D B R TR e S
HEERERMGE - WHE KD HERFE R
RO MR BB B A ARITEE - RISERIR AR (D A
BEFEEANSREERZRFEM -

HFREXEBREEERAT 2014/2015 F 7R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % & B4 %5 it % B} 5%
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimation, that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed

the investment property portfolio of the Group’s subsidiaries
and associates and concluded that none of the investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, the directors of the Company have determined that
the “sale” presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS

12 “Income taxes” is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties to the extent in which the disposal of
those investment properties are not subject to income taxes.
The directors of the Company also determined the investment
properties held by a joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through sale.

Control over Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
(“Hanison”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“Hanison Group”)

As set out in Note 45, Hanison is a subsidiary of the Company
although the Company has only 49% ownership interest

and voting rights in Hanison. Hanison is listed on the Stock
Exchange and the remaining 51% of shareholdings are owned
by numerous shareholders. Details of the Hanison are set out in
Note 45.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Company has control over Hanison based on whether the
Company has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of Hanison Group unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors of the Company considered the Group'’s absolute
size of shareholding in Hanison and the relative size of

and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by the other
shareholders. After assessment, the directors of the Company
concluded that the Company has sufficiently dominant voting
interests to direct the relevant activities of Hanison Group and
therefore the Company has control over Hanison.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2015 at their fair value of
HK$7,703.5 million (2014: HK$7,437.8 million) (Note 16). The
fair value was based on valuation of these properties conducted
by independent firms of professional valuers using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The board of directors of the Company has set up a valuation
committee, which is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, to determine the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for fair value measurements.

As at 31 March 2015, the fair value of the investment properties
under construction held by a joint venture amounted to
HK$16,519.2 million (2014: HK$15,072.8 million) (Note 20)

and the Group’s share of the value of the investment properties
under construction amounted to HK$8,259.6 million (2014:
HK$7,536.4 million). The valuation of such investment properties
under construction was conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers which was derived from residual method
based on capitalising the net earnings that would be generated
from the investment properties in their completed form, and has
also taken into account the developer’s profit and construction
costs already incurred as well as the estimated costs to be
incurred to complete the projects, which are deducted in

order to arrive at the value of the partially completed project.
The valuation involves certain assumptions and estimation of
developer’s profit and future cost to be incurred. The changes
of these assumptions and estimation would result in changes

in the fair value of the investment properties under construction
held by the joint venture.
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Properties held for/under development for sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s properties
held for/under development for sale amounting to HK$2,247.2
million (2014: HK$2,478.5 million) (Note 24) with reference to
current market environment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may exceed its net realisable value. Appropriate write-down for
estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in profit or loss
when the net realisable value is below cost. The estimates of
net realisable value are based on the evidence available at the
time the estimates are made of the amount the properties held
for/under development for sale that are expected to realise.
Actual realised amount may differ from estimates, resulting in a
decrease in the net realisable value of these properties held for/
under development for sale and additional write-down may be
required.

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contract is recognised under the
percentage of completion method which requires estimation
made by the management. Anticipated losses are fully provided
on contracts when identified. The management estimates the
contract costs and foreseeable losses of construction based
on the budgets prepared for the contracts. Because of the
nature of the activities undertaken in construction businesses,
the management reviews and revises the estimates of contract
costs in the budget prepared for each contract as the contract
progresses. Where the contract revenue is less than expected or
actual contract costs are more than expected, additional losses
may need to be recognised. As at 31 March 2015, the carrying
amounts of amounts receivable on contract work and amounts
payable on contract work are HK$134.8 million and HK$243.4
million (2014: HK$78.8 million and HK$208.7 million) (Note 26)
respectively.
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Project investment undertaken by a joint venture

The Group has a 50% equity interest in a joint venture,
Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”), whose wholly
owned subsidiaries are engaged in the development of certain
properties in Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”),
for investment purpose. In considering the recoverability of the
Group’s loans to Dazhongli amounted to HK$4,491.7 million
(2014: HK$4,483.3 million) (Note 20), the management takes
into consideration the recoverable amount of the underlying
assets of Dazhongli which is determined by reference to

the costs to be incurred to complete the development of

the properties and the future rental income to be generated
therefrom. In this regard, the management considered that no
impairment is necessary in respect of the loans to Dazhongli.

Impairment of amount due from an associate

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position

at 31 March 2015 is an amount of HK$605.8 million (2014:
HK$613.2 million) due from an associate, Tung Chung Station
Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”), which is engaged
principally in property investment activities. In determining
whether an allowance for the amount due from the associate

is required, the management takes into consideration the
recoverable amount of the underlying assets regarding the
amount due from the associate and the likelihood of collection.
Specific allowance is only made for the amount that is unlikely
to be collected from the associate. The management is satisfied
that no further impairment is considered necessary in respect of
the amount due from the associate.

Deferred taxation

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has recognised deferred tax
assets of HK$5.5 million (2014: HK$9.4 million) (Note 31) in
relation to unused tax losses in the consolidated statement

of financial position. No deferred tax asset was recognised

in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position in
relation to the remaining unused tax losses, estimated to be
HK$1,161.8 million (2014: HK$1,029.1 million), due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated differs significantly from the expected, a material

recognition or reversal may arise, which would be included in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period in which
such recognition or reversal takes place.
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Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

When there is indication that property, plant and equipment may
be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset. The amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount of the relevant
asset and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use is the estimated future cash flows discounted to their
present value using an appropriate discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the relevant asset. Where the actual future cash
flows or fair value less costs of disposal are less or more than
expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which result
in revisions of the estimated future cash flows for the purpose of
determining the value in use, further impairment loss or reversal
of impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2015, the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment is HK$2,233.3 million
(2014: HK$2,350.8 million). Details about impairment losses
provided on property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in Note 17.

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into six operating divisions: property
development, property investment, services provided

(clubs operation, transportation and professional property
management services), hotel operations, healthcare (provision
of medical and dental care services, comprising diabetic and
cardiovascular centres, cancer centre, imaging centre, dental
clinics, Chinese medicine centres and multi-specialty outpatient
centres) and Hanison Group (construction, interior and
renovation works, supply and installation of building materials,
property investment and development, provision of property
agency and management services and sales of health products).
Each of the operating divisions represents an operating and
reportable segment.

The operating segment specialising in the manufacturing and
sale of sanitary products was ceased during the year ended

31 March 2014. The segment information reported as follows
does not include any amounts for those discontinued operations
which are described in more details in Note 12.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B %5 #t 25 Bt 5k

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

from continuing operations by operating and reportable

segments for the year:

Continuing operations

Property
investment

NERE

HK$'M

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154-3 A31H L F &

AT BRIBELERAZERDBOMAFEARE
BREFELEEB WA REE

Services Hotel Hanison
provided operations
RER® BIEEK

HK$'M HK$'M

Healthcare
BRRE
HK$'M

Property
development
MEBR
HK$'M
BEETL

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BZ2015%3A31H

fl:3:4
TURNOVER EE L

Segment revenue - sales to external
customers derived by the Group

DERA - REBT
BEARHINEER

BERT

BEETR BBET BEET

and associates ZHER 1,980.4 3439 4783 327.3 281.0 2,013.7 5,424.6
Excluding turnover of associates BRBANREEE (0.2) (2.5) - - - - 2.7
Consolidated turnover, as reported REEER WER 1,980.2 341.4 478.3 321.3 281.0 2,013.7 5,421.9
RESULTS £
Segment results - total realised results D EPEE - AEE

of the Group, associates and BERNAIRAEEDR

joint ventures (note ) JEEREELE

(KizEa) 615.5 147.6 55.2 25.0 (18.0) 178.1 1,003.4
Excluding realised resuits of BRIFAKEDHGHE

associates and joint ventures not NG SN

shared by the Group BEREE 0.4 16.1 - - - - 165
Results attributable to the Group AEEEGER 615.9 163.7 55.2 25.0 (18.0) 178.1 1,019.9
Other income HilA 134
Unallocated corporate expenses APEAAER (107.2)
Finance costs and corporate level UBERRARERLZ

exchange difference ERZES (111.5)
Net unrealised gains on fair value RENEATEZS Y

change of investment properties RERKEFE

(note b) (BtzEb) 723.2
Net unrealised gains on fair value AEEEGEEERR

change of investment properties REENEER

attributable to the Group’s interest NFEZE

in a joint venture, net of deferred tax REBWHEFE

MR E 45.3
Profit for the year AR 1,583.1
Non-controlling shareholders’ share of ~ JEIZRE AR 515

profit for the year AEF R (673.1)
Profit for the year attributable to the AAREE ARG

owners of the Company AEERF 910.0

ERREEREEERAT 20142015 F 3
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

iz

A 3 U 5 A M

Property Property Services Hotel Hanison
development investment provided operations Healthcare Group Total
MEER MERE RER® BIEER BERE BBEE @5t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT BEAT BEAT BEBT BEBT BEBT
For the year ended 31 March 2014 HZE2014F3A318
tEE
TURNOVER BXE
Segment revenue - sales to external A HWA - AEE R
customers derived by the Group BENRHINSRS
and associates ZHER 1,093.6 332.0 471.6 455.5 285.8 1,498.3 4,136.8
Excluding turnover of associates ARBENR  EEE 0.4) (1.9 - - - - [11.7)
Consolidated turnover, as reported GAEEER WER 1,093.2 320.7 471.6 4555 285.8 1,498.3 4,125.1
RESULTS %&
Segment results - total realised results 7 BF¥ %8 - AEE
of the Group, associates and BEARRAEDT
joint ventures (note a) JEBEREEES
GED) 185.4 149.2 85.1 6155 (343 108.3 1,100.2
Excluding realised results of HRFEAEENAHE
associates and joint ventures not ’& ARAEDNAZ
shared by the Group BREE (28.0) 20.4 - - = - (7.6)
Results attributable to the Group AEERGEE 157.4 169.6 85.1 615.5 (34.9) 108.3 1,101.6
Other income HitgA 23.9
Unallocated corporate expenses AABRAAER (117.9)
Finance costs and corporate level PHRERARARERZ
exchange difference ERER (123.2)
Net unrealised gains on fair value RENMEATEEH
change of investment properties RER e 58
(note b) (FizEb) 4121
Net unrealised losses on fair value AEEEESEAR
change of investment properties BANFRNEE ?‘ﬂ)%
attributable to the Group’s interests BRZ A TEES
in a joint venture and an associate, RERBERFE
net of deferred tax MBRIELERE (110.9)
Profit for the year AEE R 1,185.6
Non-controlling shareholders’ share of ~ JEHEAR A & 5
profit for the year AEER ﬂ (221.4)
Profit for the year attributable to the ARAREE ARG
owners of the Company AEFHF 964.2
Notes: B2 -

(@) The segment results of the Group represent the total results of the Group,
associates and joint ventures, excluding the unrealised gains on fair value change
of investment properties net of deferred tax arising from change in fair value.

(b) The net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment properties for
the year ended 31 March 2015 of HK$723.2 million (2014: HK$412.1 million)
represented the unrealised gains on fair value change of investment properties of
HK$730.2 million (2014: HK$444.0 million) net of deferred tax charge arising from
change in fair value of HK$7.0 million (2014: HK$31.9 million).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B %5 #t 25 Bt 5k

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from)
each segment without allocation of other income, unallocated
corporate expenses, finance costs and corporate level
exchange difference, net unrealised gains on fair value change

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154-3 A31H L F &

LENBZEHBRREARNK BRI FE3MEERZ
SERTBRR %2 8aN (B18) 550 BMELZ
5E%IJ(E$2J§ETE\) Pet R BREMEA R
EAmER MBERARAREEZELZ8 -
BREWMELNFEZS 2 RER WS FHEARAE
BREEEAFIRBERRRRENELTFEE

of investment properties and net unrealised gains (losses) on g REH W (B518) F5E - RIELERIA - Uk
fair value change of investment properties attributable to the T ERDERKBFT R EESERRER
Group’s interests in a joint venture and an associate, net of HEHEHE

deferred tax. This is the measure reported to the chief operating

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

All of the segment revenue from continuing operations reported INE2MFABRHERLEEBD WAL KRS
above is from external customers. SNERE S o

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating REEWEFERIZSERAZSHBOHE D 2 EBE

and reportable segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly
provided to the chief operating decision maker for review.

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

Continuing operations

&iéﬁz T BRBRED *ﬁIﬁEEEEMLJ%
REBIREHRM T IRLERREFRS

HAith D 2R &+t
smEEEE

Property Property Services Hotel Hanison  Unallocated
development investment provided operations Healthcare Group amounts
NERE NERE BERYE BE#R BRRR AREEE  RIEEE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
AEET ABER BEET BEER ABER BEER BEER
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z201553A31A
LLFE

Amounts included in the measure of
segment profit or loss:

Revenue from inter-segment sales*  £-Ebf 2 S Mz - 24) (10.9) (0.6) - (81.5) - (94.3)
Depreciation il 129 138 519 70.6 85 55 38 167.0
Impairment loss recognised on nE BERZELE

property, plant and equipment ®RRESE 26.6 - - - 0.3 - - 269
Impaiment loss recognised onheld-  HZEIHRE 2 BHER

to-maturity investments RS - - - - - - 7.3 73
Reversal of impairment loss BEEMEYRZ

recognised on other receivables BRZRERE - - - - - - (4.0) (4.0)
Net allowance (reversal) for doubtful ~ REREE (BE)FE

debts - - - - 0.9 (7.0) - (6.1)
Net gains from financial assets SREEKRTE - - - - - (0.1) 8.8) 8.9)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HENE BERLHE

plant and equipment B8 (g) 02 - 02 (0.4) - (0.4) (9.8) 9.9)
Galn on disposal of property interest (&M B 2 W (40.9) - - - - - - (40.1)
Realised (gains) losses on disposal of ~ (HERENEZEER

investment properties (fez) %8 8.7 0.2 - - - (46.5) - (55.0)
Interest income Gl ON (136) (9.0) - (13.0) - (1.6) (42.4) (79.6)
Finance costs &R 122 213 - - 0.3 79 154.7 2024
Income tax charge Gt 1324 20.2 76 82 05 240 6.1 198.7
Share of results of associates PMEBRNAEE 0.2 42 - - - (5.2) - ©.2)
Share of results of joint ventures AMERENREE 0.1 317 - - - (24) 45.3) (15.9)
Write back of inventories FRER - - - - (0.8) - - (0.8)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

iz

A 3 U 5 A M

Property Property Services Hotel Hanison Unallocated
development investment provided operations Healthcare Group amounts Total
MEER NERE RERS BEEER BERR BBEEE  ROREE &t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEATL BEAT BEAT BEATL BEAT BEAT BEAT
For the year ended 31 March 2014 EHE2014463A318
flZ:353
Amounts included in the measure of  sFE A EHBHFTAEZ
segment profit or loss: S
Revenue from inter-segment sales * a8 2 & iz - @7 9.4 - - (128.2) = (140.9)
Depreciation nE 125 1.7 495 79.0 12.5 6.5 37 1754
Impairment loss recognised on N BERREZE
property, plant and equipment ERRERE - - - - 112 - - 1.2
Net (reversal) allowance for doubtiul ~ REE (R BB 38
debts - - 03 - 03 49 - 49
Net gains from financial assets CRAENEFE - - - - - (0.1) (12.6) (12.7)
Loss (gain) on dlisposal of property, HENE HERXE
plant and equipment and RERBERHZ
prepaid lease payments fia (Wa) - = 05 (584.4) 08 (29.6) - (612.7)
Realised gains on disposal of HERENEZBER
investment properties e - - - - - (4.0) - (4.0)
Interest income LN (9.6) (19.2) - (4.3 - (1.4) (40.6) (75.1)
Finance costs HBER - 4.8 - - - 7.7 160.1 1726
Income tax charge (credt) FrigBisi (B%) 56.8 287 97 198 16 153 (1.0) 1309
Share of results of associates MEBMEDAER 26) 2.1 = = = 03 0.1) 03
Share of results of joint ventures MEBBDRIEE 212 205 - - - (35) 107.9 108.7
Write down of inventories FERE - - - - 17 - = 17
*  Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the relevant * OMEZHEEDNREBREZSER 2 AMGE (A E

7 RBERDZ2RRTDEXRERELERE (RFERBER
m5E ) EE

agreements, if any, governing those transactions, in which the pricing was
determined with reference to prevailing market price or actual cost incurred, as
appropriate.

TURNOVER FROM MAJOR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover from
continuing operations from its major products and services:

FEEMMRE &%

UTAAEERBELEET T EER LR
ZERBOMN

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Sales of properties SHE M 2,398.0 1,322.2
Revenue from construction contract work BEAHIERZWA 958.8 880.0
Revenue from interior and renovation M REEELH WA
contracts 286.1 50.8
Sales of goods HE & m 69.6 81.0
Rental income He A 346.8 327.7
Hotel revenue B JE A 327.3 455.5
Provision of healthcare services TRt Be f REEPRTS 281.0 285.8
Revenue from contracts for installation of TRBEMBEHZHA
building materials 240.1 213.9
Other services rendered TR E A AR 75 514.2 508.2
5,421.9 41251
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION Hh [ &R

For each of the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, the HE2015F K2014F3A3IH IE & FE  AEH
Group'’s continuing operations are located in Hong Kong, the CHEBEREEBMNRES PRENAEEREENE
PRC and South East Asia and Japan. PiNG

The Group’s revenue from external customers from continuing ZIS’E ERFECEEE 2 REAINBERE (LAE -
operations based on the location of properties and goods RITE MR ERIE 2 ER AE%E U
delivered or services rendered, and location of properties in the AME  AWEMEAEE) 2 Wa Rk EHHE
case of rental income, and information about its non-current REEMBNEE D ZIERDEEZFBRT

assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REMBEF ZWE FRBEE
2014 2014
HK$'M HK$'M
ER-D: BEBT
Hong Kong BE 4,846.0 3,005.4 9,538.2 9,235.3
PRC H 24.4 59.7 6,689.3 6,629.6
South East Asia and Japan RERRAR 551.5 1,060.0 1,323.5 1,399.8
5,421.9 4,125.1 17,551.0 17,264.7
Note: Non-current assets excluded those related to discontinued operations, M ERBEETERHEE R CEEBEEANIERESDE

financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

E eMTARRERBEE-

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS BEHRITERPZER
The revenue from individual customer contributed less than 10% fﬁ’\tﬁﬁﬁflﬁf REEFEERF 2K T EBiEA

of the total turnover of the Group for both years.

6. OTHER INCOME

B L ERR210% o

6. HAWA

2014
HK$'M
AEBT
Continuing operations HERSEER

Other income includes the following: HEWABRIETFIE:
Bank and other interest income #R1T M E A A B WA 79.6 75.1
Other income E YA 81.9 96.1
161.5 171.2

HFREXEBREEERAT 2014/2015 F 7R
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. HiblimREE

2014
HK$'M
AEBT
Continuing operations BEREER
Other (losses) gains include the following: H (8 W= iE
T3 & IE
Net foreign exchange loss SNFERE 5 )F E5 18 (15.8) (51.6)
Gain on deregistration of foreign subsidiaries 3B SN B A B S 2
& 0.1 40.2
Gain on disposal of property interest (note a) HEYE R 2 W
(PfzEa) 40.1 _
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE - BB R& i RIER
plant and equipment and HEMF 2z W= (HaEb)
prepaid lease payments (note b) 9.9 612.7
(Impairment loss) reversal of EMER CREREE) REEIE
impairment loss recognised o
Property, plant and equipment M - WE REE (26.9) (11.2)
Inventories 5E 0.8 (1.7)
Other receivables H A 8 U BR 5K 4.0 =
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 21) BEIHEE (M5E21) (7.3) -
(29.4) (12.9)
Net reversal (allowance) for doubtful debts RERB D (BfE) F58 6.1 4.9
Net gains from financial assets SREEWEFE 8.9 12.7
19.9 596.2
Notes: B o -
() In April 2014, the Group disposed of 49% of its property interest in the @ MR2014F48 AEBMEEHMRBAARNERZ Y Z249%
ownership of a property located in Tokyo, Japan. The Group has retained 51% HEEE R ANEBRBRZMEZS1 %Y R - WEA K
of property interest in that property and formed a joint operation with a Japanese HEBHUBELE RN EEZWEEE -
project partner to develop that property project.
(o) Gain on disposal for the year ended 31 March 2014 mainly arose from (o) #ZE20144F3A31H IEFEHEMEREEZIFEEMN2014
disposal of hotel property and leasehold land of which the hotel property was F1AHEMRFIEREENERBEEMEMEZHE L
situated in Singapore in January 2014. 5z Mzs e
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

8. HMKEH

8. FINANCE COSTS

2014
HK$'M
BEBTT
Continuing operations BEREER
Interest on THE IR FE
Bank and other loans wholly repayable HARAFABBEEZ
within five years RITREAME K 122.4 110.7
Advances from non-controlling HARAFABHERZ
shareholders wholly repayable FE 12 IR AR 3R 2 5K
within five years 17.5 19.1
Other loans not wholly repayable BERAFATBHEEZ
within five years HMER 35.5 34.0
175.4 163.8
Less: Amounts included in the cost W ETARELE 2B R/
of properties held for/under BRPMFERRZ
development for sale k] (11.5) (26.8)
163.9 137.0
Bank and other loans arrangement fees RITREMERLHER 38.5 35.6
202.4 172.6

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

9. BRHE

A

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Continuing operations BEREER
Profit before taxation has been arrived BrE RS A E B (FFA)
at after charging (crediting): & IE
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELRD B & 10.8 10.3
Cost of inventories and developed FEREZERY X ARER
properties recognised as an expense =15 1,239.4 824.0
Contract costs recognised as expense BHRAERABHERAR 2
in cost of sales A 2 1,340.5 1,071.7
Operating lease rentals in respect of THREF I EEHEERS
land and buildings 36.0 42.6
Staff costs incurred (including directors’ EELEEINA(BREES
remuneration) (note) ) (FizE) 895.8 889.1
Release of prepaid lease payments FENEENRE L 0.3 0.6
Depreciation e 167.0 175.4
Net rental income under operating leases on A& E T 2 HE WA FEE
Investment properties "EYE (340.4) (323.5)
Other properties H s 6.7) (4.5)
Less: Outgoings R H 45.1 40.3
(302.0) (287.7)
Expenses included in cost of contract work STAEH IR 2HAZ
Depreciation e 3.5 3.3
Release of prepaid lease payments FENEENRE D 0.2 0.2
Rentals under operating leases in respect of KEHEHE
Plant and machinery R 55 T 1 2% 12.7 7.2
Others EHpth 1.9 1.3

Bz : B 220153 A1 A L FEE IR ABE—RNERQA
2RO AR 5. 7A BT (20145 - ) ©

Note: The staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2015 included the share option
expenses of a subsidiary amounting to HK$5.7 million (2014: nil).

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

10. TAXATION 10. BLIE
2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Continuing operations BEREER
The taxation charge comprises: MIES HB4E
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5% N E b ET FERRBR A
of the estimated assessable profit B E16.5%TE 2 BB
for the year NS 182.6 50.3
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing REWREEREA 2B E
in respective jurisdictions STE 2 BINEIE 14.7 35.4
197.3 85.7
Deferred taxation for current year (note) RNEFEEERE (M) 1.4 45.2
198.7 130.9
Note: An analysis of deferred taxation for the year is as follows: Mgk : REEIELEHIEZ AT
2015 2014
HK$'M HKS$'M
BEBR BEBT
Deferred tax charge arising during the year REEREMEAFEEHEE
in respect of unrealised gain on fair value change of R 2 BRI
investment properties 7.0 31.9
Deferred tax credit on disposal of investment properties HEREYE ZRTEH IR R (27.4) -
Others Hth 21.8 13.3
14 452

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

EBFEH TR M EFE (Gt B R RE AR
R16.5%:1 & ©

RIEPBRCEMSTEREERRG B EHE
RARZMEFE 2 HEH25% °

W R EREE 2 BRI M AR R 2
BATHIEEE -

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before AFEFEHIBL HELEEIBRRARB AN Z
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as HERWMT :
follows:
2014
HK$'M
AEBT
Continuing operations BELSEER
Profit before taxation B 50 BiD& A 1,781.8 1,316.5
Less: Share of results of associates B DG E R R A 9.2) 0.3)
Share of results of joint ventures DMEEERNREE (15.9) 103.7
Profit before taxation attributable to A& B (L BR T A& A
the Group 1,756.7 1,419.9
Tax charge at the domestic income % Zliiﬂz F 15 R B %£16.5%5T
tax rate of 16.5% BZHIAXH 289.9 234.3
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBWAZ BB E
for tax purpose (135.2) (173.8)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AN HRAT 2 HIEHE
for tax purpose 35.2 48.1
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTEEB BB E 37.1 56.3
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRBFRERZHIAESE
recognised (15.2) (29.0)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries i Jﬂ ALERE R & Z N
operating in other jurisdictions NEIRENE 2% (4.6) 5.5
Tax effect of deductible temporary ﬂiﬁE R0 fE Hﬁ_%%ﬁz
differences not recognised MG & 1.4 1.2
Utilisation of deductible temporary B E R FER 2 AT
differences previously not recognised Ty AR (10.4) (4.4
Others HAtb 0.5 (7.3)
Taxation attributable to the Group for the year — ZN£2 B 4F (N E (L 7 7B 198.7 130.9
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO

THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

A

M. XA EEAEBLEREER

2015 2014
HK$’'M HK$'M
BHEBT AEBTT
Profit for the year attributable to the owners RARHAEANEGEEREE
of the Company comprises: i ) B4
(@) Net unrealised gains on change in fair @@ FWE ‘é“%ﬁ N (EEE)
value of investment properties during AR IR W F R
the year
— The Group -R&E 730.2 444.0
Deferred tax charge ERERIA (7.0) (31.9)
Attributable to non-controlling FEIE i 2 B AR
interests (272.6) (89.39)
450.6 322.8
— Joint venture, net of deferred tax -GE QR NRELE
(Note 20(a)(ii)) FeIa (Bt E20( )( ) i) 45.3 (111.0)
— Associate, net of deferred tax -BE QR HIBRE
IR - 0.1
495.9 211.9
(b) Accumulated net realised gains (losses) b) FALEREYE 2
on disposal of investment properties Rt B 25 F =
during the year (E518)
— The Group -REE
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYHE 2 W
properties (Note 16) (MIEE16) 55.0 4.0
Taxation for the year NEERIE (1.4) =
Accumulated gains on change in BEEE EE@
fair value of disposed investment Hj’%?y\ﬁ%% ANSE
properties recognised in prior B R s
years, net of deferred tax IR IE Lﬁ 18 241.1 5.3
Attributable to non-controlling FEVE e e 2 B (S
interests (64.5) 4.7)
— Associate =N
Gain on disposal of investment HERE Y 2 W
properties 9.4 -
Accumulated (losses) gains on BEFEEER
change in fair value of disposed HEREME
investment properties recognised N EEERE
in prior years, net of deferred tax (BE)Ew-
R R AER IR (6.9) 104.1
232.7 108.7
(c) Operating profits from continuing () BB ERC LT
operations 374.8 750.3
(d) Operating losses from discontinued d) BERIEREEBKEEER
operations (Note 12) (MFaE12) - (129.6)
Subtotal NEE 1,103.4 941.3
Less: Accumulated (gains) losses on change & @A FEEHER 2 L E
in fair value of disposed investment WEYZER $TEB%§JJ
properties recognised in prior years, 25 (=) BB
net of deferred tax HBRE LT IE
— The Group - REE (241.1) (5.3)
— Attributable to non-controlling - RS (G
interests 40.8 2.7
— Associate - BE N A] 6.9 (104.1)
Profit for the year attributable to KA EAEANEEARER
the owners of the Company a2 A 910.0 834.6
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 12 ERIEKREER

The Group had operated sanitaryware manufacturing business AEBEFENRMREEANEREEESET -

principally in Australia and the United Kingdom. During the year BHZE2014F3 A3 B ILFE  AEBRRRE &
ended 31 March 2014, the management had decided to cease BEAERIDZAREZEHERIERIEFET

the sanitaryware manufacturing operations due to unfavorable FEBEHINAT -

business performance and loss for the year from discontinued
manufacturing operations was set out below.

2014

HK$'M

BEBIT

Turnover ] 82.4
Cost of sales & K AR (124.6)
Gross loss Ei8 (42.2)
Other income E A A 0.3
Administrative expenses THBRH X (82.7)
Other gains and losses Hih W= & E518 (4.6)
Finance costs BB R (0.4)
Loss for the year FEEE (129.6)

Loss for the year from discontinued operations had been arrived ERIEEEEB 2 FREEEBE MG (5T A) T

at after charging (crediting): I8
2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense GFEXRAER AR 89.0
Operating lease rentals in respect of THREFIEEHEER®
land and buildings 4.3
Staff costs 8 TR 62.9
Depreciation e 1.1
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEREZE B
plant and equipment 6.1)
Impairment loss recognised BRERBEEER
Property, plant and equipment Y- WE k& 1.4
Other receivables A JE W BR R 9.9
11.3
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the sanitaryware B E2014F3H3 A ILFE W REREERFHA
manufacturing operations paid HK$70.2 million in respect of the SERERSMEFEINT702BEEE L
Group’s net operating cash flows, contributed HK$5.4 million WEEKERBSABB BT MR E %75 319.3
to investing activities and paid HK$9.3 million in respect of BEBIT

financing activities.
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(A) DETAILS OF DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION ARE
AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the thirteen (2014:
thirteen) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2015

Cha
Mou Sing
Payson

Cha

Mou Zing
Victor
R
HKS'M
BEET

Ronald
Joseph
Arcull
13
HKSM
BEET

Tang
Moon
Wah
Baz
HKSM
BEET

Cha

Mou Daid

Johnson
=
HKSM

BE#T

For the year ended 31 March 2015 &{Z=2015%3 8318 It F &

13. EEME R ERREEHES
pd ) kS

A Z=H

N

THRIBAT

2 eER134 (20144 138 ) BEE & A 2 M
SR

B ZE2015F3831B L FE

Ho Pak
Ching
Loretta
LD
HKS'M
BEET

Wong Cha
May Lung
Madeline
Is%E
HKS'M
BEET

Cheng
Kar Shun
Henry
LEE
HKSM
BERT

Cheung  Cheung
KinTung ~ Wing Lam
Marvin* Linus
RER®  RAR
HKSM HKSM
BEET  REER

Tang
Kwai
Chang*
BEY
HKSM
BEET

Qin
Xiao**

HKSM

BEET

Fees (note g) 01 - - - 01 02 01 02 01 03 02 03 01 1.7
Other emoluments
Salaries and other benefits 50 1 26 46 - - - - - - - - - 193
Performance related incentive
payment (note b) 30 82 1.0 16 - - - - - - - - - 138
Retirement benefits schemes contribution BINE - 02 - 02 - - - - - - - - - 04
Equity-settled share-based payments DR G EN
:tbANE 14 - - - - 05 - - - - - - - 16
Total emoluments HewE 92 155 36 64 0.4 0.7 01 02 01 03 02 03 01 %68
For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE2014F3H31HIEFE
Cha Cha ChaYuu Chung Tang Ronald Cha  Wong Cha Cheng Cheung Cheung Ho Pak
MouSing  MouZing Chung  SemTin Moon Josgph  MouDad ~ Maylung  KarShwn  KinTung ~ WingLam Ching Qin
Payson Victor ~ Benjamin® ~ Abraham Wah Aculi Johnson  Madeline Henry Manvin Linus Loretta Xao Total
sE &M AT BUR ERE EE Bl I g5 RER ®KR fkA &% &
HKS M HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKS M HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEET ASET BEAT EBEAT  ASET  BERT  BEAT  AERT  AEERn  BEAT  BEAT RSl BEER  BEER
Fees = = = = = 01 01 01 02 03 03 03 03 17
Other emoluments
Salaries and other benefits 50 6.6 09 24 41 = = = = = = = = 190
Performance related incentive
payment (note b) 15 6.3 - 08 16 - - - - - - - - 102
Ex-gratia payment (note c) REMAR (Hitc) - - - - 120 - - - - - - - - 120
Retrement benefts schemes contrbufion - RIREFIEF 8131 - 03 01 - 02 - - - - - - - - 06
Total emoluments Het® 65 182 10 32 179 04 01 01 02 03 03 03 03 85
Notes: B
(@ Mr Cha Mou Sing Payson and Mr Cha Mou Daid Johnson also received (@ B ZE2015F3A31B ILFE ERBEEREMEBEET

director’s fees of Hanison for the year ended 31 March 2015.

(b) The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to
the operating results and comparable market statistics of the Group, and individual
performance of the directors during the year.

(c) The ex-gratia payment for the year ended 31 March 2014 was given to the
executive director to recognise his long service and contribution to the Group upon
reaching the Company’s retirement age.

*

Appointed as director with effect from 24 September 2014.
** Resigned as director with effect from 19 August 2014.
Resigned as director with effect from 1 July 2014.

Resigned as director with effect from 17 July 2013.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors as an inducement to join. No directors waived any
emoluments during both years.

ESEEcEFTHE -

b) ERBDHD2EFARKEZLEEE ALRTSEER
EE{ERRRETE

(© EZE2014F3A31ALLFE 2 HFRNFRIERTESEIA
DEIRRF RS NRBURA RS A E® 2 RRS R
=0

* H2014F9A24HRREZTEE 2B
* H2014%8A19R AT EE 2 Bi5 -
B2014F7 A1 BB EES 2B -

B2013F7A17E BB T E S 2 B -

RAER AEEYEAES I MESRERS
MAREEZE - KRER  HEESHEMD
A< -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

(B) EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION B) EEME
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the five highest paid B ZE2015F3A31B ILFE A EESE RS H M
individuals of the Group included three (2014: three) executive AL HA3E (2014%F :3%) BHITES
directors, whose emoluments are disclosed above. The 2SR EXHE - 82 T 2% (20145 1 2% ) BB
emoluments of the remaining two (2014: two) employees are as ZMenT
follows:
2014
HK$'M
AEBT
Salaries and other benefits e RHEAREF 5.0
Performance related incentive ERE (fisEa)
payment (note a) 8.9 5.6
Ex-gratia payment (note b) FEFK (HI5ED) - 8.0
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RIREFET B K 0.8 0.5
Equity-settled share-based payments AR AR ARN AER 2
3% 16 _
16.3 19.1
The emoluments of the aforesaid employees were within the tiEE 2 BN T35 :
following bands:
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,0017% 7t - 6,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$8,500,001 — HK$9,000,000 8,500,001/% 7t - 9,000,000/ 7T -
HK$10,000,001 - HK$10,500,000 10,000,001/ 7T - 10,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$10,500,001 - HK$11,000,000 10,500,001/ 7T - 11,000,000/% 7T 1 -
2 2
Notes: B 5T -
(@ The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to (@ BEHRDNZEFAREBZLEEE THBRTSHEER
the operating results and comparable market statistics of the Group, and individual EEERIRRERE -
performance of the employee during the year.
(0) The ex-gratia payment for the year ended 31 March 2014 was given to the (0) B ZE2014F3A31H I FE 2 HFBEMNFHTINME B IZARIK
employee to recognise his long service and contribution to the Group upon early RES M RENRAREASE 2 RERERER -

retirement.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

14. DIVIDENDS 14. iR 2
2014
HK$' M
BEBT
Final dividend paid for the financial year B ZE2014F3A31 8 LB
ended 31 March 2014 of HK12 cents FEBRMNZREKE -
(2014: for the financial year ended 31 BRR1281l (20144 -
March 2013 of HK5 cents) per share #HZE2013F3H31H Lt
MEE - 5%1l) 162.0 67.5
Interim dividend paid for the financial year B Z=2015F3A31 1 IEBF B
ended 31 March 2015 of HK6 cents per FEDIRMN 2 ERE -
share (2014: nil) FR6EAL (20144  4£) 81.0 =
243.0 67.5
Proposed final dividend for the financial year FIRE 2201538318 Lt
ended 31 March 2015 of HK7 cents (2014: MERE 2 RERKRE -
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014 BTN (20144 -
of HK12 cents) per share #HZE2014F3A31H Lk
FIEE - 128110) 94.5 162.0
15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BRREF
FOR CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  BA 4B AT & KR E AR IEAF & A5 M
D

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

AR RA A S BRI RS BRI TR
THIBRE 5

2014
HK$'M
BEABT
Earnings 2 F
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic ~ st EFREARZEF] Z 2 F|
earnings per share (Profit for the year (RRARHEE ANELL
attributable to the owners of the Company) REZHH) 910.0 834.6
Adjustment to earnings in relation to 5 A i 1 R 4R 5 P 1S A2 A
Hanison’s share options (note) {’F 2 AR () (0.2)
Earnings for the purpose of EgREERF 2 EF
calculating diluted earnings per share 909.8
Number of shares g
Number of ordinary shares in issue during the T & &R EH A K 58
year for the purpose of calculating (201445  EAX) &BF| 2
basic and diluted (2014: basic) REZEEITEBREE
earnings per share (note) (B3E) 1,350,274,367  1,350,274,367

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
from continuing operations attributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the earnings figures calculated as follows:

ST S Tl
ARG AR (S A T SRR R
H R YIRS T 5B FIBURE

2014
HK$'M
BEBTT
Earnings for the purpose of ATESREREF 2
calculating basic earnings per share B (RRBHEEB A
(Profit for the year attributable FEEARFEE = F)
to the owners of the Company) 910.0 834.6
Loss for the year from discontinued B IEEEEBAFREEE
operations - 129.6
Earnings for the purpose of ATESECEETR
calculating basic earnings per share BREARRBT 2 &F
from continuing operations (RRAER AELEARFEE
(Profit for the year from continuing REREEBRF)
operations attributable
to the owners of the Company) 910.0 964.2
Adjustment to earnings in relation St 5 R 1 BRHE ¥ P 1S
to Hanison’s share options (note) BFER 2 A (K15E) (0.2)
Earnings for the purpose of STEECEEBER
calculating diluted earnings per share BERN 2 AR
from continuing operations 909.8

Note: Hanison’s share options are granted during the year ended 31 March 2015.
No diluted earnings per share is presented for the year ended 31 March 2014 as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during that year.

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing and
discontinued operations.

FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Basic loss per share for discontinued operations for the year
ended 31 March 2014 was HK9.6 cents, based on the loss for
the year from discontinued operations of HK$129.6 million and
the denominators detailed above for basic earnings per share
from continuing and discontinued operations.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

16. BEWE

2014
HK$'M
BEBTT
FAIR VALUE A¥E
At beginning of the year E9 7,437.8 6,934.1
Currency realignment B (82.1) (46.2)
Additions NE 179.6 397.0
Change in fair value recognised RERERZATEEZS
in profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals - HER 2B R 55.0 4.0
— Unrealised gains - REH W= 730.2 444.0
Disposals HE (646.0) (12.5)
Transferred from (to) property, wEge (2)WE - BER
plant and equipment (Note 17) = (MEE17) 29.0 (38.2)
Transferred to properties held for/under EREHELE 2 2R/
development for sale BREAYE - (244.4)
At end of the year FR 7,703.5 7,437.8

Investment properties of the Group held at the end of the

reporting period are situated on land as follows:

RBERAR AKEFBH2REMERLR 2T
A

2014

HK$'M

BEBT

Freehold outside Hong Kong LA B LA @ 2 Sk A SEHE 560.3 614.4
Long leases outside Hong Kong LA BB AN R 2 R EAFA A 125.0 120.5
Long leases in Hong Kong URES 2 RKEHEL 603.7 658.2
Medium-term leases in Hong Kong URES 2 EEL 6,414.5 6,044.7
7,703.5 7,437.8

The Group disposed of certain investment properties during the

year and the details of which are as follows:

FR - AKEHESTREDE HBEUOT:

2014
HK$'M
BEBT

Sales proceeds received B EEE FTiS BE 646.0 12.5
Original cost of acquisitions W HE 2 JR X AR ME (322.5) 3.2)
Accumulated gains on change in fair value BEFEEEARAZATE

recognised in prior years BH) R (268.5) (5.3)
Realised gains on disposal recognised FAHERERZDEE

during the year (Note 11) e (FsE11) 55.0 4.0
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2015 and 2014 and the date of transfer from/to property, plant
and equipment and to properties held for/under development
for sale have been derived by the following independent firms of
qualified professional valuers with appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations.

Location of
investment properties

Hong Kong and the PRC

Name of valuer

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited
and Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung KK Japan
N&A Appraisal Company Limited Thailand
VALUATION TECHNIQUES

The fair value of completed investment properties located

in Hong Kong is determined by using income capitalisation
approach and with reference to market transaction prices

of similar properties in the relevant locations. The income
capitalisation approach is calculated by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provision
for any reversionary income potential.

The fair value of investment property under construction

located in Hong Kong is determined by the residual method by
reference to comparable sales transactions of similar completed
properties as available in the relevant market and also takes

into account the developer’s profit and construction costs
already incurred as well as the estimated costs to be incurred to
complete.

The fair value of investment properties located in the PRC and
Thailand is determined by using direct comparison approach
assuming sale of the property interest in its existing state by
making reference to comparable sales transactions as available
in the relevant market.

The fair value of investment properties located in Japan is
determined by using income capitalisation approach and with
reference to the depreciated replacement cost approach. The
income capitalisation approach is calculated by capitalising
the rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due
provision for any reversionary income potential.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

SUMMARY OF FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND LEVEL 3 NHEER N E=ERAFEST
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS EHNE

AEEMELERETHERNEASIIEER
BERRZMERSHRBATFEENGE I
DR ARIEREYE - BRUNEE811.08
BATT (2014F : 710.7B & B L)  FE125.08
BT (2014F : 12058 & L) KZEH3.9E 5

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating

leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties. Except for an
amount of HK$811.0 million (2014: HK$710.7 million) of

certain residential and industrial investment properties in Hong BT (20145 :B9RBA L) A TEERLE
Kong, HK$125.0 million (2014: HK$120.5 million) in the PRC REYE (SETEZERNEELBEME L) IR
and HK$3.9 million (2014: HK$3.9 million) in Thailand which BE_EBRATEFE T GEEIN AEE e
are valued under Level 2 fair value measurements, which is 6,763.6 @ &8 7T (20144 : 6,602.7E B/A L) AY

principally derived based on the direct comparison approach, BRI IREMENBEEZ=ERAFEFEM T
the remaining investment properties of the Group amounting to LAfH{E -
HK$6,763.6 million (2014: HK$6,602.7 million) are valued by
reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.
The movements during the year in the balance of investment $ NEZERATEFE N 2REMELEHRT
properties under Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: =) PN
Under
Completed construction Total
%I EEF wst
HK$’M HK$'M HK$’M
BEET BEET BEET
At 1 April 2013 R2013F4 A1H 5,814.5 227.0 6,041.5
Currency realignment B (45.6) - (45.6)
Additions NE 295.3 101.7 397.0
Change in fair value recognised REEERZAFEE
in profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals - HER 2B SR 4.0 - 4.0
— Unrealised gains - KRR WS 282.4 180.3 462.7
Disposals & (12.5) = (12.5)
Transferred to properties held HREERELEZ
for/under development for sale BR/IARPYEE (244.4) - (244.4)
At 31 March 2014 R2014F3H31H 6,093.7 509.0 6,602.7
Currency realignment B (82.3) = (82.3)
Additions //J\E 166.7 23.9 179.6
Change in fair value recognised RIERERZAFEEZD
in profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals - HER 2B BRI 46.5 - 46.5
— Unrealised gains - REH W= 659.4 - 659.4
Disposals HE (138.4) - (138.4)
Transferred from property, ERAYE WELELE
plant and equipment 29.0 - 29.0
Transferred into Level 2 due BRTKIEMGERE
to change in valuation methodology ~ ZE8)ME =5 — B K
upon completion of development - (632.9) (632.9)
At 31 March 2015 A2015FE3H31H 6,763.6 - 6,763.6
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

During the year, except for the transfer from investment RAFEE  BRAYMEERETKEE AE532.98
properties under construction to investment properties of EBTC (20145 « &) 2 IE R EMHEE=IREY)
HK$532.9 million (2014: nil) upon completion of development, EN REETNRER B EEE -

there were no transfers among levels of fair value hierarchy.

LEVEL 3 VALUATION METHODOLOGIES

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable

F=RBRMGETTE
T 25 E AT ABRE AR

inputs:

Completed investment
properties (note c)
Hong Kong

Indlustrial

Commercial

Agricultural land

Japan
Residential

Commerical

BRIRENS
(Wizke)
I#

[5ES

[5ES

Fair value

Y8

HK$3,303.1 milion

(2014 HK$3,099.6 millon)
3308.1BEHET

(20145 : 300065 A TT)
HKS2,772.9 milion

(2014: HK$2,265.6 million)
22988 BT

(20145 : 22656 AT
HK$131.2 milion

(2014: HK$118.0 milion)
1312884

(20145 : 1180585 T)

HK$299.7 milion

(2014: HK$329.2 milion)
20.7BEBT

(20145 : 32025 8% )
HK$256.7 milion

(2014: HK$281.3 milion)
2B6.7AEBT
(20145 : 2813585 T)
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Unobservable inputs

TUBREAYE
Market rent Adjusted
Capitalisation (per square market price
rate foot per month) (per square foot)
itk EREHHER
- (8ABYER) (85 R)
(note a) (note a) (notes a&b)
(Hizka) (H&a) (HzFakb)
40%t05.5% HK$7 to HK$15 NA
(2014: 4.3% t0 5.0%) (2014: HK$5 to HK$15)
4,0%%5.5% TBTLRISET TER
(20145 :43%%5.0%) (20145 :5ATEI5HTT)
3.5% t0 8.0% HK$15 to HK$67 NA
(2014: 4.5% t0 7.0%) (2014: HK$12 to HK$63)
3.5%%8.0% 158 T E6TB T @R
(2014F :45%%7.0%)  (2014%F 12T Z63%TT)
N/A N/A HK$198 to HK$450
(2014: HK$200 to HK$429)
TER 1ER 1988 L2450 T
(20145 : 20087
R409%TT)
4.5% JPY410t0 JPY510 N/A
(2014: 4.8%) (2014: JPY450)
45% 410HEZ510HE @R
(20147 : 4,8%) (20145 : 4500 E)
4.2% JPY700 N/A
(2014: 4.3%) (2014: JPY700)
4.2% 700H TR

(014 : 4.3%)

(20144 : 7008 E)
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Notes:

(@ A significant change in this input would result in a significantly higher or lower
fair value measurement.

(b) Adjusted market price per square foot has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including location, land quality and timing of reference
transactions.

(c) Fair value measurement of completed investment properties is positively
correlated to the market rent and adjusted market price per square foot, but
inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

The fair value measurement of investment property under
construction is measured based on the significant unobservable
inputs including the construction costs to complete the
development and the developers’ estimated profit margin.

The fair value measurement of investment property under
construction is negatively correlated to the costs and profit
margins.

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

o

@ WEBABBUREASY BERATE AR
eSO

b ERESFHRTHEEDHRECDEAE
5 LHEERSERS2HMN) -

(B

© ERTREAMEHATEIBRETIRZTHESR
ERETHERESERR BRERCEN AN

ERNEMNEN R FEFENREERNTABER
BABUBMAE MEATNIBRRBARIEERE
TR RAEENARERANMGTMNER £
EREMENRFEFEEXNARFBEREZE
HHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. V¥ BERRE

Furniture, Plant, Ferries,
Leasehold ~ Commercial fixtures machinery launches
Hotel Freehold landand  and leisure Leasehold and and andmotor  Construction
properties land buildings facilities improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
HE BAR BE A BE i
BENE AAEELH  1#RET BERE NEEE  2ERRRE  EERRE  MRAE fRIB &

HKS'M HKS'M HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
ABER BEET BEET BB BEER BEET BB BB BEER BEET

cosT RE
At1 Apri 2013 R2013%4A18 23544 3149 7385 662.7 2406 2913 3438 5137 210 54709
Currency realignment EHRE (726) 250) (08 - 27) (639 81 (08) (22 (1021)
Additions hE 165 - 53 - 58.3 206 95 10.1 42 1265
Disposals/wrte-off HE /M (905.7) - (1) - (158) (359 (226.6) (17.0) - (1,2318)
Transfer from investment EEERENE

properties (Note 16) (Kt3t16) - - 32 - - - - - - 32
Transfer to properties held forlunder  EAZHEHEZEE/

development for sale RETE - - - - - - - - (08 08
Reclassffcation EE b 25 - - - - ()] 49 03 (215) =
At31 March 2014 R2014%3F31H 14141 2899 7501 662.7 2806 267.2 139.7 505.9 07 43009
Currency realignment EHRE (22) (.0) (02 - 08 (10 03 02 - 07
Additions hE 25 - 34 - 36.3 263 30 201 63 136.9
Disposals/wrte-off /M (22) (302) - - (37) 85) (35 231) - 12
Transfer to ivestment BEERENE

properties (Note 16) (Kt3t16) - - (585) - - - - - - (585)
Reclassfication EE b (08) - - - - - - 06 - -
At 31 March 2015 R201553831A 1,451.6 2547 694.8 652.7 3124 2830 138.9 5033 70 4,2984
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 7 R i
At1 Aprl 2013 201354518 7100 85 152.0 363.3 179.6 207.6 3359 4266 - 23835
Qurrency realignment R (46.) 08 - - (22 (5.0) 80 (04) - (454)
Provided for the year TEEER 7 - 109 149 24 284 17 198 - 1798
Eimineted on dsposelsurte-of &/ 4 {3010 - (12 - (1) 334 182 (149 . (5804)
Impairment loss recognised (note) 2 REHERE (i) - - - - 08 13 03 02 - 126
Reclassffication EE b - - - = = (4) 46 = = =
At 31 March 2014 R2014E3A31H 401 93 170.7 3182 1889 199.3 132.3 4313 - 1,950.1
Currency realignment EHRE (19 08) 0.1 - (05) 09 03 (02 - (44
Provided for the year REERR 677 - 197 149 %2 209 16 205 - 1705
Elminated on disposalsfwrite-off &/ B L 21 87 - - (32) 83) (34) 228 - 485)
Impaimment loss recognised (note)  EREAERHE (K - - %6 - - 03 - - - %9
Transfer toinvestment properties ~ BAZRENFE

(Note 16) (Hizte) - = (295) = = - - = = (295)
Reclassfication ExipE (02 - - - - - - 02 - -
At 31 March 2015 201538317 503.7 - 1874 3931 2104 2113 1302 429.0 - 2,065.1
CARRYING VALUES BHE
At 31 March 2015 201553531 9479 2547 507.4 259.6 1020 "1 87 743 70 22333
At 31 March 2014 201453731 R 9740 2806 5794 2145 917 679 74 746 07 23508
Note: During the current year, the management conducted an impairment review of izt : RAFE  BRBHAKE 2B TYE  BEREEET
certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and determined that certain BERNWEES T BELRRECRE - ZFWE B
property, plant and equipment were impaired. Impairment of HK$26.9 million B REEE BERRME26.98 BT (2014F : 12.6 EEAT)
(2014: HK$12.6 million) is recognised as the estimated recoverable amounts HiEst e 258 (REAFERLEEXKANHERER) K
(based on fair value less costs of disposal or value in use) of the property, plant and REAREE

equipment were less than their carrying amounts.
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ltems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold land No depreciation

Hotel properties 3 - 40 years
Leasehold land and buildings,
commercial and leisure facilities 5 - 50 years

Over the shorter of
the term of the lease
period or 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 -7 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 5 - 15 years
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 3 —20 years

The carrying value of properties shown above comprises:

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

FERETRAINZME BB MEERBRIATGE
A ERFRAEREITE

KAFERELTH I T E
B IE = 3404
HE L MEF-
7 A I B 24 3R e 5 - 504
HEWERE 70 & EABR 3k
SEHFREE
R B REE 3-74
5 - #2s R 5- 154
e A RkRE 3-20%

xR ZERERRE:

Leasehold land

Hotel properties Freehold land and buildings
EENE KAER L AETHREF
2014 2014 2014
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT AEHT
Freehold outside Hong Kong RIREBAMEE Z
KARTE 131.0 156.5 254.7 280.6 - -
Long leases outside Hong Kong R RE B AN R 2
AL - - - - 3.8 39
Medium-term leases outside RIRBEBAINEE 2
Hong Kong AR 4 - - - - 22.2 19.4
Long leases in Hong Kong AR &R 2 & EH L - - - - 296.3 302.9
Medium-term leases in Hong Kong T E S 2+ #7840 816.9 817.5 - - 1815 247.0
Short leases in Hong Kong IR & 2 2 ERA 4 - - - - 36 6.2
947.9 974.0 254.7 280.6 507.4 579.4
==
18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. FENEENK
The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise: AEEzENHEENZBTE:
2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Leasehold land in Hong Kong UREBEBEZHEE T
Short leases FHEE L 0.5 0.8
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong R BB AN R 2
THE T
Medium-term leases FHEAFE 4D 6.5 6.8
7.0 7.6

Leasehold interest in land is released over the terms of the
leases on a straight-line basis.

Rt BERRRAMNEREZE -

HFREXEBREEERAT 2014/2015 F 7R
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS 19. BHE 8]z /e B E
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES YNCIES @]
2014
HK$'M
BEBIT
Cost of investment in associates, unlisted REEERBIEE Z KA
JE LT 44.5 44.5
Share of reserves DAL 2.3 1.2
Share of post-acquisition losses, DL YEE R E1E - kR
net of dividends received B R (1.4) (10.6)
45.4 35.1
Amounts due from associates (Note 29) JE Wt & R | 3R (FiEEE29) 619.1 624.3
Share of post-acquisition losses of SIEBRAREFRERE 2
an associate covered by —XEE QR 2 WER
binding obligation (note) 518 (&) (578.7) (578.8)
40.4 45.5
Note: The Group is obliged to make good the net deficit of TCSDCL in proportion Biak - NEBZBE S YETCSDCL 5 &1 - th il AE R TCSDCLZ
to its interest in TCSDCL. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s obligation o NREHR AEEE L EGHE 2 EERT8TEEST
in this connection amounted to HK$578.7 million (2014: HK$578.8 million) and <2o14¢ 578 8B BATT)  ZELEERNGE MBI RRE
accordingly, the same amount has been recognised in the consolidated statement R A AL B4 FTCSDCLZ 2 7R 8 o
of financial position and presented as a deduction from the Group’s advances to
TCSDCL.
Detalils of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March REER2015F3A31 B & T EBBE N A 2515
2015 are set out in Note 45(c). BT FE45(c) °

The summarised financial information of the Group’s associates AREBEENR ZHEERBEZEHF 0T
is set out below:

2014
HK$'M
BEBIT

Total assets BERE 281.7 409.8
Total liabilities BEESE (1,996.2) (2,159.6)
Net liabilities BfEF %E (1,714.5) (1,749.8)
Group’s share of net assets of associates NEE S (HEEE QA

BEFE 48.5 38.0
Group’s share of net liabilities of associates NEE S (HEEE QA

BEFHE (581.8) (581.7)

(533.3) (543.7)
Turnover L 18.1 12.4
Profit (loss) for the year REE&F (EE) 30.8 (2.9)
Group’s share of results of associates AR E 5 (G HE & A A
for the year NEEEE 9.2 0.3

The financial information in respect of each of the Group’s BRAEESHENR W BERWIEER
associates is not material and no separate summarised financial MM S E RN 27 ERUBERE -

information of each associate is presented.
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The interests in joint ventures include the Group’s 50% equity
interest in Dazhongli. An analysis is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

20. SE DAl 2R
REBMPA LR B 2 HEZEBIER AR E Z50%8
e E DM

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Interests in: AT RS
Dazhongli (note a) A E (MfzEa) 6,379.2 6,348.2
Other joint ventures (note b) HEmaena (FsEb) 1,182.6 1,108.2
7,561.8 7,456.4
Notes: B &E
(@) Dazhongli @ R+E

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”) are engaged in the development
of investment properties and hotel properties in the Jingan District of Shanghai in
the PRC.

ARFEREMBAR ([RTFEEE ] RBERURFELE
MHRRIREMEREEDE -

2014

HKS$'M

BEBT

Cost of unlisted shares FE LR 2 KA 0.1 0.1
Share of reserves (note i) DAGERE (FsE) 837.5 828.5
Share of post-acquisition profits (note i) DGR EE &R A (B 5Eii ) 1,049.9 1,036.3
1,887.5 1,864.9

Loans to Dazhongli ERFARRE 4,491.7 4,483.3
6,379.2 6,348.2

The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing except for the
amount included of HK$289.3 million which will be repaid in December 2016. The
remaining portion has no fixed terms of repayment. The Group has no intention

to exercise its right to demand repayment of these loans within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. The directors of the Company believe
the settlement of these loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable future as they
are, in substance, a part of the Group’s net investment in Dazhongli Group as the
proceeds of the loans have been substantially used by the Dazhongli to inject as
registered capital into its PRC subsidiaries. Accordingly, the amount is classified
as non-current asset and included in the Group’s interests in joint ventures for the
purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The summarised financial information in respect of Dazhongli Group as at 31
March 2015 and 2014 is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

BT APEZERTEER 28 (EHR20165F12AEEZ
289.3H BB TTZ RIARRIN) < AT #E [E TE IR AR - A&
B E BN R E PR R AA2(E A ATTEER - ZREEZ
EER - mRATEEBERAEZREBMORIFEAEL S EH
BAREREMER ARREEHEXZEERRTERAR
RREEE BWHZERERAEER KT EEEZ HNIREF
HeRl RRACIIRIERDEEYAALKEARGER
Rz #Em  AMERESMBHRRKRED -

AR EEER2015F k2014F3A31A 2 M ERBEE T »
NTHBEERBEREBEEATERE LR AL QA
MBERERTAIRZ &M

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated
financial statements.

2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties under construction ERIREMHE 16,519.2 15,072.8
Hotel properties under construction and equipment ERBEMERZE 1,096.9 918.1
Other non-current assets Hib3ERBEE 139.4 133.1
17,755.5 16,124.0
Current assets MENE B
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 516.6 460.6
Other current assets HihRBEE 13.7 174.9
530.3 635.5
Current liabilities mEAE
Loans from shareholders R E (8,404.9) (8,966.5)
Other current liabilities Hipmea s (680.8) (729.1)
(9,085.7) (9,695.6)
Net current liabilities BB EFRE (8,555.4) (9,060.1)
Total assets less current liabilities REERTSAR 9,200.1 7,063.9
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans RITER (4,003.2) (2,521.9)
Loans from shareholders RERE R (578.5) =
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIE A & (843.4) (812.2)
(5,425.1) (3,334.1)
Net assets BEFE 3,775.0 3,729.8
Group’s share of net assets AEBOGEEEFE 1,887.5 1,864.9
For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANBLEE
2014
HK$'M
BEATT
Change in fair value of investment properties EEREMEATFEED
under construction 120.8 (296.1)
Other operating expenses HEM @i (63.5) (34.8)
Deferred taxation IERERIE (30.2) 741
Net profit (loss) after taxation for the year REERTEFRFN (BE) 27.1 (256.8)
Group’s share of results for the year NEEBDERFEEE 13.6 (128.4)
Notes: B 5T -
()  The share of reserves of Dazhongli represented an exchange gain on () PHEAPEZREREFARAFEZERETREZ
translations of interest in Dazhongli and exchange gains arising from translation P& 5 W R AN BB T AP BEERBEIRINEB B IREF
of the loans advanced by the Group to Dazhongli, which are denominated in US B2 ER (D RIAET KBTI E) BRE 5| Bz B X K -

dollars and HK dollars respectively, that form part of net investment in foreign
operations during the year.
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(i)  The increase in share of post-acquisition profits of Dazhongli in the current
year mainly arose from the Group’s share of fair value gain on investment
properties under construction of Dazhongli.

The investment properties under construction were measured at 31 March 2015
at fair value of HK$16,519.2 million (equivalent to RMB13,084.7 million) (2014:
HK$15,072.8 million (equivalent to RMB11,953.5 million)) which was based on the
valuation conducted by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, who have appropriate
qualification and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in

the relevant locations. The valuation was derived from residual method based

on capitalising the net earnings that would be generated from the investment
properties in their completed form, and has taken into account the developers’
profit and construction costs already incurred as well as the estimate costs to be
incurred to complete the property. The increase in the valuation for the year ended
31 March 2015 of investment properties under construction as stated above was
due to the fair value gain of HK$120.8 million (2014: fair value loss of HK$296.1
million) and additions to investment properties under construction amounting to
HK$1,325.6 million (2014: HK$1,865.8 million). The attributable deferred taxation
charge in respect of the gain was HK$30.2 million (2014: deferred taxation credit
of HK$74.1 million). Thus the net fair value gain after tax amounted to HK$90.6
million (2014: loss after tax of HK$222.0 million) of which the Group’s 50% share
of gain was HK$45.3 million (2014: loss of HK$111.0 million). The investment
properties are held within a business model of the joint venture whose business
objective is to consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.

The capital commitments of Dazhongli at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were as
follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

() AEEAEAD R RHBEEFEN ETERRARES
A B2 R YR AT EKS -

RIETERTERA BT ZEE ERIEEMER201543
A31EZ AFEAR16,519.28 BT (HHER AR13,084.7
BEIT) (20144 :15,072.8 B BB T (HHERAR11,953.5
BERL) ) ZAREFEEBSEZAEVEBEAMAS
BEER RIS - EENREEACRIRENEEEY
FRFBETEAERASKEEMEL  WETREREHFRE
EEZEENABYETTHES 2B KA - B ZE2015563
AS1BLLFE FREEMEMER LA EE - TEA
FEUKE5120.8E BATT (20145 : A FEEB296. 1B BB T)
MARBERILAYSH1,325.68 85T (20144 1 1,865.85 &

BT ) o szMias 2 FE(R IR IE R IE X H /R30.28 B 7T (20144 :
EEFRBRE741ESBT) - WNBRHRIBE 2 A FEFRZE
£90.68 &I (201445 - (rBi 8 EE222.08 A L) - A&

B 5 EE W 250%  B145.38 BT (20144 : {5E111.08
EBAT) RENETUFESTNALE QAR ZEEREERXE
B MEBERZEBENREREERAZREVMENEEZ
BRI EEF S MIFBBLEER -

A BER2015%F K2014F3 A1 B 2 E A AT ¢

2014

HK$'M

BEBT

Contracted but not provided for EERNBRIERE 3,565.6 4,448.2
Authorised but not contracted for BHAEBERELD 2,283.8 2,428.3
5,849.4 6,876.5

The capital commitments of Dazhongli, of which the amounts attributable to the
Group’s interest in Dazhongli represents 50% of the amounts stated above, will be
financed by shareholders’ loan or direct borrowings of Dazhongli.

(b) Other joint ventures that are not individually material

RPBZEARAE (ARERNAHEZ B BE DieEz
50%) ISR RERIATE BEREERNESD -

b) EffERIFERZEEAT

2014

HK$'M

BEBT

Cost of unlisted shares FE LR 2 B AR 156.2 128.6
Share of reserve DEEE 2.6 2.8
Share of post-acquisition profits, net of dividends received DG EE &% A - 0Bk B AR B 8.4 8.7
167.2 140.1

Loans to other joint ventures (note) BERTEMEE DA (HEE) 1,015.4 968.1
1,182.6 1,108.2

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154F3 431 H L F &

Note: The loans to other joint ventures are unsecured and have no fixed terms
of repayment. As at 31 March 2015, the loans to other joint ventures included
an amount of HK$986.9 million (2014: HK$939.6 million) bearing interest at fixed
rates from 3% to 3.5% (2014: 3% to 3.5%) per annum. The remaining balance is
non-interest bearing. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand
repayment of these loans within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. The directors of the Company believe the settlement of these
loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the amount

is classified as non-current asset and included in the Group’s interests in joint
ventures for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The summarised financial information in respect of other joint ventures as at 31

g B B % e A i

BisE : BT E A S & A 7] T R R 3 48 [E R 32 K - 1
201563 A31H - ER T HME E AR RIELFEI86.98 BB
(20144 : 939.6 8 &8 7T ) 1= [E iE F F E3% E3.5% (20144 :
3%%E3.5% )i BZHIB A THREARE - AEEESNIRE
HRRBETARR12E A AT E R ZREEZFER - AR A
EZHEZSFERETERNT RREEE - At HesEH
BRRERZE2ME BEALBEIMEERBEE Wt AKX
EERAE AR 2R

L& & A ER2015%F 201453831 H 2 A E R ZE an

\

March 2015 and 2014 is set out below: T
2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Current assets mEEE 2,838.6 2,728.5
Current liabilities mEAE (2,518.7) (2,465.1)
Other non-current assets HiEmB & E 23 3.7
Net assets BEFE 3222 267.1
Group’s share of net assets rEEHEEESE 167.3 140.1
Net profit after taxation for the year REERTE TR 4.6 50.2
Group’s share of results for the year AEEDEARFEEE 2.3 24.7
Dividends received from joint ventures BRELERRRE 2.6 27.2

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014
are set out in Note 45(d).
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 &{Z=2015%3 8318 It F &

2. ERRBRAESF ZRE

21. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY

SECURITIES

Held-to-maturity investments

FREIRIRE

Debt securities (note a) B ES (Mi5Ea)
Current Vi) 40.9
Non-current FETRED 196.4
237.3
Available-for-sale financial assets AP ECHEE
Equity securities IR 72 75 5
Listed, at fair value (note b) Em-EZATE
(FtzEb) 62.6 62.6 -
Unlisted, at fair value (note c) JEET IR AFEE
(BtzEe) 28.2 - 28.2
90.8 62.6 28.2
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  AZME MW Z DT ¢
Non-current FEM BN 90.8
Market value of listed equity securities: M AR AR E % 2 T 1E :
Listed in Hong Kong R&ES LT 48.2 48.2 -
Listed overseas g TR 14.4 14.4 -
62.6 62.6 -
Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2014 using
M201463A31B AFE 2
Level 1 Level 3
2014 E—ER E=ER
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT AEBT BEBT
Held-to-maturity investments BRI E
Debt securities (note a) ERES (fEa)
Current mE 63.8
Non-current ERB 197.7
261.5
Available-for-sale financial assets AR ESRERE
Equity securities IR 2 75 25
Listed, at fair value (note b) Em-EZATE
(FtzEb) 56.3 56.3 -
Unlisted, at fair value (note c) LT EAFE
(BzEe) 27.5 - 27.5
83.8 56.3 27.5
Analysed for reporting purposes as: AZME W Z DWW T ¢
Non-current FEM BN 83.8
Market value of listed equity securities: M AR AR E % 2 T 1E :
Listed in Hong Kong R&ES LT 435 43.5 =
Listed overseas REHN TR 12.8 12.8 -
56.3 56.3 -

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Notes:

(@ Held-to-maturity debt securities are measured at amortised cost less any
impairment losses. The fair value of the held-to-maturity debt securities as at 31
March 2015 is HK$245.4 million (2014: HK$264.1 million). The weighted average
effective interest rate is 5.7% (2014: 5.5%) per annum.

Included in held-to-maturity debt securities are impaired financial assets with
carrying amount of HK$8.8 million (2014: HK$16.2 million) net of the impairment
loss recognised of HK$7.3 million (2014: nil). Impairment loss of HK$7.3 million
(2014: nil) is recognised during the year ended 31 March 2015 based on the
market price of debt securities as at 31 March 2015.

(b) The fair values of all listed equity securities are determined by reference to the
quoted market bid price available on the relevant exchanges in active markets as
at 31 March 2015 and 2014.

(c) Unlisted equity securities represent investment in private equity funds at
HK$28.2 million (2014: HK$27.5 million) which are measured using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information.

The Group uses the key inputs of market comparable companies, which includes
the valuation multiples, to determine the fair value of the unlisted equity securities
as at 31 March 2015 and 2014. The unobservable inputs are valuation multiples
and discount for lack of marketability. Valuation multiples include enterprise value/
earnings before interest and taxes, price-to-earnings multiple. The higher the
valuation multiples or the lower discount of lack of marketability, the higher the fair
value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant

to the Group.

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

o

() HEINREBFF HABEK AR E MR EEEMEE -
201563 A31H  FHEFNMEBESF 2 R FER24548 8
I (2014%F : 264 1A & B TT) < METHERFHER5.7%
(20145 :5.5% ) °

SRR HEKE S BIEREEAS8E BB T (20146 :16.2

BEBT)ZERESREE HRCHERRERIE?7.3EES
JC (20144 : %) < BEKE7.3E BB (2014F : E)REE
201543 A31 H ILFE AR B ESEFHMN2015463A31H 2

(o) FT1E EMBRAER 2 AFETILER2015F K2014F3A
1RAERMSHBR S ZEABIRMETE -

© FLMBABZAILERFEES ZIREB2EEETT
(20144 : 27 5B & B TT)  ERGERIDFE - ZBRIGF
ZRAZBAREAEENSEERT ISR AR
AT B B I B E o

AEBEERATS EALLRARNEZHARE (BHEAERED
R TE I L AR AT 5 1020165 201463 A31H 2 A F(E
BRRZ TS BN TS AZEREAERERTN-
HERSRSRERMNSRFENCREE/ETN TREEH- G
BEfgEsREZTSRBEZTNEE A TFESES -

WESBE T A BRBBRCFERBEFREDINT RA/SER
BRAEEMAREAKENSBIFEEX

JELMRARE S EHMT

2014

HK$'M

BEAT

Balance at beginning of the year FHEEER 27.5 16.3

Acquisition during the year FAYHE 12.8 9.4
Total gain (Ioss) Wz (E18) 4258

—in profit or loss -REEH 1.0 12.6

— in other comprehensive (loss) income -REMERE (FH8) KT (5.9) 5.2

Proceeds from disposal & TS RIE (7.2) (16.0)

Balance at end of the year FREER 28.2 27.5

Included in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015 was
a gain of HK$1.0 million (2014: HK$1.9 million) related to unlisted equity securities
which had been reclassified to profit or loss from investment revaluation reserve
upon disposal.

There were no transfer between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy in the current and prior years.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND VALUATION
PROCESSES

The Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity securities, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
The valuation is performed at the end of each reporting period.
Where there is material change in the fair value of the assets, the
cause of the fluctuations will be reported to the management of
the Group.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of assets are disclosed above.

22. OTHER ASSETS

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

NP EFEMEEBRRE

AEEREZERAVEAEEETAENMGE
I R ABUE -

RIEFTIELMRARSF 2 A FER  AREER
AR TSR SRR - MENSREHRE
T HEEZRFEHREAES HEBH 2R
AGmAREEEERS

BRABETEEAFEMERNMBERT REA
BB ZERN EXHE-

2 HihEE

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) FE YR8 5 EAR R (Bt sEa) 29.5 17.5
Option fee refundable (note b) AREREEE (Ki5Eb) - 8.4
Loan to an investee (note c) MBI EHRER

(Mf5Ee) 106.6 106.6

Unlisted membership debentures and tmeEEsREMmEE
other assets 7.4 8.2
143.5 140.7

Notes:

(@ The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing provided to
buyers of development properties of the Group. The amounts bear interest at
prime rate or prime rate minus 1% and are receivable by instalments over a

period of not more than 20 years from the sale of relevant flats. The receivables
are secured by a second mortgage over the properties. The portion of mortgage
instalment receivables due within one year of HK$1.7 million (2014: HK$1.3 million)
is included as trade receivables in current assets.

(o) This represents an option fee of HK$14.0 million paid by the Group to
a related party, Castro Valley Properties, Inc. (“CVPI”) in 1996 pursuant to a
proposed property project which was subsequently not proceeded with.

P & -

(@) MEWIRIBDHHERTDBETAEEMERNEERZME -
U HRIZ R B BT R B BB R %1 S LEEFRAE
EEME R TBB20F A B E - i B RTIAB Y
EEE—RIBER R —FRI P RKRBS BET1.7E
BB (2014F 1 3EEB L) Bt AERDEEZEIKE S

(b) UEIEIEAEEMBFRIE—HEZEYEBA MM —%&
88 5 Castro Valley Properties, Inc. ([CVPI |) X 14.08 &5
T REREE  ZEEE G mEmET-
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Under the terms of the termination agreement entered into in 1997, the amount
was repayable by CVPI to the Group in instalments, the amount of each instalment
being based on the gross income of CVPI each year with interest accruing at 1%
per annum on the outstanding balance. Based on information provided by CVPI,
the amount was expected to be fully repaid by 2031. However, The outstanding
balance of HK$8.4 million at 31 March 2014 was fully settled by early repayment
from CVPIin March 2015.

The balance outstanding at 31 March 2014 represented (i) the carrying value of
the amount receivable determined using the discount rate applicable at the date
of inception of 4.51% per annum (“the adjusted outstanding principal”) and (i) less
repayments received attributable to the settlement of the adjusted outstanding
principal since that date.

Amounts received from CVPI were recognised as interest income based on the
discount rate of 4.51% per annum on the adjusted outstanding principal and the
balance was attributable to settlement of the adjusted outstanding principal.

CVPI is a related party of a trust, the discretionary objects of which include the
issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late Chairman of the Company and some of them
are directors of the Company.

() The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company incorporated in
Singapore which holds a commercial complex comprising a retail mall, 2 office
towers and a hotel in the city of Tianjin, the PRC. The loan is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. The directors of the Company determined that the
Group might not demand for repayment within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and hence classified the loan as a non-current asset.

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts
of the Group’s mortgage instalment receivables, option fee
refundable and loans to an investee at the end of the reporting
period approximate their corresponding fair values.

23. INVENTORIES

g B B % e A i

RIBE19974F 5] 3L 2 42 IE 137 2 1R3K - CVPIZE S Bl A K Bl (8
BaE Eﬁ%%&ﬂﬁﬁiCVPlﬁ%%l%l)\ﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬂi BB 2 IE
REF1%TEFE - RIBECVPHER 2 B R TEHZEREER
2031 FBHEIE - AT * R2014F3 A1 H 24 FE84E & BT
B FCVPIR201553 A R Al B SN {EE -

M2014F3A31 H s R EIE 2 SR A ()2 BRI 1 B 2@ A 2 B
RRGFL51%EE 2 RS FHREE ([EHEREERS )
R(ipmE B % B HREHBREEAS 2 B WEEN

HECVPIRE Z £ R B HBEAREERSIRTF4.51%8 T K
WRANERA MBBESEHEREERS -

CVPIR—REFRZEE  ERBHREEARFERERE
BRELHER RELIR/RAAES-

AEBR =AML Z IE E T A RHEE15% 2
CRARNFERRERE - BEERAE  BEERYT
D MERRERER—FOBE - ZERAEER %8 RI%
ERER -ARAERREAKERHEHARLF12(A AT
BEREE ARBZERDERFERBEE-

/@k@

/N ji%u/u;«% AEBENRE R Z EKIRIS
DHHR AR ERBE E&ﬁ*ﬁ%@&ﬁ%%%
,TAZHEETE,V\*EJE NEEE

23. &

2014

HK$'M

BEBT

Consumables 2 m 46.8 45.2
Finished goods BIPK o 13.7 12.1
Building materials FEEEM Y 8.4 11.7
68.9 69.0
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24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

EQ%W&EZ%%%E¢%

DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
2014
HK$'M
BAEBTT
Properties held for/under development for BBBENBIELE 2 BRE/
sale in Hong Kong BERPYE
Discovery Bay development project MR EEREIEER 400.1 349.0
Other projects Hth1E B 1,046.3 1,420.4
Properties held for/under development BBBINSIERE 2B RE/
for sale outside Hong Kong ERPYE 800.8 709.1
2,247.2 2,478.5
The carrying value of properties shown above X 3R 2 W2 BRHE(E
comprises: BIE:
Freehold KA K 216.6 345.9
Long leases RHEAD 584.2 830.3
Medium-term leases H HRRE 4V 1,446.4 1,302.3
2,247.2 2,478.5

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs
capitalised in the properties held for/under development for sale
were HK$40.2 million (2014: HK$41.9 million). The properties
held for/under development for sale amounting to HK$2,247.2
million (2014: HK$2,478.5 million) are expected to be recovered
after twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit period allowed by the Group to its customers is
dependent on the general practice in the industry concerned.
For property sales, sales terms vary for each property project
and are determined with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Property rentals are receivable in advance. Payments
for healthcare, clubs and hotel services are receivable on
demand.

RIEER 4028 8B 7T (2014F : 4198 8
BIL) ZBEERAEBIERELE 2 B8R/
RAYIZE KA - 2,247.28 &5 7T (20144 :
24T85EBRBTL) ZHEHEZER/AARTY
ETEHRREHREB12@E BB E -

25. FEWWE 5 BRFX

REBRTERFP 2 EEHRTERN—RIED

ETE -RUEHEEMS HEKRNIRSYWEER
ME WRKEERMAETE MERSAMN L
H-BERE SMRBEREZERBENRENK
REA ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented
based on the payment due date at the end of the reporting
period:

AT BEWE S RFRNI®E BRIZ 25 A
20 2 Rk AT

2014

HK$'M

AEBT

Not yet due i) A 21 B 365.2 170.0
Overdue: #rHp

0 - 60 days 0-60X 37.6 32.9

61— 90 days 61 - 90K 2.0 1.9

Over 90 days [EEGISl0PN 2.3 6.4

407.1 211.2

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are
receivables with aggregate carrying amount of HK$41.9 million
(2014: HK$41.2 million) which are past due at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue
beyond 120 days because historical experience is such that
receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are generally not
recoverable. Management closely monitors the credit quality of
trade receivables and considers the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality.

MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL
DEBTS

AEB 2 EWE SRR BENRE RS EEM
ANEEI KRR EREEDL BB 2 BWRERERE
HEEABEAMN OB ERIT (2014F 41288 H
TL) o AREVERZELEHRITEEMAERR-

RE B B i B R B 120K 2 8 Uk BR FAR 1 5
& AR RIE AT LR 2S5 aHBBE120K
Z IR EBR R — ARt N aT Uk [E] - & IR B 27 1)) BS 5R

BEZERKRESERERRFZEEER-

REFRE 2 &

2014

HK$'M

BEBT

Balance at beginning of the year FUHEER 21.4 33.7
Impairment loss (reversed) recognised on FEWEBR R 2 B (#E) R

receivables BEEE (5.6) 5.7

Amounts recovered during the year FAUE Z FIE (0.5) 0.8)

Amounts written off as uncollectible W 8E A EE W E 2 FIE - (15.5)

Currency realignment Bz - (1.7)

Balance at end of the year FRERR 15.3 21.4

The fair values of the Group’s trade receivables at 31 March
2015 and 2014 approximate the corresponding carrying
amounts due to relatively short-term maturity.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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26. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE ON
CONTRACT WORK

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

26. EW/ENEHNITRERE

2014
HK$'M
BAEBTT

Contract costs incurred plus recognised FREA 2 & XA INE R
profits less recognised losses i FR B FE R E 18 7,255.0 6,351.6
Less: Progress billings B ¢ A S RN IE (7,363.6) (6,481.5)
(108.6) (129.9)

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEBRBEMZOMULT :

Amounts receivable on contract work JEW & #) T2 FKIA 134.8 78.8
Amounts payable on contract work JERT& 4 TI2FKIA (243.4) (208.7)
(108.6) (129.9)

Both balances of amounts receivable (payable) on contract work
are expected to be settled within twelve months after the end of
the reporting period.

27. PROGRESS PAYMENTS RECEIVABLE

Progress payments receivable represents the amounts
receivable, after deduction of retention money, for construction
contract work, interior and renovation contracts and contracts
for installation of building materials which usually fall due within
30 days after the work is certified.

Management closely monitors the credit quality of progress
payments receivables. 100% (2014: 83%) of the progress
payments receivable are neither past due nor impaired and
are considered to be of good credit quality based on historical
repayment from the debtors.

The aged analysis of progress payments receivable is as follows:

Within 30 days
31 - 60 days

30AN
31 -60X

et () &M T2 ABHHNHE HARE
FH2EA RS-

27. EWEERIE

FENCE B FRIEEHIBRRE SR BREESLN
T2 RMHRBESOARTEREMHEHNZ
TR AR T RESRERIORAN -

EREERYEERKEERBEZEEEZ AR
BB AZERESL - BRI R E 2 FE e
JEFRIEZ2100% (20144F : 83% ) iR A EB R 4T
EEEx-

PATR 75 8 W HE TR 308 2 AR lie 0 4T

2014
HK$'M
BEET
96.7 52.2
- 11.0

96.7 63.2

The following is an aging analysis of progress payments
receivable which are past due but not impaired:

31 -60 days 31 -60X

PATR 3 B 8 BB 15 AR (B 8 WO R B0R 2 BR ik
AT

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
- 11.0
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

28. RETENTION MONEY RECEIVABLE

Retention money receivable in respect of construction contract
work, interior and renovation contracts and contracts for
installation of building materials are settled in accordance with
the terms of respective contracts.

Retention money is usually withheld from the amounts
receivable for work certified. 50% of the retention money is
normally due upon completion and the remaining 50% portion
is due upon finalisation of the construction accounts. Retention
money receivable amounting to HK$158.4 million (2014:
HK$86.2 million) is expected to be settled within twelve months
from the end of the reporting period.

29. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(A)  AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-
trade nature, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms
of repayment. The directors of the Company anticipated the
carrying values approximate their fair values due to relatively
short-term maturity.

(B) OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of
the Group’s deposits, other financial assets and pledged bank
deposits to secure short-term bank loans at the end of the
reporting period approximate their corresponding fair value due
to relatively short-term maturity.

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-trade
nature, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The bank deposits, both pledged and non-pledged, carry
interest at market rates.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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REA NI R RMEER L RREREN
K w2z BERESRBIEBEA O 2 BREE -

RES — MR E 5B TR 2 ERGIEF G - (R
B & 2 50%38 5 70 Fe A B B HR - R T 2 50%8
REERER B B AERREIE - 81584888 T
(20144F : 86.2E &8 70) 2 EUWRE L TEHS R
HMEH KRB 1288 RES -

.Am&mﬁé

( ) [\:J‘Iy ZZN\/_\ IE

A€ N ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ*#%%ﬁ%‘%%
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30. TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are
trade payables of HK$243.1 million (2014: HK$217.0 million), an
aged analysis presented based on the payment due date at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

30. ENEZ RN BERES
g2H

ENESRZ BENEAERATBIEENES
BRF2431AEB T (20145 : 217.08 B4 T) -
T ARBREHRIZE PN RBEE D 2 REK
DA :

2014

HK$'M

BEBT

Not yet due i8] 7 21 2R 185.7 172.6
Overdue: EH -

0 - 60 days 0 - 60X 34.2 20.1

61 — 90 days 61 - 90K 1.7 0.7

Over 90 days FBB90K 21.5 23.6

243.1 217.0

The average credit period on purchases of goods and payment
for subcontractor works is 90 days.

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of
trade payables at the end of the reporting period approximate
their corresponding fair value due to relatively short-term
maturity.

The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include
provisions for certain construction obligations of HK$328.5
million (2014: HK$338.8 million). In the course of the property
development activities, the Group is obliged to construct certain
common or public facilities within the development projects

in accordance with the development plans approved by the
relevant authorities. Provision for such construction costs

has been made when a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of this obligation and the details of the movement of the
provision are set out below:

REEREXNSRIRRBEZ FTHEESR
90K °

AR ARYRE BARREERRENE
RN IRE PR BREERELERERQFEN
2

ENESEN BEREFERRIERSE TESE
AYEFTERE328.58 &8 T (20144 : 338.8H
EBTT) AKBETYERETSH ZBREFR
ARBEBE RIEZ BRTE REREEN
SEETALKAREZM AL KREBERA
L EME AR S BIEL I S0 BZE
FESEPK AN ME B - I TR ME 2 B E) R IEES
T

HK$’'M

BEBT

Balance at 1 April 2013 R2013F4 18 2 &84 371.3
Utilised during the year FAZA (32.5)
Balance at 31 March 2014 201453 A31 H 2 #ith 338.8
Utilised during the year FANH A (2.5)
Reversed during the year F RO (7.8)
Balance at 31 March 2015 201538310 =z &tk 328.5
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. IEERBIE
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets UTAERRZEZELEHREA (BB EENR
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior ERROIEBAERSFEZE

reporting years:

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated change of profits of
tax investment Tax aPRC
depreciation  properties losses  subsidiary Others Total
RENE HENEAE
MERERE ATERE HEFE THIREH Hity st

HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAR BEE®xL  EBBER  HEART  BEBBR  RBEAR

(note)
(BaE)
At1 April 2013 1201354718 (189.4) 332) 379 276) 265 (1908)
Currency realignment EHER 0.3 0.1 (0.6) - 0.2 (0.4)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss HENEIIEE 11.4 (31.9) (27.9) - 32 (45.2)
Credit to investment STARES S
revaluation reserve - - - - 0.4 0.4
At 31 March 2014 201435318 (177.1 (70.) 94 076) 29.9 (236.0)
Currency realignment ERAE 04 ©0.1) 0.3 - - -
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (M) st ABRS (11.1) 20.4 (3.6) - 7.9) (1.4)
Charge to investment MR E SRS
revaluation reserve - - - - 0.9 0.9
At 31 March 2015 2015538318 (188.4) (49.7) 55 (27.6) 25 (237.7)
Note: These mainly represent net deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised in Mgk : WHEBRTE THERRER RSB EFAERZE
relation to unrealised profit of certain property development projects. EHBEE (BRE)FME-
For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement MERGREUBEMRAERME BT ECEREEE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities FaEERAEE 2 2T BURIKE - U TARAR
have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting 2B MR IB LS (RER) 9T
policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
(after offset) for financial reporting purposes:
2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Deferred tax liabilities BRI A & (241.3) (240.1)
Deferred tax assets FEEFIAE EE 3.6 4.1
(237.7) (236.0)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused REERR  NEBEREANIEEIER1,195.18
tax losses of HK$1,195.1 million (2014: HK$1,086.1 million) BB (20145 :1,086. 18 &%E L) - ATARIE
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset SRR T - R 4933. 3B BB T (20144 : 57.0
has been recognised in respect of approximately HK$33.3 BEBT)BEERRELHBEE - AREE
million (2014: HK$57.0 million) of such losses. No deferred TERIARAOHEFRA - B BB ER%E1,161.88 8
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining 7T (20144F : 1,029.1 8 B8 7T ) ERIELER I8

HK$1,161.8 million (2014: HK$1,029.1 million) due to the BE-
unpredictability of future profit streams.
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$172.7 million (2014: HK$227.2
million) mainly arising from impairment losses recognised in
respect of property, plant and equipment and inventory. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

32. BANK AND OTHER LOANS

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

RBERR AEBEZAYE  BEL&EN
RFEZ BERREEEBTSI B2 AR RE
¥ A172.7TASEBIT (20145 : 227 2AEBT) ©

AR R K A B 78 FE =R B0 A1) A] FA R 88 BT H0URL

TR AR AW ERZS R TR EEER
EERIBEE °

2 BITREMER

2014
HK$'M
BEATT
Bank loans (note a) RITER (MisEa) 4,886.7 5,064.0
Bonds and notes (note b) BEH RZEE (faEb) 943.3 964.7
5,830.0 6,028.7

Less: Amount included under current WoETAREBBE &5

liabilities (including bank loans with a (BIEEB MR ZK

repayable on demand clause) EBIKERZETER) (2,433.6) (2,321.0)
Amount included under non-current liabilites T AIEREIBEZ £ 5 3,396.4 3,707.7

Bank and other loans are repayable: RITREME AR TS

HAPR (B AR -
On demand or within one year BERH—FR 2,433.6 2,321.0
Between one and two years —FEMFN 149.5 2,611.8
Between two and five years MEERFN 2,453.1 303.7
More than five years i8R A F 793.8 792.2
5,830.0 6,028.7
Secured BHEH 740.5 446.3
Unsecured R AR 5,089.5 5,582.4
5,830.0 6,028.7
Notes: Bt 3 -

(a) Asat 31 March 2015, the Group’s bank borrowings carry interest at an
average margin of 1.92% (2014: 1.70%) plus Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR?”) or other relevant interbank offered rates.

(b) On 2 April 2013, the Company issued principal amount of HK$560.0 million
7-year unlisted notes at a coupon rate of 4.5% per annum. Subsequently on

10 April 2013, the Company established a US$1.0 billion Medium Term Note
Programme (“MTN Programme”). In May 2013, a total principal amount of
HK$238.0 million 7-year unlisted notes at a coupon rate of 4.3% per annum was
issued under the MTN Programme. As at 31 March 2015, the remaining bond with
principal amount of HK$149.5 million (2014: HK$172.5 million) carried interest at a
margin of 0.8% (2014: 0.8%) plus the relevant interbank offered rates per annum.

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of
the Group’s bank and other loans at the end of the reporting
period approximates their corresponding fair value.

(@ M2015F3A31H  AEERITEEIZ1.92% (20144 :
1.70% ) 2 FH2E B RINE B RITRER S Rk M ABRT R
TRIERS RS-

(o) M20135F4A2H + N AR FEITAEL560.08 BAE T F
MR G F4.5%ZEF S5t B2 IF E & - BE142 2013544
108 A A AR 10.0BE T 2 F HAZ R & ([ BHEET
1) - R20135F5 7  RIBFHARB EIR BT A S 4%50238.0
BEBLZ EFHREF43%EEAEFTEZIELTERE - R
20153 A31H ' #h NMEHAE140.58 BT (2014F : 172.5
BEAT)REF0.8% (20145 : 0.8% ) 22 B R INARIR
TRIERSRFTE -

ARBESRR RBERR ARERITRHE
fER REEELAREAFERE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

33. OTHER LIABILITIES

33. HittE &

2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Advances from non-controlling shareholders ~ JE42 A% A% B8 2 EA 3% (B 7%)

(note) 238.6 543.8
Club debentures SMES 855.4 862.4
Others HAh 14.2 14.2

1,108.2 1,420.4

Less: Amount due within one year BETARBABEL —FA
included under current liabilities F #5508 (76.9) (14.0)
Amount due after one year —F 1% B HAFUE 1,031.3 1,406.4

Note: The amount represents advances from non-controlling shareholders of
certain subsidiaries to finance operations of those subsidiaries. As at 31 March
2015, included in advances from non-controlling shareholders is an amount of
HK$157.0 million (2014: HK$459.9 miillion) which bear interest at 3-month HIBOR
plus 3.5% (2014: 3-month HIBOR plus 2.5%). The amounts are unsecured and not
repayable within one year. In addition, the balance of HK$76.2 million (2014: nil) is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and is required to be settled within twelve months
from the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group has repaid the balance of

HK$484.8 million (2014: HK$100.0 million) including interest accrued to one of the
non-controlling shareholders.

Club debentures are redeemable on their maturity dates, which

Misk: ZRIERAE THE AR ZEERBREMRH 22K A
LA 2 M B A R & BT - 1201563 A318  JEIEMRAR
R 2 B R B AZE157.08 88T (20144 : 45095 &
77T ) #231E B BAE S R 1T R 3£ 47 2 K In3.5% (20144 : 1231
AEIEBBRITRERERMN2.5% )58 - xEHIBAEIKIFR
HBAR—FRNEE - HIN BET762BEBTT (20145 : #£) &
AR - 2 B RANRE BARE121E A R -

REZE201563A31HIEFE  AEBE mEF — & IFERA
HREE 58484 8E BB T (20145 : 10008 EBT) (BFED
FTAE) -

EMESANEERIHNEERD

are as follows: T
2014
HK$'M
BEATT
Within 1 year —F R 0.7 14.0
Over 1 year but within 5 years —F A FBRFURA 42,9 375
Over 5 years and before 2047 AF LA _E K20474F Z B - 0.5
In 2047 20474 811.8 810.4
855.4 862.4

These debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured and
are issued to members of the following clubs operated by the
Group:

HEEFHRRE  BERRBETTTIEAE
BAEEcEMMNER

2014

HK$'M

BEBTT

Discovery Bay Golf Club mEESRARE 663.7 663.8
Discovery Bay Marina Club Mg EREe 43.6 52.0
Discovery Bay Recreation Club wRERYLY 148.1 146.6
855.4 862.4

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of
the Group’s other liabilities at the end of the reporting period
approximates their corresponding fair values.
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34. DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amount of the Group’s deposits received and other financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period approximates their
corresponding fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity.

Included in deposits received and other financial liabilities are
property sales deposits of HK$92.0 million (2014: HK$104.6
million) expected to be recognised as sales in profit or loss
within twelve months.

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &

U EREREREMEMERE

ARREERR BRAKE 22 WRE KEM
TRABZIHAMPEERE MR HERR &
EFRAZFHREREEARAFERS -

BElEekEME A ET2EREHM2(E A
NN BT ERAHEE ZMEHERE2.08
BT (20144 1046A BB TT) o

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. R4
2015 & 2014
Number of
shares HK$’'M
B2 BEAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each B HEE0.258 T 2 TR
Authorised: JETEREA
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and M201354 H1H - 20144
31 March 2015 3H31H K%20154F3H31H 2,000,000,000 500.0
Issued and fully paid: BT R R
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and R2013F4 A1H 20144
31 March 2015 3H31H K&20154F3H31H 1,350,274,367 337.5

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(A) THE COMPANY'S SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 8 September
2011 which permits the directors of the Company to grant
options to all directors (including any executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors),
full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a
contract basis) of the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its
associated companies to subscribe for shares in the Company.
No share option has yet been granted under this scheme.

36. IR HAREETEI

A N7z D EAERTEl
ARARIAR2011F9 A8H £A T Ak (iRt » 3%
HURHARRERALAT  HMHBL AR/
FEBENRZCAMEES (RIEEMNITES
FENTESNBIUIIRNTES)  2REB RE
] A& £ 72 U HE F /9 BB [ 4% AT 3R B KA Bl X
19 2 B HARE o LT 2107 2 4% B (T (el I& {0 HA g -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

(B) HANISON'S SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Hanison, a subsidiary of the Company, also operates a share
option scheme (the “Hanison’s share option scheme”). The
Hanison’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to

a resolution passed on 21 September 2011 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees of Hanison, and will expire on 20 September

2021. Under the Hanison’s share option scheme, the board of
directors of Hanison may grant options to directors and eligible
employees of Hanison, to subscribe for shares of Hanison.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may

be granted under the Hanison'’s share option scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of Hanison in issue at
the date of approval of the Hanison’s share option scheme
without prior approval from the shareholders of Hanison. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any one
year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of Hanison

in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
shareholders of Hanison.

Options granted under the Hanison’s share option scheme must
be taken up within 14 days from the date of grant and upon
payment of HK$1 as considerations for the options granted.
Options granted and vested may be exercised at any time within
ten years the date of grant of the share option. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of Hanison, and will not be
less than the higher of:

— the closing price of the shares of Hanison as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant;

— the average closing price of the shares of Hanison as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days of the Stock Exchange immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

— the nominal value of a share of Hanison on the date of grant.
At 31 March 2015, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the

Hanison’s share option scheme was 28,776,000, representing
5.4% of the shares of Hanison in issue at that date.
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The following table discloses movements of share options held TEREBFARAAREE 2 EERESHRE
by employees and directors of the Company and Hanison s 2 B (7 BRRERT BB < IRt B i

during the year under the Hanison’s share option scheme:

Number of share options
R EESE
Exercise
price Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding
per share as at during during as at
Category of participant Date of grant Exercise period (HK$) 1.4.2014 the year the year 31.3.2015
2R R20145 120155
| 4A1A 3A31H
SHEEER R A Cagcd (Bx) HATE RERRE RERTE ie R AT
Directors of the Company and 26.11.2014 26.11.2014 - 1.35 - 8,040,000 - 8,040,000
Hanison 25.11.2019
AREREBES
Directors of Hanison 26.11.2014 26.11.2014 - 1.35 = 7,060,000 = 7,060,000
HpES 25.11.2019
Employees of Hanison 26.11.2014 26.11.2014 - 1.35 - 13,676,000 - 13,676,000
FES 25.11.2019
- 28,776,000 - 28,776,000
Exercisable at the end of the year 28,776,000
RERAITHE
The fair value of the share options is determined using the feip i s AFERA BN AR EEENE
binomial option pricing model. The variables and assumptions TEorERMEIEATERA J#HAEZRERHK
used in computing the fair values of the share options are based TDEREE 2 R EMET - TBENK IR D ERE RN
on the director’s best estimates. Expected volatility is based BAERF ZRERIERES - T8RS R T EN H
on the historical share price volatility of Hanison over the past BBRAMRRE - ERRAER ZBREH2ERL
5 years. Expected dividend yield is based on the historical AE 2 B TR T SR - HREE/ETET
dividend payment of Hanison. The risk-free interest rate is FERZZ2AZEEREZMAR -
assumed with reference to Hong Kong dollar swap rate zero
coupon yield as at the grant date. The value of an option varies
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
Inputs into the model ZIEN 2w ABUE
Hanison’s share
option scheme
% 2 B% 7
HfEstE
Grant date share price BB ZRE HK$1.35/1.35/ 7T
Exercise price 1T1E(E HK$1.35/1.35/%8 7T
Expected volatility TEHR R 18 22.73%
Expected option life TEET HA#E F 5B 5 years/5%F
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B % 3.93%
Risk-free interest rate A2 o B ) 1.58%
The Group recognised an expense of HK$5.7 million (2014: nil) AEBREE2015F3 4318 I FZ 7t B R
for the year ended 31 March 2015 in relation to share options 2 B B RERE SR 5.7 B &8 7T (20144 ¢
granted by Hanison. |) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes long-term bank and other loans, short-term bank loans
and other borrowings as disclosed in Notes 32 and 33, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on

a periodic basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

37. EXE R EE

RERAKERE TS ERAIAESELE &8
EHEEAETER WEBEER RN ZER
REFEMRRRBSEHEADE - AEBE 2 B8
RESEBEFERITIE

AEE 2 EANEBERERFE (EPEEME
323K ER 2 RHIIRTT MM E K - G HIRTT
ERRHEMEE HEReMRSFEEB)R
ARBEEANEE#EE (BREEBETRAN #HE
R RFHEM)

ARBEF TR ENGEE - ERRET 2 — 8
D ARBERERERESRNANSTREARZE
HER -REARTEETZES ARE/MEER
IR BB~ BATHA - B A R BT E S 3
BOREER EUTFEBRRBELGEE-

38. £ TH
T AR 2585

2014
HK$'M
AEBTT
Financial assets SEEE
Held-to-maturity investments BRI E 237.3 261.5
Loans and receivables (including cash and BERMERGIE (B
cash equivalents) RekBEeFEIER) 6,893.1 6,308.3
Available-for-sale financial assets, AMHESREE"
at fair value EAFE 90.8 83.8
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Amortised cost BB 7,524.2 7,894.0
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include held-to-
maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, trade
receivables, progress payments receivable, retention money
receivable, other financial assets, amounts due from associates,
amounts due from joint ventures, pledged bank deposits,

bank balances and cash, trade payables, deposits received
and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign
currency risk as majority of the Group’s sales and purchases
are denominated in currency which is the functional currency of
the respective group entities except for certain bank balances,
loans to joint ventures and held-to-maturity investments which
are denominated in foreign currency, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’” foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as
follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &

T AR E R B R REBUR

AEETZCRTASRSEIHRE AI#H
EEMEE RBREZRR BUCERERE &
WRE S H SR8 E - U2 A R30R
e A& &R AIFIR  ERMIRITFR  RITHE
EkRE BNEZEN CUWEZSREMESRE
B RITKEGEFAREMEE -ZZERT
HFBENEEN T - ZF2RTEEBARRE
EmHER (E8EE  F = E R &2 ERE

) EERBANREEER - AnADREZF

BZEREN T -EEEEELERZFA
Eﬁ AR N By [ B RUHET T B 15 e

SH AR

BRETRITER ERXTERERRRFEIIMIKR
BUANEMAIFABRASEERIEERIE
S REBEAREDEELAEHEEER 26
ERIIE AR E Y B AR EARINEE A

2014

HK$'M

Currency g% BEBT
Renminbi AR 457.6 547.5 - =
US dollar ETT 4,749.9 4,949.5 - =
Thai baht Zeik 336.8 319.5 - =
Others HAh 50.3 47.0 - =
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Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of Renminbi,
US dollar and Thai baht.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
decrease in the functional currency of the respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for
a 5% weakening of the functional currency of the respective
group entities against the relevant currency and a positive
number below indicates an increase in profits for the year and
in exchange reserve. For a 5% strengthening of the functional
currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
profits for the year and exchange reserve.

g B B % e A i

R T
AEEEBEAZARY ELRFHELEZ K
R -

TRFAVNAEEHNAEEEER 2 REER L
MHEINEER T E5% 2 BEE - 5% RRAEERE
BABRRERINERRAA CHEER  ABE
BEEHERSIRAIGEEE) 27 - GUREDITE
BRSNS E 2 AAGEERER - WRER
AR EBE R RER 7 5%EE) - T 51|51 Bt
HESEER 2 EB L HEBINERZ(E% 2
FE TREBRTAFZENRIEL FHiB2E
e fHEAEEER 2 EER L AREE 1R
5% 2 FHE » Bl & B AR B s ) I B 31 1 e ok
R EERE -

Increase in
Increase in profits exchange reserve
a8 48 Hn BE 541

2014 2014

HK$'M HK$'M

Currency g% BEBIT BEBIT
Renminbi AR 229 27.4 - —
US dollar = 36.9 46.9 200.6 200.6
Thai baht B3 1.6 0.9 15.1 15.1

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
held-to-maturity investments (see Note 21) and fixed-rate bank
deposits and borrowings (see Notes 32 and 39). The Group

is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits and borrowings (see Notes 32 and
39), variable-rate advance from a non-controlling shareholder
(see Note 33) and mortgage instalment receivables (see Note
22). It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.
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The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk

is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR or other
relevant interbank offered rates arising from the Group’s
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments

at the end of the reporting period. The variable-rate bank
deposits have been excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management of the Group considered that the interest rate
fluctuation is not significant. For variable-rate bank borrowings,
variable-rate advance from non-controlling shareholder and
mortgage instalment receivables, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability and asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnels

and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s:

o profit for the year ended 31 March 2015 would decrease/
increase by HK$23.7 million (2014: HK$25.2 million). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates

on its variable-rate bank borrowings and mortgage instalment
receivables.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through

its investments in both listed and unlisted securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of the prices of
securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation
rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including taxation
law), trade barriers, currency exchange controls, and national
and international political circumstances, if applicable.

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on

the exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting
date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had been
5% higher/lower:

° investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease
by HK$4.4 million (2014: HK$4.0 million) for the Group as a
result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

° the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position; and

° the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 41.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting

period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

With respect to credit risk arising from loan to an investee,
amounts due from associates and amounts due from joint
ventures, the Group reviews the recoverable amount at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The exposure to
credit risk is limited.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk in connection with held-
to-maturity investments, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings and corporates with strong financial position.
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Other than amounts due from associates amounting to HK$40.4
million (2014: HK$45.5 million), the Group does not have

any other significant concentration of credit risk over trade
receivables. Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors

and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2015, the Group has available unutilised
overdraft and bank loan facilities of approximately HK$5,043.7
million (2014: HK$4,697.9 million).

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the board of directors of the Company, which has built
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the
management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms except for the bank loans with a repayable on demand
clause. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of
the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=20154F3 431 H L F &

Liquidity risk table YN -
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within Over undiscounted  amount at
1 year S5years  cash flows 31 March
RERS KEE  H3ASMA
—-EREE REENE BERAE ZEAE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEATR BEAR BEAR BEATR
2015 20154
Non-derivative financial liabilities £ & RmEE
Trade payables and accrued charges JER B SEZ K ETER 376.4 20.9 - - 397.3 397.3
Deposits received and BEhreRAMERAR
other financial liabilities 188.7 - - - 188.7 188.7
Bank and other loans RITREMER
- fixed-rate -ER 35.2 35.2 105.7 795.2 971.3 793.8
~ Variable-rate -38 25228 204.3 2,536.1 - 5,263.2 5,036.2
Other liabilties HiBfE 76.9 14.8 2387 811.9 1,142.3 1,108.2
Financial guarantee contracts HBERER 184.5 - - - 1845 -
3,384.5 275.2 2,880.5 1,607.1 8,147.3 7,524.2
2014 20144
Non-derivative financial liabilities F{T4£ & BE &
Trade payables and accrued charges [ B 5 R R BT & H 275.8 17.8 = = 293.6 293.6
Deposits received and BEheRAMERER
other financial liabilities 151.3 - - - 151.3 151.3
Bank and other loans BRITREMER
- fixed-rate -EB 36.2 36.2 105.5 828.9 1,004.8 7922
- variable-rate -%8 1,490.8 2,660.9 1,240.8 - 5,382.5 5,236.5
Other liabilties Hit g fa 14.0 572.3 36.8 810.9 1,434.0 1,420.4
Financial guarantee contracts HBERER 158.2 - - = 158.2 =
2,1256.3 3,276.2 1,383.1 1,639.8 8,424.4 7,894.0
As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, all bank loans are classified in 20154 k2014463 H318 - R RITEE TR
respective time band based on the agreed repayment terms REZERS UABEREYE EFABERE
except for the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause. SKAB B G TR Z SRITE FRER I o
The amounts included above for variable interest rate FHFAFETESRABBEZIETRE 2S5 ¥R
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject FEVF R 2 B E BN RE BREE 2 (AR FIE
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those BEEERRELES-
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.
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Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “Repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2015, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans amounted
to HK$690.2 million (2014: HK$1,005.5 million). Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks

will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such
bank loans as at 31 March 2015 will be repaid within two

to four (2014: three to five) years after the reporting date in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in

the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows will amount to HK$706.2 million (2014:
HK$1,041.9 million).

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

FAIR VALUE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

° the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in
unlisted equity securities which are measured at fair value using
valuation techniques based on inputs that can be observed in
the market in addition to unobservable inputs such as company
specific financial information (Note 21).

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &

BATRER B2 RERIGRZRITEERT AL LS
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EHE  ZFRITEFN2015F3A31HiFIL R
BERmETR T ERBE RRE B8 =
ZE0(2014F == h)FREE - BR A& Xk
FEIB SR EE K A706. 28 8B 7T (20144 :
1,041.9B&857T) °

LB ERE DA ANSRIRETHR
BEREBERAKERBELHFAEN2BERS
BENRRTE - RENBEHROES A5H
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WEREERREEER-
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39. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH 39 RERBEEEEEE&D
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS A
2014
HK$' M
BEBT
Bank balances and cash RITEHEBRNIRE 5,520.0 5,311.8

Included in the bank balances and cash at 31 March 2015 were R2015F3A31 8 ' IRTTEBR MR BIEAHY

bank deposits with maturity within 3 months from the date of 5,448.8F 8 7T (20144 : 5,270.6 A BB L) X
placement amounting to approximately HK$5,448.8 million A ER B ET31E A M) Bl 2 SR1T1F 5K

(2014: HK$5,270.6 million).

The effective interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March SRITAE R 2015F3 331 B 2 B R A 1L FF F &
2015 were in the range of 0.01% to 2.63% (2014: 0.01% to 0.01%%2.63% (20144 : 0.01%%£3.55% ) Z
3.55%) per annum. The directors of the Company consider the N R AR EERBAEBNRITER KRS
carrying amount of the Group’s bank balances and cash at the RERE AR 2 BREE AR E A ERE -
end of the reporting period approximates their corresponding
fair value.
40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 40. EEEKH
As at 31 March 2015, certain subsidiaries of the Company had R2015F3A31H AR AE THEBRAREEE
pledged bank deposits of HK$83.7 million (2014: HK$51.8 AR IRITIF5X83.7H BA T (20144F : 51.8F B
million) to secure banking facilities being granted. BIL) MERERBITEE CEM -
In addition, as at 31 March 2015, certain bank loans of the AN 720153 A31H  BREIE % 5l £869.78
Group were secured by certain investment properties, leasehold 2787 (2014F :661.8B &5 T) 234588
land and buildings, properties held for sale and properties T (20145 1 24 6B &E B L) ~1,1146B 88T
held for/under development for sale, at the carrying value of (20144 : ) ] & (20144F - 467 2B BB TT) 2
HK$869.7 million (2014: HK$661.8 million), HK$23.4 million ETREDE HETHRET BIEHEME
(2014: HK24.6 million), HK$1,114.6 million (2014: nil) and nil MBEHE 2 ER/ZARTMHECIEATER 2
(2014: HK$467.2 million), respectively. ATHRTERZ K-
41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES M. RAREE
2014
HK$'M
BEATT
Guarantees given, to the extent of the LA 7 & 3] B e B I A PR
Group’s proportionate share, in respect RWRELTNEE AT
of banking facilities granted to an investee BEEMIRTEEELZ
company and a joint venture (note a) R (Fiska) 164.9 158.2
Guarantees given by a subsidiary in MBARRAEBEYEER
respect of mortgage facilities granted to BEZBEFEL 2
purchasers of the Group’s properties R (FsEb)
(note b) 19.6 —
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &

Notes:

o

(@) No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been recognised in @ ARAEZRE ARUBERZAFELTERKN  HIE

the consolidated financial statements as, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee was insignificant.

(b) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of these financial (o) RNRREERA
guarantee contracts are insignificant at initial recognition and no provision for
financial guarantee contracts has been made at the end of the reporting period as

the directors of the Company consider that the possibility of default of the parties

involved is remote.

42. COMMITMENTS

42. EIE

ENREMBRRABRTBERENZEE-

P ZERBERENZ A FERIIAER
BYTNERN AAREERR/EMALEOZATEMEERN &
UL RS BRI B S B IS B (R A KO E I L -

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Contracted but not provided for in the ERNERANGEE TS
consolidated financial statements R PR
— expenditure in respect of properties held -BERES 2B R/
for/under development for sale BRI 2 AP 740.7 508.6
— capital expenditure in respect of - REMEANRDE BE
investment properties and property, NSl 2 B AN A
plant and equipment 7741 81.0
- others — EAh 39.0 12.9
1,553.8 602.5
Authorised but not contracted for BEHEEREL
— expenditure in respect of properties held -BERE 2B R/
for/under development for sale BRI 2 AE 615.3 344.0
— capital expenditure in respect of - REMENRDE BE
investment properties and property, NSl 2 B AN A
plant and equipment 151.1 7.7
766.4 351.7
2,320.2 954.2
The outstanding capital commitments in respect of the Group’s REERAF B R 2RI ERFEEE R
interest in Dazhongli is disclosed in Note 20. FF20HR 1 55 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

43. LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
THE GROUP AS LESSEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall due
as follows:

43. HEZH

REER AEFEA

FASR 4 B S - 7 82 B4R 95 0 A > T AT 5
(ST E T AR A TR S 2 kR R (R
REEE BT -

2014

HK$'M

AEBT

Within one year —FR 26.4 20.8
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERF

(BREERME) 20.3 7.1

Over five years RAFEMRE 7.2 7.3

53.9 35.2

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and staff quarters. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals are fixed
for an average term of one to two years.

THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and
other properties during the year was HK$347.1 million (2014:
HK$328.0 million) in aggregate, of which HK$340.4 million
(2014: HK$323.5 million) was generated from investment
properties of the Group. Investment properties and other
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$7,729.2
million (2014: HK$7,464.9 million) were held for rental purposes
at the end of the reporting period. Depreciation charge for the
year in respect of other properties was HK$1.3 million (2014:
HK$1.3 million). The properties held have committed tenants for
a period from one to thirteen years. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following
future minimum leases payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

EERERS NAREREHATWERET
mREA 2 A - ME Pl A Fi1
EoE RS TR -

AEBSHEA

WEYHEREMYENFARARIZ MER UK

AEHE347 1A EBTT (2014 : 328.08 &5

gC) + EfR340.48 BT (20144 : 323.58 B8
T REAEEIREME - RS HK - BRAES
H7,72020B BB T (20144 : 7,464 9B B TT)
ZIREMEREMYETFERER SR AT
NEBEMMEZITES T A1.388/E T (2014
F13BEET) A YMEHE REMEL
HR1Z13FTE - NI EHR  AEBE EETH
FETH - MRE T BsE &S ER T2 2 E
HZ AREEBEMKOT :

2014

HK$'M

BEATT

Within one year —F R 222.9 272.8
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERF

(BIEERMF) 149.0 143.3

Over five years RAEE 10.6 4.6

382.5 420.7
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44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
(A) HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance, a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (‘“MPF
Scheme”) with employer’s voluntary contributions has been
established on 1 December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 effective 1 June
2014 for the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by
the employee.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents contributions
payable of HK$34.0 million (2014: HK$33.0 million) to the
MPF Scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the schemes less forfeitures of HK$3.1 million (2014: HK$3.5
million) arising from employees leaving the Group prior to
completion of the qualifying service period.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited
contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which are available to reduce
the contributions payable in future years (2014: nil).

(B) THE PRC AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in the PRC and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local governments in relevant
jurisdictions. The Group is required to contribute and recognise
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligations of the Group with respect

to these schemes are to make the specified contributions

and recognise the respective retirement pay in accordance
with terms set out in the schemes and relevant jurisdiction
requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-
mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$3.3 million (2014: HK$8.8 million).

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3A31H [ F &

44. RIR@ER 5 E

A BE

BEEEHEATESFTEED aflEAESE
2| ([eEeTE]) Bg = 8 FE 5 E R 20004
12 A1H R »

HEESEZKEMS  AEBNIEEHTIE
RN Z 5% ¥R IE S FT B - mFES TR
& AU A LR A30,00058 7T (74201446 A1
BAER) - M AT H AR 8 FrEEFIBEAR -

RBEG 2 BB AREBBIERESTERTE
AR ERMAN 2 #3K34.08 &8 7T (20144
33.0BBET) WKk E TERKE EEREH
IABTBEFI A £ B AR 2 BEES 1 B BB T (2014
F:3588BT) -

RBEHRR WARAEE TREZFRIAEHE
IR M Z R - I F R AT R R B F 2 &
R IR (20145 - &) -

B HEK&EIN

AEBEFREKREIMEE RHEREEERS B
2B ER 2B ERARERETE 2K E - &
SEBARTIEKARNZIETE R 7 LA B4t
RUERIERBHARNGEIZES Bt FEtE
M ASBZE—BERELRE 2 HRK
WARBZ T 8l 2 63 R B A Rl AR [ 2 3 TE T
REBZERSE -

MR BRE R AER ZETEINERIIGR 22
KAL) B3.3EEB T (20145 :88F BB T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES

(@) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have
their principal place of operations in Hong Kong are as follows:

31 March 2015

20153H31H
Equity interest
Issued share attributable
Name of company capital to the Group
33
ARLTE BRITRA BEzRE
HK$ %
B Bk
Ace Spring Limited 1 100
MR BRAR
Allmedco Group Limited 1,500,000 45.6"
AmMed Cancer Center (Central) Limited 2 100
AmMed Hong Kong Limited 10,000 100
REEREBERAR
Beaufort Hotels Limited 1 100
Cardiomed Limited 1 100
FHREERAR
Discovery Bay Commercial 2 50**

Senvices Limited
R EREREERAR

Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50**

Discovery Bay Financial 2 50**
Services Limited
BRENBEREERAA

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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5. TEHBAT BEATR
SEATH

(@) EBEAEMAZLRTEZLEMIMLNESE

ZEEMBRRIFEOT
31 March 2014
201443H31H
Equity interest
Issued share attributable
capital to the Group Principal activities
K5E
BREARAK BERE EE2XEH
HK$ %
BT Bl
1 100 Property investment
NERE
1,500,000 45.6*  Trading of medical and
dental equipment and
supplies
BERERETRIR
R m
2 100 Provision of cancer
treatment service and
diagnostic imaging
service
RECERDSRRY
FEZ R
10,000 100 Investment holding
REZK
1 100 Provision of hotel
management services
REVEEERRS
1 100 Investment holding
REZR
2 50 Commercial leasing agent
BERERE
400,000 50 Operation of a shipyard
EiBMIE
2 50™  Provision of financial
services to first hand
purchasers of properties
in Discovery Bay
maRENEZ—FER
M B RG



Name of company

AREATE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2015 &{Z=2015%3 8318 It F &

31 March 2015

2015%3H31H
Equity interest
attributable
to the Group
AEE
BEZRE
HK$ %
T Aot

Issued share
capital

BRTRA

Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50**

MRERRAKEERAA

Discovery Bay Hotel Limited 2 50**

Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50**

hREEEEBRAF

Discovery Bay Property Limited 2 50**

RREMEBRAF

Discovery Bay Recreation Club Limited 2 50**

RERERERA

Discovery Bay Road Tunnel 2 50**
Company Limited

WREREERAF

Discovery Bay Services 2 50**
Management Limited

RREREERERAR

Discovery Bay Transit Services Limited 2 50**

WEEZRRBERA

Discovery Bay Transportation 2 50**
Services Limited

BREMEREAER

Emwell Limited 2 49

BEFRRA

Excel Pointer Limited 1 29.4

ERARRA

Fame Wood Limited 2 100

BIBRAER AR

Gains Century Limited 1 100

ERERRAA

31 March 2014

2014

Issued share
capital

BERTHRA
HK$

BT

2

$3A31H
Equity interest
attributable
to the Group
KEH
FaRE
%
BAlt
50*

50**

50

50**

50

50**

50**

50**

50+

49

29.4

100

100

Principal activities

TEER

Provision of club facilities

REEMRIE

Hotel operator

BIEEE

Provision of club facilities
R

Provision of property agency
services

RENERIERS

Provision of club facilities
Rt frak i

Road tunnel operator
BiEEE

Estate manager and
principal lessee of
communication network
in Discovery Bay

ERERRMRERA
Bz EEABA

Provision of bus and garage
services

REE L KBRS
Provision of ferry services
AR 5 PR
Property investment
NERE

Property investment

MERE

Property investment

NERE

Investment holding

BEER

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

31 March 2015
2015%3H31H
Equity interest
attributable
to the Group

Issued share

Name of company capital

eSS BRITRA
HK$
BT

Grace Investment Limited 2

EERBBRAA

Greenyield Limited 2

AABRDA

Hagent Investment Limited 2

HEREABRAA

Hanison Contractors Limited 2

EBEEERAT

Hanison Construction 60,001,000*

Company Limited

BEEEERAR

Hanison Estate Services Limited 2

BEENERBERAF

Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited 4,200,000

EHBEZRREEERAF

Hanison Project Management Limited 2
EEBEEEERAA

Health & Care Dental Clinic Limited 10,100,000
BRINEEMERAR

Health & Care Group Limited 20,510,000
ERBEEEFRAA

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

x%8
BEZRA
%

Ol

100

100

100

49

49

49

49

49

57.05

57.05

31 March 2014

201443H31H
Equity interest
Issued share attributable
capital to the Group
K5E
BREARAE BB ke
HK$ %
BT ARl
2 100
2 100
2 100
2 49
60,001,000* 49
2 49
4,200,000 49
2 49
10,100,000 57.05
20,510,000 57.05

Principal activities

TEEH

Property investment

NERE

Property investment

MERE

Property investment

NERE

Property construction

MERE

Property construction
MR E

Provision of property
management services

REMEERRY

Provision of interior and
renovation services

REEHREE RS

Provision of property leasing
and marketing services
and project management

REMEBERTSHRE
RBARERER

Provision of dental health
and care services and
operation of dental clinics

RETRUR B ER R
REBFRZM

Investment holding and its
subsidiaries are engaged
in development and
operation of dental clinic
chain

REZK mEKBAR
AR EERREEEH
TRZ



Name of company

AREATE

Healthway Medical Centres Limited

REBETLERAT

Hong Kong Health Resort Limited

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited

BEREBRAR
HKR (PRC) Limited
EREE (FE)ERAR

HKR Limited
BBAXKEARAA

HKR Properties Limited
EREZX (WE)ERAA
Lam Island Development
Company Limited
MBS BRAF

Lee Wo Company, Limited
FAAR AR

Million Hope Industries Limited
FEEERAA

Parocka Investments Limited

Partner Ally Limited

FXAERAT

Pearl Development Limited

BEERERAA

Qualigenics Medical Limited
HEBRARAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2015 &{Z=2015%3 8318 It F &

31 March 2015
2015%3H31H

Issued share
capital

BRTRA
HK$
BT

389,243,374.35**

2,000,000

300,000

11,000,000

20

1,000

3,000,000

Equity interest
attributable

to the Group
AEE
BEZRE
%

Aot

100

100

50**

100

100

100

99.99

100

49

100

75

100

80

31 March 2014

2014%3H31A8

Equity interest

Issued share attributable
capital to the Group
£%0

BREIRA FaRE
HK$ %

on BOL

1 100

4 100
389,243,374.35"* 50*
2 100

2 100

2 100
2,000,000 99.99
300,000 100
11,000,000 49
20 100

1,000 75

2 100
3,000,000 80

Principal activities

TEER

Operation of medical
centres
REBEFERL

Property investment

NERE

Investment holding and
property development

REEREDFER

Investment holding

REER

Property management

NEEE

Property investment

NERE

Property development

NEER

Property investment

MERE

Supply and installation of
building materials

HERZRREMR

Property investment

MERE

Investment holding
RABR

Property investment

MERE

Operation of diabetic,
endocrine disorders and
cardiac treatment clinics

REREIRIA - A WA
R R B
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31 March 2015 31 March 2014
20153H31H 201443H31H
Equity interest Equity interest
Issued share attributable Issued share attributable
Name of company capital to the Group capital tothe Group  Principal activities
A&E K5E
AGE: BRTRE RRZRRE BEARE BEZRE  EBEE
HK$ % HK$ %
BT Bak BT B
Quebostage Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BREAERAA mERE
Rainbow Alpha Holdings Limited 1 75° 1 1002  Property development
REZERER AR MEER
Retailcorp Limited 2 49 2 49 Sales of health products
ZEREARAR HERRER
Royston Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
RREEREBRDA REZR
Sanney Limited 1 49 1 49 Property development
BERRAT mEER
Smaragdine Limited 2 100 2 100 Property development
MEER
TCS Project Management Limited 2 100 2 100 Provision of project
management services
RUIER EERG
Tai Kee Pipes Limited 2,000,000 49 2,000,000 49 Trading of building materials
R BRDA BERENH
Trigon Building Materials Limited 2 49 2 49 Supply and installation by
EQERMERARF building materials
HERTRBENE
Triple Sky Limited 1 49 1 49 Property development
MEER
Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100 100,000 100 Property management,
BIGMERBERAF estate manager and
investment holding
NERBERER
U REE R
Wells Property Management Limited 1,000 100 1,000 100 Property management and
BIGMEEBERAF estate manager
NERERER
Yintaly Construction Company Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EHRETRERAR mERE
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* Include ordinary shares in the value of HK$1,000 and deferred shares in the
value of HK$60,000,000. The deferred shares are shares whose shareholders

are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any general meetings nor to
receive any dividend out of operating profit and have very limited rights on return of
capital of the subsidiary.

** According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited (‘HKRC”), the Group is able to control more than half of the voting powers
of the board of directors (which determines the relevant activities) of HKRC and its
subsidiaries.

*** |n addition to 1 ordinary share, 100% in the value of HK$389,243,373.85
deferred shares are also held by the Group. The deferred shares held by the Group
are shares whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote
at any general meetings nor to receive any dividend out of operating profit and
have very limited rights on return of assets of the company.

#  Allmedco Group Limited (“Allmedco”) is classified as a subsidiary of the
Company as it is a 80%-owned subsidiary of Health & Care Group Limited (‘H&C”)
which in turn is a 57.05%-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company has
control over the board of directors of H&C and Allmedco.

2 The equity interest attributable to the Group reduced to 75% with effect from
16 April 2014. The difference between the addition of the non-controlling interests
and the consideration received was insignificant.

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

* BIEEE1,000% T2 ik & (B 860,000,000/ 7T 2 IEIE
B&1D o BT AR D 2 AR R BR BRI BURA - B B EMRRE RS
kg EIRE - AR WERYE & @R P 5 R 2 E RS
REREGZMBARFEEERZERNERIER -

* RERBRXARAR ([HBBEE]) 2R NEE
AAEGEEREXREMNBARZESE OREEERIEE)
Bl REE-

o REFAIRETEBRIN NEETIFE100%EE
389,243,373.85% 7T Z IR IEAZ 1) - ANE B R A IELE D 2 AR
BEEENEIRAN DREARRAGINE LRE  INER
FIWERAE BRI P DR 2 E MRS REERBZAREES
PR 2 & 7= Bl SRAE )

# @M Almedco Group Limited ([Allmedco | ) A2 5 E &
BEARAR ([1E42]) FEE80%ER < MBAR - mEEAAAR
REEAS7.05% s 2 i B R 7] - B Almedcotl 5 8 AN A A)
ZHBAT - ARATEIERKAImedcor EEE B AR

o ANREEEAZBHEB2014F4F16 BB ET5%  FEIE
ERIEMER KRR EZ HNERBALTEK
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(b)  Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company

RAER
Abraham Holdings Limited
Abraham Investment

Holdings Limited

AmMed International
Corporation Ltd.
Beaufort Holdings Limited

Beaufort International Hotels
(Singapore) Pte Ltd

CDW Building Limited

Chinadental Investments Ltd.

GenRx Holdings Limited
RAERERAR

Great Wisdom Holdings Limited

Hanbright Assets Limited

Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited
RERERERAR

Health & Care (Macau) Dental

Group Limited

B (2f) THEEERAR

Healthway Philippines, Inc.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

Place of
incorporation/
registration

MR LB T

Liberia
FLEE

British Virgin Islands
EREARES
Cayman Islands

LA

Cayman Islands

L

Singapore

HR

Cayman Islands

REkS

British Vir{ﬂ] Islands
RBERRNS

British Virgj\ Islands
EREARES

British Virg@ Islands
ABEARES

British Virgin Islands
AREBRES

Cayman Islands

L

Macau
R

Philippines
&R

Principal
place of
operation

IREEDS

Hong Kong

Note*
iz

Note™
Mzt

the**
liE i

Singapore

HE

Hong Kong

Note™

e

Note™
E

Note™

i

Note™

it

Hong Kong
3

Macau
2

Philippines
FEE

g

31 March 2015
2015%3H31H

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital

BRITRE/
EMEA 2 H{E

Usst
(E

US$179,999.96
179,999.96% 7T

HK$10,197,932
10,197,932 71

$$1,000,000
JPY420,240,000
1,000,000 70
420,240,008

HK$5,100,002
5,100,002} 7T

Usst
(E

US$1
157

Uss$
1%

s
1%

HK$53,631,564
53,631,564/ 7T

MOP25,000
25,0008 7T

PHP19,137,500
19,137,500k 2B H 2

Equity interest
attributable
to the Group
r5E

R BRE

%

ARt

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

49

57.05

100

H X EMEBARFENT:

31 March 2014
2014F3A318

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital
BEITRA/
AMEAZmE

Nil
&

US$1
E

US$179,999.96
179,999.96% 70

HK$10,197,932
10,197,932 T

$81,000,000
JPY420,240,000
1,000,000% 7T
420,240,001

HK$5,100,002
5,100,002/ 7

USS$1
e

US$1
e

US$1
1=

US$1
E

HK$53,631,564
53,631,564/ 7T

MOP25,000
25,0002F 7

PHP19,137,500
19,137 5005 B R &

Equity interest
attributable
to the Group
K5E
BEZRE
%

Bl

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

49

57.05

100

Principal activities

E2:3 3

Securities investment

Securities investment

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERR

Property investment

ES

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

RELR

Construgtion, interior
and renovation works,
supply and installation
of building materials,
property investment and
development, provision
of property agency and
management services
and sales of health
products

BE RHRABTR
e R LR
NERERER R
NERBRERRBEMN
REERRER

Operation of dental clinic in
Macau
ERFBETHDH

Investment holding

RAZR



Name of company

REEH

HK Resort International Limited

HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd

HKR China Limited
FREZNEAERAR
HKR Japan KK

HKR Shanghai Limited
EARE DBERARA
HKRJ Akasaka TMK

HKRJ Development Co., Ltd.
HKRJ Graphio GK**

HKRJ Roppongi TMK
HMC, Inc.

Hojo Pte. Ltd.

Mantle Investments Limited

Prinia Pte Ltd

Ruthin Investments Pte Ltd

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

Place of
incorporation/
registration

ML/ B8

Cayman Islands

L

Singapore

HE

British Virg@ Islands
RBERRES

Japan

AR

British Virgin Islands
ABARRES

Japan

BA

Japan

AR

Japan

BA

Japan

BA

Philippines
FEE
Singapore

Hnsg

British Virgin Islands
EBEARES

Singapore
IR

Singapore

HIE

Principal
place of
operation

TEREEDH

Noﬁe**
B

Singapore

#ns

Noﬁe**
B

Japan

AR

Note™
L

Japan

A&

Japan

A&

Japan

A&

Japan

A&

Philippines
FRE
Singapore

H

Note*

i

Singapore
s

Singapore

#i

31 March 2015
2015F3A31H

Nominal value
of issued
share capital/

registered capital
BRTRA/
AMEEEE

HK$2
28T

$$5,000,000
JPY6,872,780,000
THB24,700,000
5,000,000 7¢
6,872,780,0008
24,700,000% 3%

USS$
127

JPY10,000
10,0005

US$1
1%27

JPY2,700,100,000
2,700,100,0008

JPY10,000
10,0008

JPY2,000,000
2,000,000H

JPY4,125,200,000
4,125,200,000F

PHP10,250,000
10,250,000 ZEH R

JPY2,023,260,000
2,023,260,000H

US$t
127

$§2
28

S$2
JPY1,362,730,000
2R
1,362,730,0005

Equity interest
attributable

to the Group
r5E
BEZRE

%

ARl

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

31 March 2014
201438318

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital
BREfIRA/
EMEAZEE

HKS2
28T

5$5,000,000
JPY6,872,780,000
THB24,700,000
5,000,000% 7
6,872,780,0008
24,700,008 4

USS$1
EF

JPY10,000
10,0006

USSt
B

JPY2,700,100,000
2,700,100,0008

JPY10,000
10,0008

JPY2,000,000
2,000,000H

JPY4,125,200,000
4,125,200,000H

PHP10,250,000
10,250,000 ZEHZ

JPY2,023,260,000
2,023,260,000H

US$1
iE

%2
W

S$2
JPY1,362,730,000
B
1,362,730,0008

Equity interest
attributable
to the Group
rERE
Bt
%

BAL

100

100

Principal activities

IEEH

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Property investment
NERE
Investment holding
RERR

Property investment
E3-

Property investment

LESE

Property investment
A

HESE

Property investment

ESIE

Operation of medical clinics
BEREDM

Investment holding

REER

Securities investment

Investment holding
REER

Property investment

ESIE

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 3t # Bt 5%
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

Place of Principal

incorporation/ place of
Name of company registration operation
NGES AMRIAT S FESEDE
Sathorn Park Co., Ltd. Thalland Thailand

| %

Sky Phoenix Enterprises Limited  British Virgj] Islands  Hong Kong
AREBREE B3R

Spa Botanica Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore
AN %
Suki Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore
A R
BE(L8)ERERAF  PRC PRC
M HE
B (LB)EBREABRAR PRC PRC
i i
RRAREXARAR PRC PRC
H H

*  These companies are engaged in securities investment business of the Group

and have no specific principal place of operation.

** These companies act as investment holding companies and have no specific

principal place of operation.

#  These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

31 March 2015
2015%3A31H

Nominal value
of issued
share capital/

registered capital
BRITRE/
dMEAZEE

THB933,600,000
933,600,000 £

Uss$
1=

852
2o

S$1
JPY673,750,000
187
673,750,0008

US$14,000,000
14,000,000% 7T

US$1,500,000
1,500,000% ¢

HK$650,000,000°
650,000,000/ 7T°

#  The Group can enjoy all economic beneficial interest, instead of equity

interest, of the company by contractual terms.

°  The registered capital of the company has been increased from
HK$395,000,000 to HK$650,000,000 with effect from 15 August 2014.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

Equity interest
attributable
to the Group

BH2RE

31 March 2014

2014437318
Nominal value
of issued Equity interest
share capital/ attributable
Ip registered capital tothe Group  Principal activities
L BRfIRA/ s
AMERZEE BEZRE FEXH
% %
Bak BAK
100 THB933,600,000 100 Hotel operator and owner
933,600,000% BERERBE
100 US§1 100 Investment holding
e REZER
100 882 100 Provision of spa products
2B and related services
REKEERREBRS
100 S$1 100 Investment holding
JPY673,750,000 REER
BT
673,750,0008
100 1US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
14,000,000% 7 nERE
100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
1,500,000% 70 EE
100 HK$395,000,000° 100 Property development
395,000,000/ 7c° NEER

* UERAREARECESREEY AMEAREZE
EEE A -

* LERRARERBRAR AMIAREZEREE
B o

tORERRAREIALE-

" AREBERANGRAFTARAREHEEESER  MIE

B A2 o

°  B201448R15H 8 - &% A Al 2 7t & A< ©395,000,0007%
JT 3 A1 Z650,000,0007%8 7T ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2015 &{Z=2015%3 8318 It F &

() Details of principal associates are as follows: € FEBEQRFHEET:

31 March 2015

31 March 2014

PINEEXYETI=I 201463H31H
Attributable Attrioutable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
-] AEE
PGE FEM AR S 2 GEL AL bl SRS TRER
% %
Epils A7l
Morpheus Real Estate Fund L.P. Cayman Islands 20 20 Investment holding and its subsidiaries
HEHS are engaged in property investment
in Japan*
REZRRIEMBARRBAKLEY
iRE
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31 31 Provision of financial services to first
HaBRAR e hand purchasers of Coastal Skyline
MEXERF—FERRHEMBRSE
Tung Chung Station Development Hong Kong 31 31 Property investment
Company Limited e MERE

The sole investment property, namely Chelsea Garden, of the partnership was
disposed of on 20 June 2014 and the partnership is in the progress of voluntary

winding up.

* BEBLEZE—IREYE (BlChelsea Garden) B 72014
F6A0BEE ZABLEEETERER

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B %5 #it #¢ Bt 51
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

(d)

Name of company

NGE

Advantage Investor Limited
Dazhongli Properties Limited
AP ENRERAF

Everbeam Investments Limited

EEREBRAR

Be(t

B EHEERER
me (L8 FREFRERAR
A8 (L

BEHEZRER

City Grace Co., Ltd.

Details of principal joint ventures are as follows:

31 March 2015

201563H31H
Attributable
Place of interest held
incorporation by the Group
N3]
LA L 2 FisELER
%
O
British Virgin Islands
HEEARKS
British Virgin Islands 50
HEEARKES
Hong Kong 50
B
PRC 50
hE
PRC 50
hE
PRC 50
hE
Thailand 49
RE

These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises. The merger of & £

(EB)EHEZFEBRA
&) and J
company is in progress. The investment

A (EE),

BE (LB FHEXRERAR (B

(B FEHEZERARAR (THE") with 2 as the surviving

amount and registered/paid up capital of

ZE and /T2 have been merged into 7 £ with effect from 17 March 2015. £ &
and J 2 are in the progress of deregistration.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

31 March 2014
201493 A31H

Attributable
interest held
by the Group
N ]

s lEfE R
%

Aol

50

50

50

50

50

50

49

R A AL
T=xa=

AFBWT

Principal activities

E2 39

Investment holding

BERK

Investment holding

REER

Property development

S

Property development

NEEE

Property development

S

Property development

S

Property development

S

HERRREINELE -TE (LE) FHEERARAF
(IEg)]) AL (Le)FHEERARIA ([2E]) He

(g EHEZRRER AR ([)
L2 EESELER/EREARER2015

FEAT-

[E5E3)
btk

2 EETEHIATER

FIAITHBHAT L - &Y R L IF 1T o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

(e) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have () HEERFEREZZIFZENBEBATZ
material non-controlling interests: A

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries TR EBEERFIERERZARRIEEE
of the Company that have material non-controlling interests: D) RN = i

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights

Place of held by non-controlling Profits (losses) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERER TSR ERER PEFHERESR
)=YNEA FEA A L 0 2 REBREE LA 2uafl (E8) R FERES
2014 2014 2014
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEET
Hong Kong Resort Company Hong Kong 50% 50% 397.3 138.4 2,095.5 1,698.2
Limited (note i) B
BEREEERAR (M)
Hanison Construction Holdings Cayman Islands 51% 51% 282.1 88.7 965.5 692.7
Limited (note i HEs
BRI ERER DA (FizEi)
Individually immaterial subsidiaries 6.3 6.7) (6.1) 0.2
with non-controlling interests
BEEERER 2 EREEANB AR
673.1 2214 3,054.9 2,391.1
Notes: B 5 -
() Hong Kong Resort Company Limited is engaged in the development, () AREEERAREFEREERLKEBMLNAE L RS
management and provision of essential and recreational services for residential EZEERFRAFMEBEE MAHRENTE RELRY -
housing and leisure projects principally in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island.
(i) Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange. Although the Company has only (i) FEBRERAT LT o BE AR BN E B ER G 40%HE A 1
49% ownership interest and voting rights in Hanison, the directors of the Company BERIEEE ARREE2EwmA ERAEERERE 27
concluded that the Company has sufficiently dominant voting interests to direct iR E AR MR EGREZ B RERDBRERE &

the relevant activities of Hanison on the basis of the Group’s absolute size of AR E B S A S S BB A MR TS
shareholding and the relative size of and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by
other shareholders.

HFREXEBREEERAT 2014/2015 F 7R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 3t # Bt 5%
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the EREBERFERESZ LA RBSWBRF
Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling ZIEERBEEE AT o XN RS E R
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information BB NEBNYHEAI S5
below represents amounts before intergroup elimination.
HONG KONG RESORT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS BAEEER AR MEWBAF]
SUBSIDIARIES
2014
HK$'M
BAEBT
Current assets MEEE 2,503.0 2,784.3
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,605.3 3,461.3
Current liabilities mEN A& (928.0) (931.8)
Non-current liabilities EmBEE (958.7) (1,886.7)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA & #EA A FE(L R 2,126.1 1,728.9
Non-controlling interests JEIE R = 2,095.5 1,698.2

For the year ended 31 March

B ZE3HIBILLEE
2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Revenue W as 2,577.2 1,282.0
Expenses A (1,782.7) (1,006.7)
Profit and total comprehensive income ARBHEEANEBEREE
for the year attributable to owners of A & 2 E U Es AR RR
the Company 397.2 136.9
Profit and total comprehensive income IR R IEMARFE
for the year attributable to non-controlling A K E U s AR ER
interests 397.3 138.4
Profit and total comprehensive income NEEmF K2 E B8
for the year 794.5 275.3
Net cash inflow from operating activities LEEBMSHRESRAFRE 1,795.9 885.0
Net cash outflow used in investing activities N EEKMTARE M F5 (101.3) (89.0)
Net cash outflow used in financing activities BMEXEKMARS ML F5 (976.7) (201.6)
Net cash inflow WEmMAFEE 717.9 594.4

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% £ B4 %5 #it % Fif 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

HANISON AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

B fos Ko EL /B 2 =)

MENEE
FRBEE
mEBE
FRBEE
ARAFEE NEEES
TR AE S

2014

HK$'M

BEAT

2,054.4 1,652.7
1,401.1 1,109.2
(1,616.1) (1,315.5)
(22.3) (93.1)
851.6 660.6
965.5 692.7

For the year ended 31 March

BZESHASIBLEE
2014
HK$'M
BEBTT
Revenue I %5 2,095.2 1,626.5
Expenses i3 (1,607.7) (1,462.5)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 72 Al #E A A FE(5 4 7l 205.4 75.3
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests FE 128 A% 48 2 B {1 St ) 282.1 88.7
Profit for the year N i Al 487.5 164.0
Other comprehensive expense attributable to AN A F A A EMEE
owners of the Company 53 (1.0) 0.2)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to  FE3ERRE RS FE(G H it 2
non-controlling interests 53 - (0.1)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEMEEARY (1.0) (0.3)
Total comprehensive income attributable to RARHE AEGEAE NS
owners of the Company RS 204.4 75.1
Total comprehensive income attributable to FEPE R 2 FE 1 2 T M e
non-controlling interests #azm 282.1 88.6
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2HEW LR 486.5 163.7
Dividends paid to non-controlling B A I IR AR SRR 5 AR B
shareholders (14.5) (13.7)
Net cash (outflow) inflow (used in) from BEEY (A MEEREE
operating activities O mAFE=E (79.1) 164.4
Net cash inflow (outflow) from (used in) REXBHAE (FAA)RS
investing activities mA O #58 88.1 3.4)
Net cash outflow used in financing activities REEBMAR M FRE (31.2) (130.9)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Re ) mAERE (22.2) 30.1

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % & B4 %5 it % B} 5%

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

All of the above principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort
Holdings Limited, Chinadental Investments Ltd., Great Wisdom
Holdings Limited, Hanbright Assets Limited, HK Resort
International Limited, HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd and HKR China
Limited, are held indirectly by the Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 33, no other loan
capital has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, other than balances with related parties as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, the
Group had significant transactions/balances with related parties
as follows:

(@ Connected transactions with entities controlled (or jointly
controlled as joint venture) by CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and
certain discretionary trusts of which four (2014: four) directors of
the Company are among the discretionary beneficiaries at the
end of the reporting period. The trusts have controlling beneficial
interests in these entities and the Company:

B Abraham Holdings Limited * Beaufort Holdings
Limited * Chinadental Investments Ltd. * Great
Wisdom Holdings Limited * Hanbright Assets
Limited * HK Resort International Limited  HKR
Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd X & & B R BB R A RN
LA ERBAR BEARREERFY
AR AIEERE -

ARTEERA FEBIIHARELAREE
EEAVEZAEEHBAR BEATRAE
AR ARREERS  HIILMGHBEAT B
BATRAEDARSENBRTE

PR EES3PT I 2 & P E SRS BEEAEAATF B 2 F)
BITHMEERA-

46. BEE R R 5

BRir & B AR PR BRRE R 77 2 AEERSN - NER
BERNEBBTETIERRZ/MEHIT

(@ EECCM Trust (Cayman) Limited & & T By &

=5t (RIEHRADNFLZ (20145 42 ) EE
BEMBZEA)FTEG 2 B (SERER Z
BERNR)ETZHERS ZEEARZEE
BERANNRES B e

Transactions with the entities:

Rental income received
Management service fee received
Other services provided

Transactions with the entities that are
entered into by Hanison Group:

Construction income received

Project management income and site
supervision service income received

Project management income and site
supervision service income from
a joint venture

2014
HK$'M
BEBIT
HZEBEBIRP
BUE 2 e WA 6.2 2.8
BUWEZ BEE RIS E 4.3 2.8
Bt 2 B RS 0.2 0.8
HZEER RSP (T1H
B EB R ) ¢
BUER Z A 7.5 8.8
B ZEREEERAKR
b 8% BE B AR A WA 4.0 7.0
AgE AW ZIEE B
U A R b 8BS BR AR A U A
1.6 2.3

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Balance with Hanison Group by R T R EL S R B 2 A eR
a related party:
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder FEEAR AR R 2 B K 76.2 71.0
(b)  Transactions with associates and joint ventures of the b)) B\EAEEBMEATRE ATRS
Group:
2014
HK$'M
BEBT
Rental income received from a joint venture A& &N aWELZ HES WA -
Management fee and other operating service  MBE& R a Wz EEE &
fees received from an associate B &R E 1.1 1.1
Management fee and other operating service  M& &R a Wz EBE &
fees received from a joint venture B & iRiG & 28.8 24.2
Construction income received from M& & A e Pz WA
joint ventures - 2.2
Interest income received from an associate Bk & A & Yz ALE WA 0.2 0.2
Interest income received from joint ventures A& &N e BELZ FI IR A 10.2 16.0
Waiver of management fee previously TR A M A A URER 2
charged to an associate ERE - (10.6)
Rental expenses to an associate mBtERNRSNcEeER (0.4) 0.7)
(c)  During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company ) REZE201543A31BILFEE  AAFAE
sold a residential property to a non-executive director of the —ZIHITEELE—BEEME  REA405

Company at a consideration of HK$40.5 million.

BEEIT-

ERFEEEREBEBRAT 2014/2015F %



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H I FfE

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year is as follows:

g B B % e A i

@ F2EEEAEME

EXNEMTIZERERERFAZHMEMT

2014
HK$'M
AEBT
Short-term employee benefits EHESEH
Fees ik 1.7 1.7
Salaries and other benefits e RHEAMET 19.3 21.0
Performance related incentive payments 4B 13.8 10.2
Ex-gratia payment SEENEN - 20.0
34.8 52.9
Post-employment benefit BEE% 1248 A
Retirement benefits schemes contribution BAREFIET B3k 0.4 0.7
Equity-settled share-based payments LA 5 45 B AR
BEREZ 5K 1.6 —
36.8 53.6

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@ On 19 March 2015, an indirectly held non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Hanison Construction Holdings
(BVI) Limited (“Hanison BVI”), and an indirectly held non-
wholly owned subsidiary of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, Sky
Champion International Limited (“Sky Champion”), entered
into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with an
independent third party, pursuant to which, Hanison BVI and
Sky Champion will dispose of their entire interests in a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Superior Choice
Holdings Limited (“Superior Choice”), together with its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Excel Pointer Limited (collectively referred to
as “Target Companies”, which are held by Hanison BVI and Sky
Champion on a 60%:40% basis), and the same proportionate
shareholders’ loans made to Superior Choice. The total cash
consideration is HK$550.0 million of which 60% shared by
Hanison BVI. Excel Pointer Limited is engaged in property
investment. As at 31 March 2015, Target Companies have total
assets of HK$522.5 million and total liabilities of HK$338.8
million (including shareholder’s loan made to Superior Choice).
Target Companies have recorded a profit for the year ended 31
March 2015 amounted to HK$170.7 million.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

ERIE TRIREMIZBERETE

47. BEPMRER

(@ H2015F3A198 AR RIMEREZ ISR
& [} /8 /2 F]Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI)
Limited ([Hanison BVI ] ) & CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited@#EH B 2 EEENB AR ABEHEAR
RAaal ([RE])EB—BBILE=FLEER
2 ([ ]) @ B - Hanison BVIR K& # &
% FR AR a2 IE2E M E A 7 Superior Choice
Holdings Limited ( [ Superior Choice | ) R £ 2 &
WEAREEERAR (iR [BEAR] -
Hanison BVIX X 7E 75 Al 5 B H60% K& 40% 2 #
%5 ) 2 & ¥P#E %5 K [A1Superior ChoicefE H R L
BlzREER - REBRERSS0.082 BT (E
A Hanison BVI{560% ) - 2 2GR ARt EME
#E -HR2015F3A318  BIZARIZEAEREAR
5225 BB TR EBERTER3388EEET (B
&A1 Superior ChoicefEH Z IR E K ) ° BIEAF]
MEZE20156F3 31 BILFEHIS170.7B BB T
2 Al e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 #it 7% Bt &%

Completion of the Agreement is conditional upon definitive
conditions precedent being satisfied. The conditions precedent
include (i) obtaining approval from the independent shareholders
of Hanison on the Agreement and all relevant deeds, and the
transactions contemplated thereunder in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules by an extraordinary general
meeting, (ii) the purchaser being reasonably satisfied in material
respects with its due diligence investigation in respect of

the Target Companies and the conditions of the investment
property held by Target Companies, and (i) from the date of the
Agreement, there not being any change or event that has had
or could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the business, assets, properties, liabilities, condition
(financial or otherwise), operating results, operations or business
prospects of the Target Companies.

Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements, conditions (i) and (i) above have been satisfied. The
transaction has not yet been completed.

(b)  InJune 2015, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
has won a bid at an open auction for a low density residential
site of approximately 51,000 square meters, located in
Hangzhou, the PRC at a cash consideration of RMB543.0
million (approximately HK$678.8 million).

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

R AR TRIGHEERIL T ETK - BRI
FORIGMBIERE £ TR RIZ AR E R BRER R 5
A& _EBUSERSE BR st ik M PG AR R 22 1%
REBTHRETZRZHNIE (ESTENEE
EHEAEEMEBERARLHBBRERAR
ﬁ,‘z&ﬁ’ﬁﬂ%z#)ﬁ%ﬁﬁziﬂiﬂé K (iit) & 17
ZAHE  MEREEERADKRAESERRS
;TEH‘?’&TZ%@W BE -WE AE IR (M
BREMTE)  REXE SEREBARESE
ERTMEEzEHHEM-

HEZE ?/m\ﬁﬁfkﬂﬁ%ﬂ%* B o E it 25 () R (i)
TR ERER - 2R BB AT °
(b) R2015F6H  ARF—RE2EWBARR

AAAEFERS R BN EH £I51,000
FERHKZEBEEERM BEREAARE

i —

543.0E 8T (X678.8E&E B T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % & B4 %5 it % B} 5%
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z2015F3H31H ILFE

48. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENTOF 48. BB A AT 2 BMR AR 2

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY =g
Information about the statement of financial position of the RBERR  BEARRZTBRARZERE
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: &
2014
HK$'M
BEBIT
Property, plant and equipment ] 10.7 5.8
Interests in subsidiaries (Note 49) B A El e (MI5E49) 10,724.3 9,775.9
Other investments Hii&E 112.2 112.2
Other receivables H & AR K 43.7 52.1
Amounts due from associates JE U B 2 R B 5 m)\ - 0.1
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUE & A A IE 460.6 429.5
Bank balances and cash ﬁﬁﬂ,\uﬁ%&fﬁfﬁ 1,021.9 1,274.8
Total assets BERE 12,373.4 11,650.4
Other payables H b fE T IE 19.8 17.0
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET BB & BIFRIE 4,638.5 3,647.3
Bank loans RITER 4,496.3 5,025.6
Total liabilities BB 9,154.6 8,689.9
Net assets BEFE 3,218.8 2,960.5
Capital and reserves BER R
Share capital g 7R 337.5 337.5
Reserves (Note 50) s (F7E50) 2,881.3 2,623.0
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA&HEA A E(HREZ 3,218.8 2,960.5
49. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 9. B FER
2014
HK$'M
BEAT
Unlisted shares, at cost E MG - ?E&KTE 2,688.0 2,604.6
Amounts due from subsidiaries i IENGIEN
Interest bearing portion (note) rEE S (M uI) 2,684.9 2,680.0
Non-interest bearing portion % B 38D 5,351.4 4,491.3
10,724.3 9,775.9
Note: The amounts are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market borrowing BiisE : ZEREREEM  RRAMSEENEFERERTE
rates and have no fixed terms of repayment. B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %% & B4 %5 #it 7% Bt &%
For the year ended 31 March 2015 & Z=2015%3H31H [ F &

50. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 50. Z< 1 Bl f# &
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES =
Capital
Share  redemption Accumulated
premium reserve profits Total
%
Bt 12 )55 8 e #fE ES 0] “st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$’M
BHEET BEET BEET BEET
At 1 April 2013 M2013F4H1H 1,537.9 3.1 1,140.7 2,681.7
Profit and total comprehensive AEERFRE2E R
income for the year BxE - - 8.8 8.8
Dividends paid Bk E = = (67.5) (67.5)
At 31 March 2014 2014438318 1,537.9 3.1 1,082.0 2,623.0
Profit and total comprehensive AEZEMNRZ2EN S
income for the year HBE - - 501.3 501.3
Dividends paid IR E - - (243.0) (243.0)
At 31 March 2015 M2015E3H31H 1,537.9 3.1 1,340.3 2,881.3

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman RIEFASHERARDAFE22E (KIEET)  AA A

Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for 2B aERHS IR AR R MRRIES BE
distribution or paying dividends to shareholders, subject to the BT EAS TR R M ASERRMEIREMmE

provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and MEFEREE  NAREBENEENBEER
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividends, FIER 2 B - BB AR B 2 BEEZRMAA A A
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the A R REE 20153 A31H 2 251& #1,340.38
ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s BB (20144 : 1,082.08 &8 7T ) # B FUK 2%

articles of association, dividends can only be distributed out of f% B e

the accumulated profits of the Company, which amounted to
HK$1,340.3 million as at 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$1,082.0
million).
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Five-Year Financial Summary

TR

=
RESULTS E4 |
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3AMALEE
2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEABT BEBT BEBT
Turnover HED 5,421.9 4,207.5 5,298.3 2,656.8 2,3315
Profit from operations =& )q 1,959.1 1,463.3 1,264.1 933.7 1,756.7
Finance costs BKER (202.4) (173.0) (122.5) (68.6) 47.3)
Share of results of associates DIREE N £ 9.2 0.3 92.0 29.8 66.8
Share of results of joint ventures ~ DMEA S A FIESE 15.9 (103.7) 282.3 95.0 164.8
Profit before taxation BR T A A 1,781.8 1,186.9 1,515.9 989.9 1,941.0
Taxation 1A (198.7) (130.9) (177.8) (69.1) (68.1)
Profit for the year AEE G 1,583.1 1,056.0 1,338.1 920.8 1,872.9
Attrioutable to: oI :
Owners of the Company AREERA 910.0 834.6 998.3 746.9 1,647.1
Non-controlling interests FERER 673.1 2214 339.8 173.9 225.8
Profit for the year AEEGEH 1,583.1 1,056.0 1,338.1 920.8 1,872.9
FINANCIAL POSITION BT AR R
At 31 March
W3A31H
2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEABT BEAT BEBT BEAT
Total assets EERE 29,243.7 28,415.1 26,686.6 24.873.0 22,749.0
Total liabilities BELE (9,461.1) (9,828.1) (9,011.1) (8,528.1) (7,400.1)
Non-controling interests G (3,054.9) 2,391.1) (2,183.5) (1,855.0) (1,784.6)
Equity attributable to owners of ARARIBEAA
the Company (bR 16,727.7 16,195.9 15,492.0 14,489.9 13,564.3
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Particulars of Major Properties
TP

At 31 March 2015 74201553 431 H

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER A BEBEIBERDh2YE

DEVELOPMENT

Expected Attributable
Gross floor Stage of completion  Nature interest to
Descriptions area (sq. ft.) completion date  of property the Group
BREHE r5E
R (FAR) ZRER BHERA WEME bR
1. Theremaining phases, RE RS T 55
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island
(@)  TaiPak Discovery Bay, KIS EARE
Lantau Island
~ Residential -fFx
Remaining Phase N 43,056 Construction 2016-2017  Residential 50%
under progress FE
TRRETH
(b)  Others (note) Hit (HiE) 474274 Not yet No definite plan  Retained for future 50%
commenced ZEEq 2 development
WAET BIERRER
2. Lotno. 1613 in Demarcation nRERTFEN 3,731 Construction 2016 Residential 100%
District no. 222, Kap Pin Long, L& #)5822255 under progress FE
Sai Kung, New Territories 1616135 TR
3. TuenMun Town Lot no. 498, AR 24,014 Planning in 2017 Residential 75%
Wu On Street, Area 44, BUREHEE (stearea)  progress FE
Tuen Mun, New Territories P R 4085 (EmEE)  HABETH
4. Yao Jia Dang Area in the HRETIA 887,229 Construction 2016 Residential 100%
Jiaxing Economic Development 5 & under progress FE
Zone, Jiaxing City, FRLERER TR2#ETH
Zhejiang Province, the PRC kR 5
5. Roppongi 4 Chome, AARRR 26,378 Planningin 2017 Residential 51%
Tokyo, Japan ANAKRETH (sitearea)  progress Fx
ChEEE)  REESH
6. 121 lots in Demarcation R 815,886 Planning in No definite plan ~ Residential 49%
District no. 129, TLERE L (stearea)  progress ZETEE A%
Lau Fau Shan, LEHE1295 (HERE) REAETH
Yuen Long, New Territories 121183 B
7. Various lots in Demarcation R 44,588 Planning in No definite plan ~ Residential 49%
District no. 374, HARES (stearea)  progress EEEE %
So Kwun Wat, L EHE3745 ChREE)  REESH
Tuen Mun, New Territories AT
8. Various lots in Demarcation HRTH 67,315 Planning in No definite plan ~ Residential 49%
District no. 121, BAFHR (stearea)  progress EETiE fE
Tong Yan San Tsuen, LENE1215 (HBmE) BEE TP
Yuen Long, New Territories BT

Mz : WS EEERMEBARBROATOEEBF AR - R THRL
R BREEEEL110,246F AR 2 EER R EEE it
LA R 48 2 SR T 16 40364,028°F 75 R 2 R 4438 /& F 1 o

Note: The Discovery Bay Project has a total site area of approximately 70 million
sq. ft.. The remaining development area comprises a total of about 110,246 sq.
ft. of gross building area of residential and commercial development and about
364,028 sq. ft. of gross building area for recreational development.
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Particulars of Major Properties ¥ 22935t 14

At 31 March 2015 72201553 431 H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
RENTAL PURPOSES

Descriptions

B

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

2 houses located at
Bijou Hamlet,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

4 houses located at
Headland Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

11 units comprising lowrise
and duplex apartments
located at Peninsula Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

1 highrise apartment
located at Greenvale Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

23 highrise apartments
located at Parkridge Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

6 midrise apartments
located at DB Plaza,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

2 lowrise apartments
located at Siena One,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

1 lowrise apartment
located at Siena Two,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

1 lowrise apartment
located at La Vista,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

14/F of Century Tower ||
and Car Parking Space
No. 12 on Level 1,
Century Tower,

1 and 1A Tregunter Path,
The Peak, Hong Kong

5 highrise apartments
located at Coastal Skyline,
Tung Chung, Lantau Island

RNE L= EENS
2QEEEFEE

AU = 2R
4ETER R

RIE L= 8.
11{EEA (RIEEER
REAEAAR)

AU & R
118 = BB AL

A L= ERR A
23fd = R E

RIE =&
WsES
B A B B

RIE LS8
BE AR
AR EN

AE L =2
R &
MEEEEL

AR e EEER
18/ e B iz

EBIEFBER
158 R1SRA 2 KB
14E Rt R RE

F1EEEZ125EN

ABLER
EXG%
B
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Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)

BREER
(FER)
5,392

10,251

18,043

1,068

15,118

4,522

2,483

1,315

976

3,663

5,477

Nature of
property

MERTE
Residential
F=x

Residential
FE

Residential
F=E

Residential
F=x

Residential
FE

Residential
F=E

Residential
F=x

Residential
FE

Residential
F=E

Residential
F=x

Residential
FE

Attributable
interest to
the Group

FRE
L3 $
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

B. KEREBMEXER/REERA
2k

Category
of lease

HERR

Medium

hH

Medium
R

Medium

hH

Medium

i

Medium

P4

Medium

i

Medium

i

Medium

P4

Medium

hH

Long
$=3:1

Medium

hH



Descriptions

R

20. 2 highrise apartments
located at Tung Chung
Crescent, Tung Chung,
Lantau Island

21. 6 highrise apartments

located at Seaview Crescent,

Tung Chung, Lantau Island

22. 7 residential units and
9 car parking spaces of
Chelsea Residence,
No. 169 of Lane 1038,
Huashan Road, Changning
District, Shanghai, the PRC

23. 2 highrise apartments
located at Peninsula Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

24, Horizon Place Akasaka,
Tokyo, Japan

25.  Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku,
Tokyo, Japan

26.  Commercial Centre,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

27.  Shop 401 on Ground Floor,
Coastline Villa,
Peninsula Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

28.  Commercial Centre, Yi Pak,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

29.  West Gate Tower,
7 Wing Hong Street and
8 King Lam Streset,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

30. CDW Building,
382-392 Castle Peak Road,
27-37 Mei Wan Street,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories

RNELRE
A= BB

KIBE R
sy
6ff = B Efu

FELEETRER
2|1 5103871695
FREEE_F
7TEEEEMKOEEN

KB g R E%
AR B

AARRR

Horizon Place Akasaka

HARR
Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku

ABR L8
EEG

RIB L R 2%
ZEEHT40IE

KBS E—RE
HERL

R EKBRETHR
&EMH%T
Fars gl

R EEEIRME27-375H
5 11138382-39257%
RERBRAE

Particulars of Major Properties ) 5E 1
At 31 March 2015 742015483431 B

Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)

RREER
(FAR)

1,838

4,524

16,407

1,438

81,624

27,314

180,910

7,417

156,422

146,531

982,777

Nature of
property

NEEE

Residential
€

Residential
F=E

Residential
¥

Residential
i€

Residential
F=E

Commercial

RS

Commercial

L

Commercial

EE

Commercial

RS

Industrial

I

Industrial

T%

Attributable
interest to
the Group

BN
4L $3
100%

100%

100%

50%

100%

100%

50%

50%

50%

100%

100%

Category
of lease

REEH

Medium

P

Medium

A

Long
&

Medium

b
Freehold
KAERE

Freehold
KAERE

Medium

il

Medium

A

Medium

"

Medium

P

Medium
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Particulars of Major Properties ¥ 22935t 14

At 31 March 2015 72201553 431 H

Descriptions

R

31. 325 car parking spaces at
Tuen Mun Central Square,
22 Hoi Wing Road,
Tuen Mun, New Territories

32. Remaining units of DANG,
2-6 Fui Yiu Kok Street,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories

33.  Workshop 7, 1/F, Block A,
Workshops 9 & 10, 2/F, Block A,
Workshops 1-5, 4/F, Block B,
Workshops 1-18 & majority
portion of Workshop 23
(including flat roofs of
Workshops 5 & 6), 4/F, Block A,
Whole Floor, 5/F, Block A,
Workshops 1 &2,

Workshop 3 with flat roof,
Workshop 4 with flat roof,
Workshops 5-10 & 16-19,
5/F, Block B,

Car Parking Spaces

V26, V31, V36, V49, V50,
V55, 145 & 53

Shatin Industrial Centre,
5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit,
Shatin, New Territories

34.  Various lots in Demarcation
District no. 76, Ping Che,
Fanling, New Territories

35.  Leasehold interest in the
Head-Lease for the residual
term of 30 years commencing
from 1 December 1989 with
an option to renew for a further
term of 30 years of whole of
31 Wing Wo Street,

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

36.  Various lots in Demarcation
District no. 128,
Deep Bay Road,
Yuen Long, New Territories

Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)
BREAEE
(FAR)
RG22 N/A
PR R ES iyl
325{HEfL
MAZEINE BH2-6% 10,145
DANG#: T Efi
HEDH 93,588
i EREYE (excluding area of
DHEIERLDL flat roofs)
ABAET(E/T (PeEYS
ABEIE TERIOR0 - ZHTE)
BEE4E TER1Z5
ABMETERN 18]
T{ER232 X EZHH
(REIERK
62F8):
ABSIERE
BRR5HE T{EM1 K2 «
T{ERSEEA
T{ER4ETEAS
TERI5ZE1016
Z19R B RHRV26 -
V31 +V36 ~ V49 ~ V50 «
V55 - L4553
WEKnE 142,066
FELENET6H (site area)
& T (EEHE)
R E@HA 2,956
B LR35,
RigzBHERY L
HERZHEFS
F1989F12A1H
FitR - BHIS0F
(W BEFT RIN30%F
THH 2 BEF)
R TRAR 2R 214,106
LENFE128%H (site area)
AT (HEmEiE)
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Nature of
property

NEME

Commercial

EE

Industrial

I%

Industrial

I%

Agricultural
Bt

Commercial

SR

Agricultural
Bt

Attributable
interest to
the Group

ES
LYY 3
100%

100%

49%

49%

49%

49%

Category
of lease

RERR

Medium
H

Medium
H

Medium

P

Medium
A

Medium
H

Medium

hH



Descriptions

R
a7.

38.

39.

C.

Workshop Unit
nos. 4 to 6 (inclusive) on

2nd Floor and Lorry Carpark
Nos. L7 & L8 on Ground Floor,
Kin Wing Industrial Building,

38 Kin Wing Street,
Tuen Mun, New Territories

Lot no. 716 and
the remaining portion of
Lotnos. 719 and 721 in

Demarcation District no. 132,

Tuen Mun, New Territories

CentreHollywood,
151 Hollywood Road,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

HAREN

AR 3355,
ZRTEREE
4Z6%; T1EM
(MEREEA)
it T eI
RIELTRLS

RGN
LEDE132%

3 ER 71658 bA

MR 7195 K721 %% 88 B

BRLR
WEEBI1515
CentreHollywood

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Descriptions

BR
40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

Remaining units of Positano,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

Remaining units of

The Sukhothai Residences,

Bangkok, Thailand

Elite House,

No. 1310 Ding Xi Road,
Changning District,
Shanghai, the PRC

Remaining units of
The Bedford,

91-93 Bedford Road,
Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon

Remaining units of

The Austine Place,

38 Kwun Chung Street,
Kowloon

AR
BRB T Bl

ZEEA
The Sukhothai
Residences # T & fi

HEEEMRER
T 705513105
L AL

NEAAH
Q1 -93%%
The Bedfordé T iz

LB R H38H:
The Austine Place
BT EN

Particulars of Major Properties ) sEE

At 31 March 2015 72201553 431 H

Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)
BEEER
(FHER)
&R

14,684
(site area)
(HEmE)

32,738

Gross floor

area (sq. ft.)
BREER

(FAR)

64,034

93,774
(net saleable area)
(FERER)

233,763

22,595

19,133
(saleable area)
(ERmER)
8,965

Attributable

Nature of interest to

property the Group

A%E

MEMEE 3y £

Industrial 49%
I%

Agricultural 24.5%
Bt

Commercial 29.4%
[

C. HFHEWE

Attributable
Nature of interest to
property the Group
S |
MEMEE ity £
Residential 50%
€
Residential 100%
F=E
Residential 100%
€
Industrial 49%
I%
Residential 49%
FE
Commercial
[GES

Category
of lease

REEH

Medium

P

Medium

Long
R

Category
of lease

AERA

Medium

Hh
Freehold
KAERE

Long
=H

Long
=3

Long
3
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Particulars of Major Properties ¥ 22935t 14

At 31 March 2015 72201553 431 H

D. OTHER PROPERTIES

Descriptions

R
45.  The remaining portion of Lot no. 373and KU |11 3L & 453528

Lot no. 374 in Demarcation District no. 352, 3t EX373%F #4 Bk 137455
Lantau Island

46.  Lotnos. 1735, 1737, 1979 and portions of #1574 28 L E 45915k
Lot nos. 1978 and 2012 in Demarcation 173557 ~ 173757 »
District no. 91, Fanling, New Territories 1979%% IA K 19785 &

20125 2 H D B

47, Various lots in Demarcation District REIL=8
no. 363, Sam Pak, Lantau Island L EHF638E 5 T HIR

48.  Section B and the remaining portion of M B 5555 BER &

Lot no. 5, Section A and the remaining BRER » B55RARR K BRER
portion of Lot no. 65 and Lot AR 615 + 665 * 675
nos. 61, 66, 67 and 69, Peng Chau R 695

49.  The remaining portion of Section C and M B 553545 |2
the remaining portions of Lot 3465RCER 0 B I BrER
nos. 354 and 346, Peng Chau

50.  Various lots in Demarcation District no. 354, A (1|47 7k Diana Farm
Diana Farm, Hang Sui, Lantau Island K E X E3545 5 T E

51.  The remaining portion of Lot no. 317 in MAEFLENF132%
Demarcation District no. 132, Tuen Mun, M ER31 73R BRER
New Territories

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2014/2015

D.

Hitb¥ =

Site area

(sq. ft.)
EEE
(FHFR)

23,400

145,764

147,668

57,935

35,266

222,593

1,394

Nature of
property

MELE
Residential
(retained for future
development)
FE
(BEBRER)

Agricultural lots
(no definite plan)
B
(EEE=HE)

Agricultural lots
(no definite plan)
BHHBER
(EEE=E)

Agricultural lots
(no definite plan)
BHHHER
(EEEEHE)

Agricultural lots
(no definite plan)
BHHHER
(EEEEHE)

Golf course
(completed)
BRXNS
(%)

Agricultural lots
(no definite plan)
BHHER
(EEE:E)

Attributable
interest to
the Group

A%
LI
100%

100%

50%

100%

100%

50%

50%
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Hong Kong Laws
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Mayer Brown JSM
FFEATERNTT

Kao, Lee & Yip
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Reed Smith Richards Butler
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Cayman Islands Laws
HERSERE

Maples and Calder
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SEHK STOCK NAME/CODE
R AR AR B

HKR Int’l &% 5 3 B %2/00480

INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
REERBHF

2015 Annual General Meeting
20155 RRBFRE

26 August 2015

201548 H26H

Closure of Registers
HERHERL

24 to 26 August 2015 (Annual General Meeting)
20155F8 A24 B 2261 (RFRAFAE)

1 and 2 September 2015 (Final Dividend)
2015F9 A1H k2B (FKHRE)
Dividend Payment Date

iR 2K 8 B 3

17 September 2015
20155F9A17H

COMMUNICATION
L

Website #83iE: www.hkri.com
Tel B 3E: (852) 2238 1188
Email E E:

investors@hkri.com (Investors & & 2 )
cs@hkri.com (Shareholders A% &)
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BEEZEREERRAE

(REASES TR L2 BRAR)
BATHET 18R IERT L AEBAE23E

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

www.hkri.com
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